

Human mobility: Models and applications

Hugo Barbosa, Marc Barthelemy, Gourab Ghoshal, Charlotte R James, Maxime Lenormand, Thomas Louail, Ronaldo Menezes, José J Ramasco, Filippo Simini, Marcello Tomasini

► To cite this version:

Hugo Barbosa, Marc Barthelemy, Gourab Ghoshal, Charlotte R James, Maxime Lenormand, et al.. Human mobility: Models and applications. Physics Reports, 2018, 734 (734), pp.1-74. 10.1016/j.physrep.2018.01.001 . halshs-01813382

HAL Id: halshs-01813382 https://shs.hal.science/halshs-01813382v1

Submitted on 13 Jun 2018

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.

Human Mobility: Models and Applications

Hugo Barbosa-Filho^a, Marc Barthelemy^{b,c}, Gourab Ghoshal^{a,*}, Charlotte R. James^d, Maxime Lenormand^e, Thomas Louail^g, Ronaldo Menezes^{h,*}, José J. Ramasco^f, Filippo Simini^d, Marcello Tomasini^h

^aDepartment of Physics & Astronomy and Goergen Institute of Data Science, University of Rochester, Rochester, NY, USA

^bInstitut de Physique Théorique, CEA, CNRS-URA 2306, F-91191, Gif-sur-Yvette, France ^cCentre d'Etudes et de Mathématique Sociales, EHESS, Paris 75006, France

^dDepartment of Engineering Mathematics, University of Bristol, UK

^eIrstea, UMR TETIS, 500 rue JF Breton, 34093 Montpellier, France

^fInstituto de Física Interdisciplinar y Sistemas Complejos IFISC (CSIC-UIB), Campus UIB, 07122 Palma de Mallorca, Spain

^gCNRS, UMR 8504 Géographie-cités, 13 rue du four, F-75006 Paris, France ^hBioComplex Laboratory, School of Computing, Florida Institute of Technology, Melbourne, USA

Abstract

Recent years have witnessed an explosion of extensive geolocated datasets related to human movement, enabling scientists to quantitatively study individual and collective mobility patterns, and to generate models that can capture and reproduce the spatiotemporal structures and regularities in human trajectories. The study of human mobility is especially important for applications such as estimating migratory flows, traffic forecasting, urban planning, and epidemic modeling. In this survey, we review the approaches developed to reproduce various mobility patterns, with the main focus on recent developments. This review can be used both as an introduction to the fundamental modeling principles of human mobility, and as a collection of technical methods applicable to specific mobility-related problems. The review organizes the subject by differentiating between individual and population mobility and also between shortrange and long-range mobility. Throughout the text the description of the theory is intertwined with real-world applications.

Keywords:

Human Mobility, Human Dynamics, Random Walks, Origin-Destination Matrices

^{*}Corresponding authors

Email addresses: hbarbosafilh2011@my.fit.edu (Hugo Barbosa-Filho),

marc.barthelemy@cea.fr (Marc Barthelemy), gghoshal@pas.rochester.edu (Gourab Ghoshal), charlotte.james@bristol.ac.uk (Charlotte R. James), maxime.lenormand@irstea.fr (Maxime Lenormand), louail@parisgeo.cnrs.fr (Thomas Louail), rmenezes@cs.fit.edu (Ronaldo Menezes), jramasco@ifisc.uib-csic.es (José J. Ramasco), f.simini@bristol.ac.uk (Filippo Simini), mtomasini@my.fit.edu (Marcello Tomasini)

Contents

1	Intr	duction	3
	1.1	Motivation and History	3
	1.2	Scope and Limitations	9
	1.3	Organization	10
2	Data	Sources	10
	2.1	Census Data & Surveys	10
		2.1.1 Census Data	11
		2.1.2 Tax Revenue Data	12
		2.1.3 Local Travel Surveys	13
	2.2	Dollar Bills	13
	2.3	Mobile Phone Records	14
	2.4	GPS Data	17
	2.5	Online Data	18
3	Met	ics. Physics and Scales	20
•	3.1	General Metrics	20
		3.1.1 Jump Lengths	20
		3.1.2 Mean Square Displacement (MSD)	22
		3.1.3 Radius of Gyration	24
		3.1.4 Most Frequented Locations and Motifs	28
		3.1.5 Origin-Destination Matrices	29
	3.2	Physics of mobility	31
	0.2	3.2.1 Distance, travel time, and effective speed	31
		3.2.2 Travel time budget	33
		3.2.3 Energy arguments	34
	3.3	Interpolation of scales: the importance of multimodality	35
4	Gen	eral Mobility Models	38
•	4.1	Individual-Level (Random walks)	38
		4.1.1 Brownian Motion	39
		4.1.2 Lévy Flight	40
		4.1.3 CTRW	40
		4.1.4 Preferential Return	43
		4.1.5 Recency	44
		4.1.6 Social-based models	45
	4.2	Population-Level	49
	.=	4.2.1 Gravity models	50
		4.2.2 Intervening opportunities models	54
		4.2.3 The radiation model	55
		4.2.4 Comparison between models	58
	4.3	Intermodality	60

5	Sele	ed Domains of Application	62
	5.1	Single-Scale	62
		5.1.1 Pedestrian movement	62
		5.1.2 Air Transportation	67
		5.1.3 Sea Networks	71
	5.2	Multi-scale	72
		5.2.1 Intra urban mobility	72
		5.2.2 Epidemic Spreading	77
	5.3	Virtual-Scale	80
		5.3.1 Web (Online) Mobility	80
6	Con	usions	83
7	Refe	ences	84
A		Modeling Frameworks and Algorithms	114
	A.1	Modeling Frameworks	114
	A.2	Algorithms	116
		A.2.1 Individual Mobility	116
		A.2.2 Population Mobility	125

1. Introduction

1.1. Motivation and History

While the term *mobility* has multiple connotations, in the context of this review it refers to the movement of human beings (individuals as well as groups) in space and time and thus implicitly refers to *human mobility*. Indeed, from the migration of *Homo sapiens* out of Africa around 70,000 years ago, through the European discovery of the "New World", to the existence of expatriate populations in contemporary times, the existence of human beings has always been inextricably linked with their movement. While earlier movement patterns were primarily driven by factors such as climate change, inhospitable landscapes, conflict and food scarcity, in modern times, socio-economic factors such as wage imbalance, differences in welfare and living conditions and globalization play an increasing role.

From hunters and gatherers of prehistoric times to present-day commuters of large metropolitan areas, humans are bound to move on a daily basis in order to earn their livelihood. However, daily trips are also undertaken to perform social and leisure activities. The temporal and spatial scales of these trips are much shorter than those of migratory flows, and they are often characterized by the regularities and periodicities that mark human lives. The daily movement of a large and growing population has important impact on the lives of the individuals and the environmental conditions. Studies conducted in Europe and the United States found that the average household spending on transportation is between 15 and 25 percent of the total expenditures, making transportation the second largest expenditure category after housing. Transportation is also the second source of greenhouse gas emissions to the atmosphere. From these few examples it should be clear that mobility has an enormous impact on human societies

and an accurate quantitative description of human mobility is of fundamental importance to understand the processes related to human movement and their impact on the community and the environment. A quantitative theory of human mobility ought to be able to provide answers to relevant questions, such as, what determines the decision to start a trip? which factors determine the choice of the destination? to what extent is human movement predictable, and what is the intrinsic degree of randomness? is it possible to find general rules or laws to explain empirical patterns and regularities exhibited by travels in many diverse countries, such as the distribution of commuting times and distances, and the degree of predictability of future whereabouts?

While the study of human mobility currently spans several disciplines, arguably, geography was the first discipline to analyze mobility data and put forward corresponding theories to describe travel patterns. Indeed, the pioneers of quantitative and theoretical geography in the 50's defined "geography as (the scientific discipline of) *spatial interaction*" [1]. Early quantitative studies of the movements of people and vehicles were held in large US metropolitan areas [2] (see the first chapters of [3] for details), and initial studies of human travel were of scales ranging from international migrations [4, 5, 6, 7] to journey-to-work commuting [8, 9, 10, 11, 12]. Indeed, the elucidation and understanding of these patterns was motivated by its relation to several real-world applications such as traffic forecasting [3, 13, 14], urban planning [15, 10], internal security [16, 17] and epidemic modeling [18, 19, 20] to name but a few.

The first systematic analysis of the concept of distance as a constraint to movement was proposed in the 19th century: in his 1965 review [21] Gunnar Olsson cites Henry C. Carey's Principles of Social Science (1858) as the first work to explicitly make the observation about the amount of interaction between two cities being proportional to their population size and inversely proportional to the intervening distance. Few decades later, the geographer Ernst Ravenstein further developed and popularized the idea in a seminal work where he formulated his *laws of migration* [22]. Further refinements on this theme were made in the 1940's by the American sociologist Samuel Stouffer [5, 23] in his *law of intervening opportunities*, and by the American linguist George Kingsley Zipf [6]. Zipf's formulation led to what is now conventionally referred to as the gravity law. The increasing availability of datasets on population movements at various levels of granularity, coupled with the *quantitative revolution* in geography [24, 25, 26], led to the introduction of more sophisticated mathematical methods such as hidden Markov models and diffusion processes. Gender and socio-economic factors behind population movement were further analyzed thanks to richer datasets resulting from surveys and interviews [27, 28, 29], and through theories of labor economics focusing on wage differential between locations [30]. Thus through the 20th century, contributions to the theories of human movement were made chiefly in geography, sociology, and economics, while the scale at which this was primarily studied was at the population level.

To provide context for what is to follow, we briefly describe a selection of influential historical contributions, keeping in mind "Stigler's law of eponymy" which states: "No scientific discovery is named after its original discoverer" [31]). However, if we restrict ourselves to the recognition of *distance* as a primary factor in determining movement and interactions between places, then it is reasonable to start with the work of Ernst Georg Ravenstein [22].

Laws of Migration. Ravenstein was a German-English geographer who made important contributions to cartography as well as providing one of the first rough estimates of a "maximal" global population based on resource consumption. He was also one of the first to attempt an explanation and prediction of migration patterns within and between countries. Considering the effect of distance as well as the type of migrant (male or female, old or young) as primary factors, he posited the following seven laws:

- Most migrants only travel short distances, and "currents of migrations" are in the direction of the great centers of commerce and industry given that these can absorb the migrants.
- 2. The process of absorption occurs in the following manner: inhabitants of the areas immediately surrounding a rapidly growing town flock to it, thus leaving gaps in the rural areas that are filled by migrants of more remote districts, creating migration flows that reach to "the most remote corner of the kingdom".
- 3. The process of dispersion is inverse to that of absorption, and exhibits similar features.
- 4. Each main current of migration produces a compensating counter-current.
- 5. Migrants traveling long distances generally go by preference to one of the great centers of commerce or industry.
- 6. The natives of towns are less migratory than those of the rural parts of the country.
- 7. Females are more migratory than males.

Ravenstein added another two laws in 1889 [32]:

- 8. Towns grow more by immigration than by natural increase.
- 9. The volume of migration increases as transport improves and industry grows.

While the laws are non-quantitative and observational in character, Ravenstein correctly identified socio-economic factors as well as distance-constraints to be the essential ingredients behind modern population movement. Consequently, his laws stimulated an enormous volume of work, and although they have been refined and adjusted over the years, the essential ingredients of his formulation remain relevant even today.

Law of Intervening Opportunities. One of the most important refinements was made in the 1940's by the American sociologist Samuel Stouffer [5]. Roughly speaking, Stouffer was looking to expand upon Ravenstein's observations regarding migrants moving shorter distances and flocking to commercial centers. To account for this, he proposed that *the number of people going a given distance is directly proportional to the number of opportunities at that distance and inversely proportional to the number of intervening opportunities.* In other words, trips between two locations are driven primarily by relative accessibility of socio-economic opportunities that lie between those two locations. In this context, *opportunity* is defined as a potential destination for the termination of a traveler's journey, whereas an *intervening opportunity* is one that the traveler rejects in favor of continuing on. In Stouffer's original formulation, this can be mathematically expressed as

$$\frac{dy(r)}{dr} \propto \frac{1}{x} \frac{dx(r)}{dr},\tag{1}$$

where y(r) is the cumulative number of migrants that move a distance *r* from their original location, and x(r) is the cumulative number of intervening opportunities. Assuming that *x* itself is a continuous function x(r) of distance, then the expression above can be integrated to yield

$$y(r) = \log x(r) + C,$$
(2)

where C is some constant denoting the number of opportunities at the origin location. Thus, the relationship between mobility and distance is indirect and is established only through an auxiliary dependence via the intervening opportunities: the higher the number of intervening opportunities between two locations at distance r, the smaller the number of migrants that would travel that distance. This may explain why rural migrants may flock to urban centers over large distances, whereas those already in commercial centers are comparatively more stationary.

Distance-Decay and the Gravity Law. Around the same time as Stouffer, the Harvard Philologist, George Kingsley Zipf, was expanding upon his famous observation of the rank-frequency dependence in linguistics; the eponymous Zipf's law, where the frequency of a word ranked *z*—in terms of usage—has the statistical dependence $f_z \sim 1/z$ [33]. Zipf found that this relation was expandable to other realms of society, specifically the size of cities [34], where the occurrence of a city with population *P* and consequent rank *z* also follows the relation

$$P_z \sim 1/z^{\alpha}.\tag{3}$$

Broadly speaking, Zipf's argument for this relation was due to the tension between two competing factors. The first, which he called *Force of Diversification* relates to the likelihood of populations living close to the source of raw materials (commodities) in order to minimize the cost of transportation to production centers. The second effect, referred to as the *Force of Unification*, is the tendency of populations to aggregate in urban centers due to the minimization of work required to transport finished products to consumers. While the former leads to the formation of multiple urban centers (given that the commodity sources are not localized in one part of a country) with smaller populations, the latter has the competing effect of urban agglomeration in a *few* centers of large population. Assuming some kind of equilibrium between these quasi-forces, the rank-frequency relation of Eq. (3) with $\alpha = 1$ naturally follows [35]. Deviations from equilibrium, where one force dominates over the other, then leads to a change in the exponent.

Carrying the argument further, under somewhat unrealistic assumptions of equitable share of national income as well as urban centers being self-sufficient (i.e. production and consumption at equal levels), the share of any center *i* in the total flow of goods is proportional to its population P_i . Therefore, the flow of goods between two centers is proportional to the product of their populations. Finally, if one would like to minimize the cost and work associated with transportation of goods, this flow must be inversely proportional to the distance between centers. Putting all this together we arrive at the relation

$$w_{ij} \propto \frac{P_i P_j}{r_{ij}},$$
(4)

where w_{ij} represents the flow of goods between two population centers *i*, *j* and r_{ij} is the distance between these two centers. Zipf tested his theory on both freight and population movement data and got good qualitative agreement. This formulation is of course quite different form Stouffer's explanation as the effect of distance is quite explicit in Eq. (4). Indeed, the form of Eq. (4) is such that it leads to a distancedecay effect suppressing long-range movement. Furthermore, the flow of populations and goods is seen to be as a result of some dynamic equilibrium between the cost of transportation, manufacture, and distribution of goods and services. The references to "forces" as well as its functional dependence on distance eventually led to Zipf's formulation being dubbed the *Gravity law* in analogy to Newtonian mechanics.

The common theme connecting Ravenstein, Stouffer and Zipf of course is the geographical distance, though its functional effect on movement is quite different in the Intervening Opportunities and Gravity Law models. Nevertheless, both these models were quite influential on subsequent work, setting off two major strains of parallel research as well as attempts at unification.

Time geography and ICT Data. Measuring, understanding and forecasting the displacements of individuals in space and time has long been part of the program of quantitative and theoretical geography, a branch of geography "born" academically in the 1950's [25, 26]. While the first efforts in capturing human displacements focused on the aggregated levels of flows between spatial units, some also focused on individual trajectories. Torsten Hägerstrand, a Swedish geographer, laid down in the early 1950's the basis of time geography, and brought a number of conceptual and graphical tools to formalize the trajectories of individuals through space and time. His seminal work [36] remains famous for its proposal to represent individual trajectories in a cube (also known as the "space-time aquarium"), in which the horizontal plane represents the geographical space, while the vertical axis represents time (as depicted in Fig. 1). Hägerstrand proposed a number of graphical conventions (a "notation system" in his own words) to picture the constraints imposed by social life on individual daily trajectories. He also provided means to represent the co-presence and synchronization of several individuals in space, and more generally a set of (essentially graphical) conventions useful to represent the structure and behavior of individual human mobility.

Time geography was naturally invoked (and somewhat rediscovered) in the 1990's, when the modeling of human mobility shifted towards individual-based simulation (micro/multi-agent/agent-based simulation) [37]. This can be understood in the twin contexts of increased computing power and the development of more expressive programming frameworks, allowing for semantically richer and more ambitious models of human dynamics. However, while the models increased in complexity, they were somewhat artificial; relevant data of comparable complexity and resolution was not available for their calibration. Indeed, while the models progressed, the data lagged behind and the best one had to work with was longitudinal survey data collected since the 1970's.

The beginning of the 21st century saw the introduction and subsequent widespread adoption of mobile phones, as well as the pervasive usage of Global Positioning System (GPS). This led to an exponential increase in data-generation on human move-



Fig. 1: The cubes of time geography, as first proposed by Torsten Hägerstrand in [36]. The geographical space is represented by the 2D plan, while time is figured by the vertical axis. (Left) The two curves represent the daily space-time trajectories of two individuals living in the same neighborhood and working in the same place. (Right) The geographical footprints continuously and passively produced by individuals through the use of their ICT devices allow to approximate their trajectories. While these re-constructed trajectories are partial and contain errors that might mislead the understanding of underlying trajectories, they are nonetheless more precise nowadays than they were 10 years ago, and produced by a constantly growing number of individuals worldwide.

ment. Coupled with further progress in computing power and sophisticated datamining methods, it enabled to capture the movement not just of populations at finer levels of spatial granularity, but potentially of *individuals*. In particular, the large volume and frequency of Call Detail Records (CDRs) from mobile phones (see section 2.3) enabled the analysis of human movement at very fine *temporal* scales. Thus statistical information on mobility became available, on the scale of hours to decades; from the individual, through communities to the level of country-wide populations.

This review predominantly focuses on these later developments. As we will see throughout the text, these new sources of data have rejuvenated the scientific interest for human mobility, opening the door to new questions and measures, as well as enhancing and validating the insight gained from studying traditional data sources. For reasons which are probably technical, historical, and societal, research teams in physics and computer science have broadly "invested" in these new georeferenced (meta)data resulting from human activity [38]. This is evidenced by a quick search on the online website arXiv¹ for physics papers that include the terms "Human Mobility" or "Mobility Patterns". As seen in Fig. 2, since about 2004-2005, the number of such papers displays an almost exponential increase. One must keep in mind that this is probably an incomplete sample, and is underestimating the volume of research in this field. It is likely that one would see an even more dramatic trend if a more comprehensive list of

¹http://arxiv.org



Fig. 2: Fraction of papers on arXiv.org with mention to the terms "Human Mobility or "Mobility Patterns" from 2004 to 2015. The growth in the number of published papers displays a dramatic increase around 2008. Data source: arXiv.org (last date accessed: Feb 16, 2017).

publications were to be included.

While this growing interest of the Physics community in human mobility has multiple reasons, it is somewhat to be expected given the traditional interest of statistical physicists in studying emergent collective properties of systems of many interacting particles and in describing the dynamics of randomly moving particles undergoing (anomalous) diffusion. The availability of data at multiple spatio-temporal scales is helping uncover robust statistical patterns as well as aiding the development of phenomenological theories of human mobility, that are well suited to the tools, methods and paradigms of *statistical physics*.

1.2. Scope and Limitations

The recent pace of developments and the volume of work published are such that a comprehensive review of the findings appeared necessary. Moreover, the study of human mobility is a highly interdisciplinary endeavor and progress has occurred in parallel across different academic communities, sometimes with one unaware of the others' works. This is reflected in different terminology of common metrics and similar results being cast in different and seemingly unrelated contexts. Consequently with this review, we also aim at (i) bringing disparate communities together by unifying the findings in a common context, and (ii) providing new researchers in the field with an accessible starting point and a minimal set of tools, metrics, concepts and models.

One must note that humans, of course, do not move in a vacuum. Just as the diffusion of molecules in materials is mediated by the structural and thermodynamic properties of the material, similarly, spatio-temporal patterns of human movement are necessarily shaped by spatial constraints and limitations of geography. Examples of this are the topography of urban centers or the pattern of roads and transportation infrastructure, the properties of which are studied under the aegis of *spatial networks* [39]. Yet, this survey is *not* about Spatial Networks, nor do we give details on the so-called "science of cities" (e.g., city forms, properties of urban transport networks, urban scaling laws, etc. [40]); these two aspects will be considered only when made necessary for the reader to understand the concepts related to human mobility.

1.3. Organization

We begin in Sec. 2 with a comprehensive (but by no means exhaustive) list of data sources used for empirical studies. In Sec. 3 we introduce key metrics, measures, spatio-temporal scales, as well as an overview of the fundamental physics behind the study of human mobility. In Sec. 4 we describe the state-of-the-art families of models (both generative and phenomenological) that best describe the empirical observations of human mobility. The models are categorized according to scale, starting from the level of individuals, through to the collective level of populations, and finally a mixture of the two incorporating the concept of (inter) modality. Continuing with the theme of scales, in Sec. 5 we describe some selected applications of the framework and models ranging from intra-urban movement to flows between countries and continents including the case of epidemic spreading, transportation systems, and a brief digression on new results on virtual mobility (web browsing). Finally, we conclude in Sec. 6 with challenges and future directions for the field. We also added Appendix A where we provide descriptions of some basic tools and algorithms (agent-based modeling, random walkers, etc.) that may be of use to researchers making initial forays into the field.

2. Data Sources

A natural starting point is to describe the nature of empirical data which has been used in mobility research. Indeed, empirical data has been vital to both aggregate and individual mobility investigation, by providing means of parameter calibration as well as model validation. In this section, we outline the main sources available for mobility research and the relevant information that can be extracted from them. The data sources are presented in (rough) chronological order of their historical availability and consequent use in research.

2.1. Census Data & Surveys

Census data is collected in periodical national surveys in which householders are asked questions about the socio-demographic and economic status of the household members. Of particular interest in terms of mobility are questions related to the location of the workplace, or the place of current and previous residence. Collectively, this information can then be used to estimate commuting flows or internal migration flows within a country.

Different countries introduced national censuses at different times, and the type of information collected also varies across countries and time periods. In the United Kingdom, for example, the first national census was done in 1841 and contained the names, ages, sexes, occupations, and places of birth of each individual living in a household. In 1921, the location of workplaces was added to the questions asked, and since 1961 the location of previous residence was also included. In the United States, the first population census was taken in 1790, while information on workplace and transportation activities was incorporated in 1940 [41]. Nowadays, national censuses are held in most countries typically every ten years. Below we outline some main sources of census and survey data along with the methodology used to extract commuting and migration flows.

2.1.1. Census Data

The data on commuting trips between United States' counties is available from the United States Census Bureau². These county-to-county work flow files are available for each state as well as at the aggregated level across the country. Furthermore, files are available in either county of residence format—containing work destinations of people who reside in each county—or county of work format—which contain the county of residence of people working in each county. The inclusion of a commuter in the data is preconditioned upon them working during the week leading up to the census. Due to the questionnaire design, any individual not satisfying this condition is precluded from entering a workplace location. A worker is defined as someone who has spent at least 1 hour in paid employment or 15 hours in a voluntary role. Any individual required to provide their workplace location was asked further questions about their mode of transport and travel time.

From this information, the census Bureau compiles and publishes aggregated flows corresponding to the residence and workplace location of everyone classed as a worker. In order to validate models and determine statistics such as trip distance and relationship to the origin, destination and intervening population density, further information on the spatial distribution of counties and socio-demographic data is required. This supporting data is available online³. Among other things, such census data is invaluable for validating generative models of commuter flow and migration. For instance, Census data from the 2000s (consisting of county level work flow data, corresponding to 3,141 counties and 34,116,820 commuters within the United States) was used to evaluate the so-called radiation model (described in sec. 4.2.2) by Simini *et al.* [42]

Commuting and migration flows data for the United Kingdom is also available online⁴. The information is available at different spatial resolutions: ranging from the geographical area covered by a single postcode, to areas covered by the 7,201 electoral

² http://www.census.gov/hhes/commuting/data/commutingflows.html

³ ftp://ftp2.census.gov/geo/tiger/tiger2k/

⁴ http://webarchive.nationalarchives.gov.uk/20160105160709/

http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/guide-method/census/2011/census-data/

²⁰¹¹⁻census-data-catalogue/origin-destination/index.html



Fig. 3: Commuting flows compiled from census data. Left panel: The state of Florida partitioned according to its counties. Right panel: Commuting flows between counties, where thickness of lines correspond to volume of flow. Data compiled from the United States Census Bureau.

wards. Files contain origin and destination flows divided into subsets of age and gender allowing for a deeper socio-demographic analysis if required. There have been many different countries whose commuting data has been analyzed at the level of municipalities (or smaller administrative units such as zipcodes or electoral tracks) including France⁵ and most European countries. In most cases, when not directly available on an open data portal, commuting data is available to researchers on request from national statistics institutes.

2.1.2. Tax Revenue Data

An alternative source for estimating aggregated migration flows is the Statistics of Income Division (SOI) of the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) in the United States. The IRS maintains records of all individual income tax forms filed in each year. Using individual tax return files, it is possible to determine who has, or has not, moved residence or workplace locations in the intervening fiscal year. To do this, first, coded returns for the current filing year are matched to coded returns filed during the prior year. The mailing addresses on the two returns are then compared to one another. If the two are identical, the return is labeled a non-migrant. Any relevant information change during the fiscal year results in the return labeled as that of a migrant. US migration data from 1992-1993 to 2006-2007 is available online⁶. Alongside tax returns, estimated migrations flows are also included in each Census⁷, based on yearly surveys carried out by the American Community Survey (ACS).

⁵https://www.insee.fr/fr/statistiques/2022117

⁶ http://www.irs.gov/uac/SOI-Tax-Stats-Migration-Data

⁷ https://www.census.gov/hhes/migration/data/acs/county-to-county.html

2.1.3. Local Travel Surveys

An important source of data used to construct trips, and therefore flows between two locations, is local surveys. It provides an advantage over censuses as it is possible to collect a more detailed data set that includes information such as the purpose of the trip and mode of transport used. However, the increase in accuracy, resolution, and variety of meta-data leads to a corresponding sacrifice in scale. As such, surveys typically have a much lower number of respondents compared to a census. Additionally, these typically cover smaller areas such as a single city (or indeed neighborhoods within cities), as opposed to the level of a state, or an entire country.

A representative example is provided by the household Travel Tracker Survey for the Chicago metropolitan area, conducted between 2007 and 2008, and carried out by the Chicago Metropolitan Agency for Planning⁸. This survey contains information on travel activities of household members, among other details. Information was collected from a total of 10,552 households over a one or two-day period, and households were required to provide a detailed travel inventory for each member, including details such as trip purpose, transport mode, departure and arrival times, and public transport information such as boarding location, distance to final destination, and fare paid. A similar survey is available for the Los Angeles region⁹ and was analyzed by Liang *et al.* [43], where 46,000 trips between 2,017 zones within the Los Angeles county were extracted. The use of small scale surveys is often augmented by other forms of data (for example GPS tracks, see Sec. 2.4) in order to have accurate records of an individual's position combined with an annotated description of the purposes of each trip [43, 44].

While historically most prevalent, census data provides us only with coarse-grained patterns of human migration and movement. Surveys, on the other hand, provide far more detail but on a much smaller scale, thus limiting their use in terms of statistical validation of models. While the census reveals little information about where people spend their time, or where and how they travel, at the survey level, data reliability is restricted by scale and self-reporting errors. Thus both sources lack the ability to provide a dynamic picture of human mobility [45].

2.2. Dollar Bills

An unusual (and perhaps not immediately apparent) source of mobility data is related to the tracking of currency. An archetypal example of this are online bill-tracking websites, which are designed to monitor the dispersal of individual bank notes worldwide. The movement of a bank note between geographical locations occurs when it is carried by an individual, therefore data collected from such websites may be used to infer trajectories and patterns of human mobility. Brockmann *et al.* [46] obtained trajectories of 464,670 dollar bills from the website www.wheresgeorge.com, allowing for an analysis of bank note dispersal in the United States (excluding Hawaii and Alaska). The data set contains entries corresponding to time-stamped reports of the geographic location of individual bills, numbering around 250 million as of 2017. All bills registered on the site are initially entered by a user which involves the input of their

⁸ http://www.cmap.illinois.gov/data/transportation/travel-tracker-survey

⁹ http://www.scag.ca.gov/travelsurvey



Fig. 4: Trajectories of bank notes originating from four different locations. Tags indicate initial, symbols secondary report locations. Lines represent short time trajectories with traveling time T < 14 days. Lines are omitted for the long time trajectories (initial entry: Omaha) with T > 100 days. The inset depicts a close-up of the New York area. Pie charts indicate the relative number of secondary reports coarsely sorted by distance. The fractions of secondary reports that occurred at the initial entry location (dark), at short (0 < r < 50km), intermediate (50 < r < 800km) and long (r > 800km) distances are ordered by increasing brightness of hue. The total number of initial entries are N = 2,055 (Omaha), N = 524 (Seattle), N = 231 (New York), N = 381 (Jacksonville). Figure from [46].

ZIP code and a serial number printed on the bill. While the majority of the bills are not entered more than once, around 11% of the bills are reported multiple times, with 3-5 entries per bill being fairly common (Any more than 5 entries is considered rare). Once a bill has been registered, any future hits allow for time and distance between reports to be determined and recorded in the database (see Fig. 4).

While a convenient and large-scale source of mobility data, the use of currency to infer patterns in human mobility is problematic. For instance, bank note dispersals do not contain information on the number of individuals that have carried a given note during two instances of measurement (i.e., when it appears in the database). Consequently, the trajectories of bank notes are likely a convolution of the mobility of several individuals; coupled with the relatively few samples per dollar bill, this makes it a rather inaccurate and problematic source for inferring individual mobility patterns. Nevertheless, similar to census data, currency tracking provides a convenient, and relatively easily accessible picture of the coarse-grained patterns of human mobility.

2.3. Mobile Phone Records

Perhaps the most important, game-changing data of the last decade for inferring human mobility are the mobile phone Call Detail Records (CDRs). Most cell phone companies maintain detailed records of customer information related to their calls and text messages. The information contained in these CDRs include the time of the



Fig. 5: Trajectories of two anonymized mobile phone users traveling in the vicinity of N = 22 and 76 different cell phone towers during a 3-month-long observational period. Each dot corresponds to a mobile phone tower, and each time a user makes a call, the closest tower that routes the call is recorded, pinpointing the users approximate location. The gray lines represent the Voronoi lattice, approximating each towers area of reception. The colored lines represent the recorded movement of the user between the towers. Figure from [47].

call/message as well as the company's cell tower routing the communication. Knowing the exact geographic coordinates of the cell tower makes it possible to estimate the approximate location of the user. As mobile phones are (typically) personal devices and are mostly carried by a single person, the corresponding location data can be used to infer a single individual's movements over the recorded period (an example is shown in Fig. 5). Unlike the census, surveys, or currency tracking, CDRs allow for the characterization of *individual mobility patterns*, and – depending on the dataset – at an unprecedented spatio-temporal resolution. Furthermore, due to the tremendous trend of global cell-phone adoption, one can conduct multi-scale studies ranging from the level of neighborhoods to the country-wide level (including international travel and movement across borders).

CDR data concern both phone calls and SMS exchange and always include the following information: time stamp, caller ID, recipient ID, call duration and antenna (cellular tower) code. Due to privacy concerns, customer identifiers are anonymized before the data is made available to scientists for analysis. Quite often, additional clean up of the data is required to make the data more analyzable; for instance, one typically needs to restrict the dataset to users who visit a minimum threshold number of towers, as well as make calls at a high enough frequency to maintain statistical reliability for each user.

One of the first work using CDR's was performed by Gonzaléz *et al.* [48] on two anonymized datasets provided by a major mobile operator in a large European country. The first set contained the locations of 100,000 randomly selected mobile users whose positions were recorded over a period of 6 months, each time a call or text was received or sent. The second set (collected for validation purposes) corresponded to the locations of 206 mobile users, recorded every two hours over a period of a week. From this

data, traces of mobility patterns such as the distribution of displacements between the locations of consecutive calls (jump-lengths) were measured. The temporal period between consecutive calls was also measured to determine a distribution of wait times (i.e., characteristic time spent by users in a given location). The knowledge of users' consecutive locations also enabled the calculation of so-called return time distributions, measuring the probability of a user to return to a given location within a given time. Other more complex metrics, including the radius of gyration were also extracted. (For details on metrics see Sec. 3.1).

The quality of mobility information extracted from mobile phone data depends on the frequency at which the location of the user is recorded. For example, the larger data set used in [48] displayed an irregular call pattern; many calls were placed over a short time period, followed by long periods of inactivity. Consequently, the data displayed a highly inconsistent temporal frequency, which may confound the analysis of mobility patterns. The smaller-scale validation dataset was therefore collected to account for these irregularities. Other problematic issues also arise, such as the accuracy of recorded locations. In general, it is the position of the cell tower routing the call that is recorded and not the exact location of the individual carrying the phone. Since there is significant variability in the areas covered by cell towers-with coverage ranging from tens of meters in the densest neighborhoods of urban areas, to a few kilometers in rural areas—a recorded user in a rural area may transmit all communication via a single tower during their daily routine, while moving the exact same area as that of an urban user who may ping several towers. Thus, in the former case, despite possibly significant movement on part of the user, for purposes of analysis they are considered stationary, which is obviously misleading.

We must note that obtaining CDRs for research purposes poses significant challenges. Since they are not typically publicly available, one has to directly approach a mobile phone operator. As the data contains sensitive information [49], any data collected by a specific group of researchers may not be shared with other groups, making reproducibility problematic. Yet, recent initiatives have seen some phone companies release large scale CDR data within the context of "challenges" among researchers. The purpose of making this data available is to provide researchers some material allowing them to extract useful information to address major societal challenges. Such recent datasets are those that have been provided by Orange in the framework of their Data 4 Development (D4D) challenge. These contain four anonymized tables for mobile phone users in the Ivory Coast (Côte d'Ivoire) and Senegal. For example, in the case of Ivory Coast, data contained (i) hourly antenna-to-antenna traffic; (ii) individual trajectories of 50,000 users over two weeks with antenna location information; (iii) individual trajectories of 500,000 users over an entire year with sub-prefecture location information; (iv) communication graphs for 5,000 users [50]. In particular (iii) contains information regarding individual trajectories for the entire observation period at the cost of reduced spatial resolution; position is recorded as a sub-prefecture rather than antenna location. The raw data consists of a user ID, date and time stamp of the communication and the sub-prefecture number (1-255) which can be linked to a file containing the latitude and longitude of the center of each sub-prefecture [51].

Telecom Italia's "Big Data Challenge" is another example of a large scale CDR data set readily available to researchers. Alongside anonymized call records, addi-



Fig. 6: Aggregated GPS position data (collected from vehicles) in a part of Florence, Italy, measured during March 2008; the red dots correspond to a recorded instantaneous velocity $\leq 30 \text{ km h}^{-1}$, whereas the yellow dots correspond to velocities in the interval $30 - -60 \text{ km h}^{-1}$ and the green dots to a velocity $\geq 60 \text{ km h}^{-1}$. Figure from [57].

tional metadata related to weather, news, Twitter activity, and electricity data from two areas in Italy (Milan and Trentino) was provided [52]. Data from this challenge has been used to investigate the relationship between individual daily trips and personal constraints [53], estimate urban population from call volume [54] or determine the relationship between urban communication and happiness [55]. The increasing availability of such large-scale, anonymized datasets for research purposes is an encouraging trend for future research on human mobility. For more detailed information on CDR sources and some associated results (including other research topics than human mobility), see the review by Blondel *et al.* [56].

2.4. GPS Data

The greatest level of accuracy on movement trajectories is provided by Global Positioning System (GPS) data, which is capable of providing precise information on any location covered by at least four GPS Satellites. GPS trackers are units which receive signals from GPS satellites and compute the device's position at regular intervals. This technology allows researchers to trace the movement of individuals with a high degree of accuracy and temporal frequency, thus providing a rich source of data that can be analyzed and directly mapped to human mobility patterns.

Rhee *et al.* [58] used GPS trackers with a position accuracy of less than three meters to record the movements of over 150 individuals across two University campuses, a state fair (US), Disney World, and New York City. The position of the individuals carrying the trackers was recorded every 10 seconds while they were in these locations resulting in daily traces that had on average a temporal scale of 9-10 hours. Additionally, Microsoft has made GPS trajectories from 182 individuals freely available online via their GeoLife project¹⁰. The dataset consists of 17,621 trajectories recorded by GPS trackers and GPS enabled mobile devices, and has a high spatial and temporal scale for over 90% of individuals with positions recorded every 1-5 seconds or 5-10 meters for time periods that span several years. Since its release, GeoLife has been used in studies of both human mobility [59, 60] and social interactions [61]. For a review of potential applications see [62].

Transmitters attached to vehicles [63, 64] are another source of GPS data. These are useful for studying questions related to urban traffic: monitoring, prediction, and prevention of congestion [64]. In Italy, $\simeq 2\%$ of privately owned cars have a GPS system; each vehicle has assigned a unique identifying number, thus enabling the tracing of anonymous individual cars' trajectories with high precision. A GPS signal is transmitted approximately every 2km, as well as when the engine is switched on and off [63]. Each signal is converted to a data point containing information on position, velocity and distance covered. While the data suffers from inaccuracy due to variables such as satellite coverage and position precision, the temporal precision is of high quality, as is both instantaneous velocity and distance covered. From such GPS vehicle traces, path length distributions can be measured, which corresponds to the distribution of distances traveled in single trips, where a trip is defined as travel that occurs between instances of the engine being started and stopped. Activity distributions, which are equivalent to waiting time distributions in other studies, can also be determined from the elapsed time between consecutive trips. A further advantage of GPS traces over CDRs is that the locations are recorded to a much higher degree of accuracy and at a constant frequency. Yet, there are drawbacks: GPS transmitters do not work indoors and generally rely on batteries as their source of power. As a result, traces can contain periods during which no signal is received or may be terminated prematurely. Furthermore, GPS datasets typically feature a smaller number of individual users, up to several thousand, in comparison to mobile phone data which can provide information on the mobility of millions of users.

2.5. Online Data

Another valuable source of location information are Online Social Network (OSN) or Location-Based Social Network (LBSN) services, that attract hundreds of millions of users worldwide. Since the introduction of GPS and wifi chips in smartphones, social network providers have been able to collect valuable data on both the social connections as well as precise geographical locations of their users. Indeed, services such as Twitter, Facebook, Foursquare and Flickr collect geotagged data every time a user enables localization for the content being posted (e.g., checking-in at a restaurant with friends); this is associated with geographic coordinates, a time stamp, and additional information relative to the location itself or the content published by the user. The mobility profiles of the users can be obtained from the list and number of locations

¹⁰ http://research.microsoft.com/en-us/downloads/b16d359d-d164-469e-9fd4-daa38f2b2e13



Fig. 7: Country-specific analyses of travel based on Twitter users and on the estimated total number of travelers. Panel A shows the number of Twitter users residing in a country and traveling to another while panel B shows the number of users visiting this particular country. Panels C and D represent the number of Twitter travelers normalized by the extent of Twitter usage in their home country. Finally panel E represents the yearly ratio between the estimated inflow and outflow of travelers, revealing which countries were the origin or destination of international travel. Figure from [66].

other than their home which they have visited over the period of the study (see Fig. 7 for an example). These profiles can range from intra-urban routine trips to worldwide travel [65, 66]. From the geographical locations, by inferring a user's home location, their radius of gyration can be determined using the geographical distance between the home location and reported locations. The jump length distribution can be determined by defining a jump as the geographical distance between consecutive reports for a single user and frequency of reports can be used to assess temporal patterns in human mobility [66]. Other measures such as visitation frequency and predictability are also obtainable [67].

Geotagged data can also be used to assess social interactions between individuals. Scellato *et al.* [68] analyzed three online location-based social networks: Foursquare, Brightkite, and Gowalla, finding their exhibition of common properties found in most other real world complex networks, such as fat tailed degree distributions, high clustering coefficient, and short average path length between nodes, confirming the smallworld nature of LBSN's [69]. Furthermore, the probability of a social link between two users was found to exhibit a distance dependence, decreasing with geographical separation between the users. Compared to CDR's, data collected from OSN's and LBSN's, have the advantage of having more contextual information associated with the geographical positions and the users, enabling the study of mobility in a broader context. For example, data collected from Twitter users has been applied to topics such as social networks [70, 71, 72], evolution of moods [73, 74, 75], and crisis management [76, 77, 78] among other features.

Yet, as in all other data sources, limitations persist. Besides requiring extensive clean up (such as removing users with suspiciously high activity, unreasonably fast movement between two consecutive check-ins or incomplete data [66]), mobility and interaction data originating from online social networks needs further validation in order to be considered truly representative of the general population. Sloan *et al.* [79] found that Twitter data originating from the UK has significant demographic differences compared to the wider population data from UK census. Furthermore, there appear to be demographic differences between the users who enable geotagging and those who do not (only $\approx 3\%$ of the users were found to have geotagging enabled).

3. Metrics, Physics and Scales

In this section, we will discuss some of the fundamental metrics used to characterize mobility as well as the associated spatio-temporal scales at which they are relevant. We will then move onto a discussion of some of the physics associated with mobility, including the relations between distance, time and velocity. We end the section with a discussion of energy arguments and interpolation of spatio-temporal scales through the lens of multimodality.

3.1. General Metrics

3.1.1. Jump Lengths

A key factor in modeling human mobility is the distance an individual travels in a given time period. Measures of distance are often dependent on the source of data being used, and the terms flight length, jump length, displacement, and trip refer to different distance measures that may be extracted from data. For example, early measures of mobility leveraged information about the spatial trajectories of bank-notes (one can think of this as an aggregation of many individual trips as a given banknote necessarily changes many hands). Conventionally, the distance between two instances of the appearance of a banknote in the measured data is termed a jump length [46]. Later, higher resolution measurements of movement were provided by Call Detail Records (CDRs). Here one could reliably measure the location (and corresponding displacement) of *individuals* based on placement of mobile phone towers that are pinged when one makes a call. Associated with the displacement between two successive calls is a time interval [48], that provides an estimate of the stay of an individual in a location (waiting-times), although it is not possible to detect the position of the user between two consecutive calls. Even higher resolution spatio-temporal data available from Global Positioning System (GPS) allows one to make more stringent definitions of displacement. In addition to the standard definition of jump-lengths [58], one can now define a displacement between stops, i.e. the displacement of individuals between two locations, given that they spent a minimum amount of time per location [63]. Indeed, the use of the terms "stop", "trip" or "displacement" reflects human behavioral tendencies that motivate people to go from point A to point B. It is therefore important to verify that a "stop" corresponds to an actual behavior and that it is not artificially generated by oversampled or undersampled signals [80].

Regardless of how one chooses to constrain it, the jump length, typically denoted as Δr , is defined as the euclidean distance between r(t) and r(t + dt) corresponding to

locations recorded at intervals t and t + dt. Of particular interest is the distribution of Δr within a population; how likely is it that a random member of the population will travel a distance r from their origin location in a time dt? In order to measure this, when modeling human mobility it is common to consider the probability distribution function (PDF) of jump lengths, $P(\Delta r)$. This may be defined as the probability of finding a displacement Δr in a short time step dt.

Brockmann *et al.* [46] determined $P(\Delta r)$ for the trajectories of dollar bills and the distribution of jump lengths was observed to follow a power law, $P(\Delta r) \sim \Delta r^{-(1+\beta)}$, with exponent $\beta = 0.59 \pm 0.02$, independent of the size (in population) of the entry point of a bank note (see Fig. 8). The power-law behavior of $P(\Delta r)$ has also been observed in the trajectories of mobile phone users [48, 81]. The empirical distribution of displacements obtained from mobile phone data analyzed in [48] is well approximated by a truncated power-law distribution:

$$P(\Delta r) = (\Delta r - \Delta r_0)^{-(1+\beta)} \exp(-\Delta r/\kappa)$$
(5)

where r_0 and κ represent cutoffs at small and large values of Δr . The value of the observed scaling exponent in Eq. (5) is $\beta = 0.75 \pm 0.15$, not far from $\beta = 0.59 \pm 0.02$ obtained from bank note dispersal, suggesting that the two distributions may capture the same fundamental mechanism driving human mobility patterns. Zhao et al. [82] measured the distribution of jump lengths using two GPS data sets that, along with location and time stamps, also included transportation mode. From this, the jump length Δr was determined as the longest straight line distance between two locations without a change of direction. Wait times, Δt , were taken to be the time spent in a particular transportation mode. A single trip may be made up of several flights, each of which have a corresponding transportation mode taken directly from the dataset. The transportation modes were grouped into four categories; Walk/Run, Car/Bus/Taxi, Subway/Train and Bike. The distribution of jump lengths is found to be log-normal if each transportation mode is considered individually, whereas $P(\Delta r)$ for all modes combined follows a truncated power-law with $\beta = 0.55$ and 0.39 for the two datasets. The distribution of wait times, $P(\Delta t)$, was found to be exponential, corresponding to a large number of Walk/Run flights that connect the use of other transportation modes within a single trip and therefore have only a short duration. This result provides further insight into studies using on bank note and mobile phone data [46, 48, 81] in that the power-law behavior of the distribution of jump lengths is the result of combining several distinct log-normal distributions, corresponding to the different transportation modes available, with exponentially distributed wait times. GPS devices installed in cars transmit the location of the car to a high degree of accuracy every few seconds when the car is in motion. The analysis of such data from over 150,000 cars in Italy over a period of one month [64] found that the probability density function, $P(\Delta r)$ had two different regimes; an exponential distribution up to a characteristic distance of ~20 km corresponding to inter-city travels, and a power-law with $\beta = 1.53$ corresponding to intra-city movement. Here, Δr corresponds to the true length of a single trip. Trips are distinguished by records that are greater than 20 mins apart; as the GPS device only transmits when the car is moving, using a threshold of 20 mins allows for small stops, such as waiting at traffic lights or re-fueling, to be accounted for and included within a single trip. The exponent, β , is significantly higher than those obtained for bank note



Fig. 8: The short-time dispersal kernel of bank notes. The measured probability density function P(r) of traversing a distance r in less than T = 4 days is depicted in blue symbols. It is computed from an ensemble of 20,540 short-time displacements. The dashed black line indicates a power law $P(r) \sim r^{-(1+\beta)}$ with an exponent of $\beta \sim 0.59$. The inset shows P(r) for three classes of initial entry locations (black triangles for metropolitan areas, diamonds for cities of intermediate size, circles for small towns). Their decay is consistent with the measured exponent $\beta = 0.59$ (dashed line). Figure from [46].

dispersal [46] and mobile phone data [48, 81]. The authors suggest this is due to the limitation in the GPS data caused by restrictions on the size of the area covered (500km in length), and the physical limitation on the distance an individual will drive in a single trip.

3.1.2. Mean Square Displacement (MSD)

Research into the distribution of jump lengths suggests that individual trajectories can be described by Lévy flights, a family of models associated with random walks (described in detail in Sec. 4.1). In this context, a common measure of the potential exploration of area by an individual is the Mean Square Displacement (MSD):

$$MSD(t) = \langle (\mathbf{r}(t) - \mathbf{r}_0)^2 \rangle \equiv \langle \Delta \mathbf{r}(t)^2 \rangle.$$
(6)

Here \mathbf{r}_0 is a vector marking the origin of the individual relative to some reference point, or in other words, the location at which a particular trajectory starts, while $\mathbf{r}(t)$ measures the subsequent position of the individual at time *t*. The scaling of MSD with time provides a measure of the type of diffusion of individuals relative to their starting point in a trip. The MSD(t) has the unit of an area and it corresponds to the average squared distance from the origin after a time *t*. In general, if the individual mobility trajectories follow a so-called Continuous Time Random Walk, (Cf. Sec. 4.1.3), the MSD follows the form $\langle \Delta \mathbf{r}(t)^2 \rangle \sim t^{\gamma}$ with $\gamma = 2\alpha/\beta$ where α and β are the exponents of the waiting-time, i.e. the time interval between two consecutive jumps, and jump length PDFs [46].



Fig. 9: MSD versus time for groups of individuals with different radii of gyration. The gray line represents the analytic prediction of CTRW (Cf. Sec. 4.1.3) whereas the orange line represents the analytic prediction of the asymptotic behavior $MSD(t) \sim (\log \log(t))^{2/\beta}$, which more accurately reflects the movement pattern of humans. Figure from [81].

In particular, for a random walk (ordinary diffusion) v = 1. Yet a CTRW type process is not entirely a realistic representation of how humans actually move. In particular, a random walker will tend to drift away from the origin of its trajectory rather rapidly, the longer the elapsed time. Whereas, as one would imagine, empirical measurements indicate that people have a tendency (on average) to return home on a daily basis [48]. Furthermore, the means of transportation constrain the maximum jump length, therefore it has been observed that the PDF's $P(\Delta t)$ and $P(\Delta r)$ have exponential cutoffs; this implies that their variances are finite and hence in the long-time limit the scaling of the MSD will asymptotically converge to that of Brownian motion, MSD(t) ~ $t^{1/2}$.

To account for this discrepancy, refinements were made in [81], where analysis was restricted to high-resolution data with a combination of mobile phone records that provided locations each time a call was made, along with location data recorded by mobile services at hourly intervals. The newer measurements revealed that human mobility apparently follows an ultra-slow diffusive process characterized by a slower than logarithmic growth of the MSD with time, $MSD(t) \sim (\log \log(t))^{2/\beta}$ (see Fig. 9).

Yet, the picture is typically more complex. Indeed, a common problem arising when calculating the MSD, is that the location of an individual's origin is often ambigu-

ous [58]. One method of overcoming this issue is to take the average of MSD values measured by varying the origin among all locations that an individual visits [83, 84]. Such an approach was taken in [58] where they analyzed the GPS traces of individuals in a number of different location, including a university campus (KAIST), New York City, Disney World, and a US state fair. The averaging procedure applied to the MSD revealed two types of temporal behavior; up to a certain time (~ 30 minutes) the participants moved super-diffusively (as expected in a CTRW process), whereas for periods greater than 30 minutes, the individuals moved sub-diffusively. It is here that the notion of scales becomes important. The authors explain this dichotomous behavior by showing that at short time scales, the distribution of jump lengths follow a power-law distribution, whereas at longer time scales, jump lengths are more homogeneous, following a Gaussian distribution. While the combination of power law waiting times and jump lengths lead to super-diffusive behavior at shorter spatio-temporal scales, the Gaussian distribution of jump lengths (while maintaining a power law behavior for the waiting times) leads to mobility that appears sub-diffusive [85] at larger spatio-temporal scales.

3.1.3. Radius of Gyration

The sub-diffusive behavior of humans at certain scales suggests that they tend to move a *characteristic distance* away from their starting locations. This distance can be quantified by the so-called, radius of gyration, r_g , defined as the root mean square distance of a set of points from a given axis. Traditional applications of this measure are rooted in physics (where it is related to the mass moment of inertia) and engineering (distribution of cross sectional area in a column). A general formulation of r_g is given by:

$$r_g = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N} \sum_{i=1}^{N} (\mathbf{r}_i - \mathbf{r}_0)^2}$$
(7)

where \mathbf{r}_i are the coordinates of the *N* individual points (or *N* measurements of location) and \mathbf{r}_0 is the position vector of the center of mass of the set of points, $\mathbf{r}_{cm} = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \mathbf{r}_i/N$. When applied to human mobility, the radius of gyration can be used to characterize the typical distance of an individual from the center of mass of their trajectory. The radius of gyration is not equivalent to the square root of the Mean Squared Displacement, defined in Eq. 7, although the two quantities are related because the former is a central second moment while the latter is a second moment about the origin.

Gonzalez *et al.* [48] used mobile phone call records to determine the radius of gyration for two sets of users; one set with high temporal resolution (position recorded every two hours over one week), and one set with lower resolution on a longer (6 month) scale. The radius of gyration was calculated for each user, *a*, up to a time *t* using the recorded positions, $\mathbf{r}_i^{(a)}$, $i = 1..., N^{(a)}$. The value of \mathbf{r}_0 was taken as the center of mass of each users trajectory; $\mathbf{r}_{cm}^a = \sum_{i=1}^{N^{(a)}} \mathbf{r}_i^{(a)} / N^{(a)}$. The distribution of r_g , $P(r_g)$, was found to follow a truncated power law of the form:

$$P(r_g) = (r_g - r_g^{(0)})^{-(1+\beta_r)} \exp\left(-r_g/\kappa_r\right)$$
(8)

where $r_0^{(0)}$ represents the minimum radius of gyration cutoff due to the spatial sensitivity



Fig. 10: The distribution $P(r_g)$ of the radius of gyration measured for two sets of mobile phone users labeled D_1 and D_2 , where $r_g(T)$ was measured after 6 months of observation. The solid line represents a truncated power-law fit. The dotted, dashed, and dot-dashed curves show $P(r_g)$ obtained from Random Walk, Lévy flight, and truncated Lévy flight models respectively. Figure from [48].

of the data, and κ_r represents an upper cutoff mostly due to the finite size of the study area (see Fig. 10).

Indeed, the measured value of the scaling exponent $\beta_r = 0.65 \pm 0.15$ indicates a significant degree of heterogeneity in the travel habits of the observed population. Measuring the conditional jump length distribution, $P(\Delta r|r_g)$, revealed that users with small r_g travel mostly over small distances, whereas those with large r_g tend to display a combination of many small and a few larger jump sizes. Once one accounts for this heterogeneity in travel habits by rescaling the distribution with respect to r_g , it leads to a collapse of the data onto a single curve thus,

$$P(\Delta r|r_g) \sim \Delta r^{-(1+\beta_c)} F(\Delta r/r_g).$$
⁽⁹⁾

Here $\beta_c = 0.2 \pm 0.1$ is a "universal" scaling exponent, and F(x) is a scaling function that is constant for x < 1 and rapidly decreasing for $x \gg 1$.

It is important to note that the distributions described above are not independent but are related by the equality $P(\Delta r) = \int_{r_0}^{\infty} P(\Delta r|r_g)P(r_g)dr_g$, where $P(\Delta r)$ is the jumplength distribution introduced previously. If $P(\Delta r)$ has a power-law scaling exponent β , then we have $\beta = \beta_c + \beta_r$, which seems to be in good agreement with empirically measured values. This form of scaling corresponds to a type of random walk called a Lévy flight (Sec. 4.1.2), and the results suggest that this may be the behavior of individuals up to their associated characteristic distance r_g (and beyond which saturation effects take over).

A way to uncover the saturation effect is to examine the time evolution of the radius of gyration, i.e. $r_g(t)$. In [48], it was found that the average r_g of mobile phone



Fig. 11: (a) Radius of gyration $r_g(t)$ versus time for mobile phone users separated into three groups according to their final $r_g(T)$, where T = 6 months. The dashed curves correspond to a logarithmic fit of the form $A + B \ln(t)$, where A and B are time-independent coefficients that depend on r_g . (b) Probability density function of individual travel distances $P(\Delta r | r_g)$ for users with $r_g = 4$, 10, 40, 100 and 200 km. *Inset* Each group displays a different $P(\Delta r | r_g)$ distribution. *Main* After rescaling the distance and the distribution with r_g , the different curves collapse to a power law (solid line). (c) Return probability distribution, $F_{pr}(t)$. The prominent peaks capture the tendency of humans to return regularly to the locations they visited before, in contrast with the smooth asymptotic behavior $\sim 1/(tln(t)^2)$ (solid line) predicted for random walks. (d) A Zipf plot showing the frequency of visiting different locations. The symbols correspond to users that have been observed to visit $n_L = 5$, 10, 30, and 50 different locations. Denoting with L the rank of the location listed in the order of the visit frequency, the data are well approximated by $R(L) \sim L^{-1}$. The inset is the same plot in linear scale, illustrating that 40% of the time individuals are found at their first two preferred locations; bars indicate the standard error. Figure from [48].

users displays a logarithmic increase with time, $\langle r_g(t) \rangle \sim A + B \ln t$ (see Fig. 11), in contrast to a pure random walk where the scaling is of the form $\langle r_g(t) \rangle \sim t^{\theta}$. The observed saturation in r_g can be attributed to the regularity in travel patterns of the individuals, and specifically to the high probability for an individual to return to a few highly-frequented locations. As pointed out before, the true picture is a mixture of behaviors. Supporting the conclusions made in [58] while measuring the MSD, Zhao *et al.* [86] argue that humans engage in a mixture of superdiffusive and subdiffusive



Fig. 12: The distribution $P(r_g)$ of the radius of gyration r_g for mobile-phone users at different moments of time. The straight line, shown as a guide to the eye, represents a power-law decay with the exponent $1 + \alpha \approx 1.55$. Figure from [81].

behaviors (depending on temporal scale), and the latter specifically can be explained as a consequence of the saturation of r_g . This was later reproduced by Song *et al.* [81] and demonstrated to be the consequence of the fat-tailed distribution of the jump lengths (Fig. 12).

The radius of gyration is a measure to characterize the typical distance traveled by an individual and it depends both on the mutual distance of the locations visited and on the time spent (or the total number of visits) in each location. However, the radius of gyration does not allow us to quantify the relevance of each location in determining an individual's characteristic mobility. Indeed, an individual who spends a majority of time in their most visited locations, e.g. home and work, will have a large r_g if these two locations happen to be quite far from each other. Conversely, even if these most visited locations are close to each other, large values of r_g may be reported if the individual happens to visit a number of distant locations.

To disentangle these effects, one can study the influence of frequency of location visits on the characteristic distance traveled, by studying the *k*-radius of gyration, $r_g^{(k)}$, defined as the radius of gyration computed over an individual's *k* most frequently visited locations L_1, \ldots, L_k (see next section) [87]. One can express this modified form as

$$r_{g}^{(k)} = \sqrt{\frac{1}{N_{k}} \sum_{j=1}^{k} n_{j} (\mathbf{r}_{j} - \mathbf{r}_{cm}^{(k)})^{2}},$$
(10)

where N_k is the sum of the visits to the k most frequented locations, $\vec{r}_{cm}^{(k)}$ is the center



Fig. 13: The mobility networks of returners and explorers for k = 2. Nodes (circles) indicate the geographic locations visited by the individual, and each link denotes a travel observed between two locations. When the total r_g is small, the two most important locations (red and blue) are close to each other for both two-explorers and two-returners. As the total radius increases the behavior of two-returners and two-explorers starts to differ; for returners, the two most important locations move away from each other; for explorers, they stay close and other clusters of locations emerge far from the center of mass (the gray cross). Figure from [87].

of mass computed on those locations and n_j is the number of visits to the *j*-th most visited location. As an example, if $r_g^{(2)} \simeq r_g$, then the characteristic traveled distance is dominated by the two most frequented locations, whereas if $r_g^{(2)} \ll r_g$ than the two most frequented locations do not offer an accurate characterization of the individual's travel pattern, requiring us to consider more locations.

The analysis of GSM and the GPS data revealed that there exist two distinct classes of individuals, *returners* and *explorers*. The characteristic distance traveled by *k*returners is dominated by their recurrent movement between a few preferred locations, and their radius of gyration is well approximated by their *k*-radius of gyration for $k \ge 2$. In contrast, *k*-explorers have a tendency to wander between a varying number of different locations and their *k*-radius of gyration is very small compared to their overall r_g (see Fig. 13).

3.1.4. Most Frequented Locations and Motifs

When considering patterns in human mobility, particularly movements within a single day or week, it is essential to distinguish between locations based upon their importance. As already mentioned, people have a tendency to return home on a daily basis and therefore most daily and weekly trajectories will start and finish at the same location. One method of quantifying the importance of a location is the use of ranks; the most visited location (likely home or work) would have rank 1, a school or local shop may have rank 2 or 3, etc. In [48], the rank of a location was determined for

each individual mobile user by the number of times their position was recorded in the vicinity of the cell tower covering that location. It was found that visitation frequency follows a Zipf law, that is the probability of finding a user at a location of rank L is approximately $P(L) \sim 1/L$.

Another method of distinguishing between locations is to construct each individual's mobility pattern as a network. Schneider *et al.* [44] used data from both mobile phone users and travel survey respondents to construct weekday mobility networks for each individual. These profiles consisted of nodes to represent locations visited and directed edges to represent trips between the locations. Every daily trip network started and ended at the home location of each user, which was determined as the location they were most often recorded at between 3:00am and 3:30am. For mobile phone users, only days where calls were made, and therefore location was recorded, during 8 or more 30min time slots were included. Daily networks were constructed for weekdays only in order to identify patterns in mobility during a typical day.

It was found that ~ 90% of the recorded trips made by all users can be described with just 17 daily networks. These 17 trip patterns can be described as motifs; a subnetwork within a complex network [88]. In this case, a daily network was considered to be a motif if it occurred more than 0.5% in the datasets. The result that the daily patterns of human mobility can be constructed by just 17 trip networks suggests that these motifs represent the underlying regularities that exist in our daily movements and are therefore useful for the accurate modeling and simulation of humans' mobility patterns.

3.1.5. Origin-Destination Matrices

The Origin-Destination (OD) matrix **T** is the standard object in aggregated mobility studies and transport planning. It provides an estimate of the number of individuals traveling between locations in a given area, over a given period of time. More precisely, an OD matrix is a $n \times m$ matrix where n is the number of different "Origin" zones, m is the number of "Destination" zones, and T_{ij} is the number of people traveling from zone i to zone j. More commonly, an area under study is partitioned to an equal number of origin and destination points and therefore, n = m. The size n of the OD matrix then depends on the spatial scale/resolution at which the data has been collected. Traditionally, zones are administrative units, whose size may vary from census and electoral units to entire municipalities, departments or states, depending on the question that motivated the development of the OD matrix. Obviously, the maximal spatial resolution of an OD matrix depends on the data source.

An OD matrix can be empirically derived, being estimated from household or roadside travel surveys, traffic counts, and more recently from individual digital footprints (see below). It can also be the output of a model, like in the classic 4-step transport model widely used in urban planning¹¹. OD matrices and the 4-steps framework have been used in transport planning since at least the middle of the 20th century, and there exists an enormous literature that covers its origins, uses, models, synthetic indicators,

¹¹1-Generate travel demands and offers in each spatial unit; 2-Distribute trips in space (generally thanks to a gravity model (see Sec. 4); 3-Evaluate the model choice; and 4-Assign trips to routes

and so on [89].

OD matrices are of specific importance to models of aggregate flow, that is models of human mobility at the population level, rather than individual level. Examples of such models are gravity and intervening opportunities models (Sec. 4). In empirical OD matrices, T_{ij} indicates the number of travelers from *i* to *j* measured during observation time window, whereas if the OD matrix is a model's estimate or prediction T_{ij} usually indicates the expected (average) number of travelers between the two locations. The OD matrix diagonal elements are usually 0 to indicate that people only move between distinct locations. In some studies the diagonal elements are larger than zero and indicate the number of non-traveling individuals in the origin location (or those who travel within the origin location). The fraction of travelers from the origin *i* to all other locations can be calculated as $p_{ij} = T_{ij}/T_i$, where $T_i = \sum_j T_{ij}$. In this case, the entry p_{ij} may represent the probability of an individual located at *i* to select location *j* as their destination over all other possible locations.

Until the 2000's, the traditional approaches to estimate OD matrices consisted in relying on travel surveys or counting. The drawback of such approaches are related to their cost to setup, frequency of updates, and that they cover a limited sample of individuals (a few hundreds or thousands of households) [90]. Consequently, to circumvent these difficulties, a large body of literature has dealt with extracting OD matrices from recently available, individual digital footprints [91, 92, 93, 94, 95, 90, 96, 97, 98]. Early work on this topic has already been summarized in a dedicated review a few years ago [99]. Here we don't go deeply into the details of the numerous methods that have been proposed, and give only the general picture for the case of average daily journey-to-work commuting.

Starting from time-sequences of successive locations, the goal is to identify important places ("anchor points") for each individual, such as the residence and workplace. The heuristic underlying method is straightforward: due to the circadian regular daily rhythms of human activity, one can make the reasonable assumption that for most individuals, the most frequent location of mobile devices will be very near the residence during non-working hours of weekdays, and during weekends. Similarly, during working hours on weekdays, it is likely that for most individuals their devices will be located just next to their workplace or location of primary activity (which include students, unemployed, retired, and employed individuals with a non-fixed workplace) [20, 96, 97, 98]. In some cases validation of methodology was conducted by asking a small group of volunteers to complete a survey, whose results were then compared to the key locations extracted from the recorded activity of their mobile devices [93].

Alexander *et al.* [97] proposed a method for constructing an OD matrix from mobile phone records. Such a method allows for data at the individual level to be aggregated in a way that lends itself to analysis at the population level. Implementing the proposed method, in order to infer a user's origin and destination, clustered locations are extracted from the mobile phone record. By clustering locations in close proximity to one another into a single origin or destination, noise from the data, such as inexact triangulation, is eliminated thus allowing for a more accurate analysis. The clustered locations are then assigned a type: work, home, or other. The assignment takes into account the time of day a user is observed there, the duration of their stay, and the day of the week. By the nature of mobile phone records, location is only recorded when a user makes or receives a call, therefore the arrival times and duration of stay at a given location may not reflect the true times. To correct for this, surveys on trips may be used to assign true arrival times and duration from a probability distribution derived from the survey data. Then, trips can be constructed for every user between each location at which they are observed. In order to ensure that the final OD matrix is representative, users that do not satisfy certain conditions, such as on average of at least one visit to the home location per day, may be removed from the data set. The daily trips are then combined for all users and locations allowing for the aggregate flow between all possible locations to be determined and an origin destination matrix to be constructed.

Lenormand et al. [96] compared the journey-to-work OD matrices extracted from three different data sources (census, mobile phone CDR data, and Twitter data) in Madrid and Barcelona, two of the largest European urban areas. Projecting residential and workplace locations identified in each dataset on regular square grids, in order to have a common spatial resolution for each dataset, they measured the correlation between the OD matrices estimated through each data source, as a function of the level of spatial aggregation. They found good correlation for square grids of size 2km $(\rho > 0.9)$, and very good correlation between the various sources when aggregating the individual data sources (Twitter, CDR data) on the map of administrative units (municipalities) used by the travel surveys ($\rho > 0.99$) (here ρ is the Pearson correlation coefficient). Using a slightly different method that aggregates nearby cell towers when identifying important locations, Alexander et al. [97] estimated OD matrices of daily average commuting trips from CDR data in the Boston area, and then performed a sensitivity analysis of the correlation between this OD and the OD issued from transport surveys at different levels of spatial aggregation. Tizzoni et al. [20] also compared OD estimated from census and mobile phone data at different scales of spatial aggregation. They found lower correlation values, but applied a simpler method to estimate the OD from mobile phone data, when the aforementioned papers applied more stringent filters to remove outliers, fusion phone antennas close to one another, etc. Several algorithms in the literature are reviewed in [98], and further successive refinements and improvements in the methodology have been made since [95, 90, 100, 97].

3.2. Physics of mobility

3.2.1. Distance, travel time, and effective speed

In essence, the metrics described above, deal with the concepts of distances traveled and the time elapsed within and between journeys. Another important feature, which has not been discussed, is the notion of *speed*. To understand the relation between these quantities, it is important to note that mobility occurs over a large variety of distances. Framing it in the context of urban agglomerations, intra-urban mobility occurs over distances typically in the range of 1-10 kms, while inter-urban displacements occur generally over a wider range of the order of 100 kms (or more for large countries such as the US), and inter-country and intercontinental trips cover distances typically of the order of 1000 kms. While to first order, one may think of time spent on a given trip being roughly proportional to the distance traveled, one has to take into account the mode of transportation, which itself depends on the distance. For shortrange travel, slow transportation modes with many stops are utilized (such as walking



Fig. 14: Apparent speed versus travel distance. The boxes represent the intervals for the different transportation modes. In the insets, the average result for cars (top left) and for plane travel (bottom right) are shown. The dashed lines represent power law fits. Figure from [101].

or public transportation), and for longer distances, one typically takes fast trains or planes with comparatively fewer stops. Thus the relation between distance, traveltimes, and therefore speed, is fairly nuanced, as can be seen in Fig. 14, where we show the relation between *apparent* speed (*i.e.* the geodesic distance divided by the travel time) and the travel distance [101].

In general, a trip can consist of multiple connections and may in fact be multimodal (multiple components of travel) with the corresponding waiting-time distributions associated with the modes of transportation [102]. Also, it is observed that the apparent speed $\overline{\nu}$ increases with travel distance according to the following power-law functional form [101]

$$\overline{v} \sim r^{\beta},\tag{11}$$

where $\beta \approx 0.5$. This particular dependence is primarily due to a combination of the hierarchical structure of transportation systems [103] and the fact that waiting-times (parking, take-off, landing, etc) decrease in proportion to trip distance.

For example, it has been observed for public transportation as well as personal cars [103] that a plot of the average trip velocity as a function of the trip duration reveals an effective acceleration (Fig. 15) of the form

$$\langle \overline{v} \rangle = v_0 + at. \tag{12}$$

This effective acceleration is a direct consequence of the hierarchical organization of roads: the longer the trip, the more likely that higher velocity roads such as highways are used, thus trips can be decomposed into a ascending cascade to faster roads, followed by a descending cascade when approaching the target location. Eq. (12) implies that the distance evolves with trip duration as

$$r \simeq v_0 t + \frac{1}{2}at^2,\tag{13}$$



Fig. 15: Empirical average speed versus the duration of the trip obtained from GPS data for cars (blue dots). The red solid line represents a fit to the form seen in Eq. (12) with $v_0 = 17.9$ km h⁻¹ and a = 16.7 km h⁻². Observe the saturation at t > 2 hours due to the finite number of layers in the transportation hierarchy. The orange dashed lines represents the best fit to $\langle | \bar{v} | \rangle \propto \sqrt{t}$ which corresponds to a Brownian acceleration model. Figure from [103].

from which the relation $\langle \overline{v} \rangle \sim \sqrt{r}$ directly follows [101].

3.2.2. Travel time budget

In the context of intra-urban mobility, Marchetti [105], based on ideas developed by Zahavi [106], proposed the idea of a travel time budget of about one hour per day irrespective of location. This implies that with improvements in transportation technology and corresponding increase in speed, a greater amount of distance is covered within the budgeted time, thus allowing for urban sprawl. This assumption can be reformulated as the *rational locator hypothesis* [107] which posits that individuals maintain approximately a constant journey-to-work travel times by adjusting their home and workplace. This was revisited in [107] on data for travel times in Washington DC for 1968, 1988, 1994, and Twin Cities for 1990 and 2000. The results show that there is a strong dependence on geography: for the Washington DC greater urban area, travel times are relatively stable, while the results for Twin Cities show a marked increase of the commute time. This has also been confirmed in another study [104] that discussed the impact of congestion on mobility patterns. In particular, it has been measured for US cities that typical travel delay due to congestion increases with the population as

$$\Delta \tau \sim P^{1+\delta} \tag{14}$$

where $\delta \approx 0.3$, indicating that average commuting time increases with population, due to the (nonlinear) congestion effects, in sharp contrast with the travel time budget



Fig. 16: Variation of the total delay due to congestion with population for 97 urbanized areas in the US. A power law fit gives an exponent of 1.270 ± 0.067 . Figure from [104].

hypothesis (See Fig. 16).

3.2.3. Energy arguments

Mobility, ultimately, is about energy. Indeed, moving an object of a certain mass at a certain speed requires a given amount of energy. Consequently, one would expect to apply energy concepts to understand human travel behavior [108]. First, it has been observed that the average travel times for different modes of transportation are inversely proportional to the energy consumption rates measured for the respective physical activities. Second, when daily travel-time distributions of different transport modes such as walking, cycling, bus, or car travel are appropriately scaled, they turn out to have a universal functional relationship (see Fig. 17).

This corresponds to a canonical-like energy distribution (with exceptions for short trips) hinting at a law of constant average energy consumption related to daily traveling. The argument, first proposed by Kolbl *et al.* [108], goes as follows. If we define the energy E_i spent per transportation mode *i*, the average energy consumption per day \overline{E} is constant and independent of the mode of transportation. The corresponding entropy is given by

$$S = -\int P(E_i) \ln P(E_i) dE_i, \qquad (15)$$

and the constraints on the energy distribution read

$$\int P(E_i) dE_i = 1; \quad \int E_i P(E_i) = \overline{E} dE_i, \tag{16}$$



Fig. 17: Rescaled travel time distribution for different transport modes (linear-log). Points represent different travel modes and the solid line is a fit to the rescaled energy distribution (18). Figure from [108].

which leads to the canonical distribution

$$P(E_i) \sim \mathrm{e}^{-\beta E_i}.\tag{17}$$

However, the data indicates that the probability to expend small energy is vanishing, and this was accounted for by introducing a cutoff of the form $e^{-\alpha \overline{E}/E_i}$. This cutoff term is reminiscent of the so-called "Simonson effect" [109], where short trips are not very likely to be taken with a given mode if the energy spent is much less than $\alpha \overline{E}$. The complete energy distribution is then given by

$$P(E_i) \sim e^{-\alpha E/E_i - \beta E_i}.$$
(18)

This finding, highlights the importance of physical concepts in understanding mobility and more generally social phenomena. In particular, it contains only physical variables such as travel times and energies, that are both measurable, in contrast with utilities introduced in classical choice modeling that describe preferences that are not measurable. Yet, as the authors point out, there are several issues that need to be accounted for, including measurement errors as well as multimodal trips that combine different transportation modes.

3.3. Interpolation of scales: the importance of multimodality

As discussed previously, mobility occurs over multiple spatio-temporal scales (multimodal) and thus a comprehensive picture of human mobility requires an accounting of the effects of multimodality. Indeed, the transition between different modes of transport necessarily implies a temporal cost that increases in proportion to the complexity


Fig. 18: The Anatomy of the transportation networks of selected cities in the UK. (a) London, (b) Manchester, (c) Edinburgh: total travel time in function of trip length separated by mode of travel. (d) Different colors represent different regimes versus the trip length. (i) Red: the trips are mostly done on the bus layer and display waiting times larger than riding times (a regime not present in London). (ii) Green: riding times exceed waiting times and most of the distance is covered in the bus layer. (iii) Blue: riding times exceed waiting times and most of the distance is covered in the metro and rail layers. Figure from [102].

of a trip (number of modes, or indeed level of mode). For example, in the UK, a rough estimate shows that roughly 23% of travel time is accounted for by connections made between modes in trips [102].

As showed in Fig. 18, the average structure of travel time varies with trip length ℓ and between cities. With the exception of London, short trips are composed of longer waiting times than riding times (i.e more time is spent being stationary than on the move), where the waiting times are mostly intra-layer in nature, due to bus-bus interchanges. If the transportation network is particularly multi-modal, inter-layer waiting times and walking times start to play a significant role for longer values of ℓ .

The effect of multiple scales on movement can be unpacked by defining two types of trajectories. One is the (ideal) quickest path that connects two points and neglects delays due to inter-modal connections (walking and waiting times). For this ideal path to exist, one would need perfect synchronization between modes (bus schedules aligning perfectly with train schedules for example). The other (more realistic) type of trajectories are so-called *time-respecting* paths that are the quickest paths accounting for inter-modal effects such as arrival, departure and connection times.

For OD pairs *i* and *j*, denoting the ideal path time as $\tau_m(i, j)$ and the corresponding time-respecting path as $\tau_t(i, j)$, the delay due to the lack of synchronization can be measured by

$$\delta(i,j) = \frac{\tau_t(i,j)}{\tau_m(i,j)} - 1.$$
 (19)



Fig. 19: Dependence of the synchronization inefficiency δ on path length *l* for cities in the UK. All cities appear to collapse onto a curve described by Eq. (20). Figure from [102].

Averaging this ratio over all OD pairs in a city, one obtains a characteristic delay δ . As an example, for cities in the UK the variation of $\overline{\delta}$ with trip length l is unimodal, reaching its maximum δ_{max} for short trips and then decreasing with distance ℓ according to

$$\overline{\delta} \approx \delta_{\min} + \frac{\delta_{\max} - \delta_{\min}}{\ell^{\nu}},\tag{20}$$

where $\nu \approx 0.5$. This surprising collapse (see Fig. 19) suggests an underlying process describing the accumulation of waiting and walking times along time-respecting paths.

It is clear for a given trip that the number of modes and the frequency of their use play an important role in determining $\overline{\delta}$. To measure their effect a natural quantity is the average number of stop events per unit time

$$\Omega = \frac{\sum_{\alpha} C_{\alpha}}{\Delta t_{\alpha}},\tag{21}$$

where C_{α} is the number of stop events in mode α and Δt_{α} the duration spent in that mode.

The quantity Ω can be thought of as a measure of the efficiency of transportation modes in terms of synchronization. The connection between $\overline{\delta}$ and Ω appears to follow a power law [102]

$$\bar{\delta} \sim \Omega^{-\mu},$$
 (22)

where $\mu \approx 0.3 \pm 0.1$. The trend is due to the fact that larger values of Ω implies larger frequency and thus a better synchronization between modes. The observed small value of μ is however bad news in terms of efficiency: Decreasing inefficiency by a factor of

2 requires a 10-fold increase in Ω meaning essentially that the trip would need to be unimodal.

Thus as the results show, for large cities with multi-modal transportation system, the temporal cost due to interchange between layers plays a key role in the statistics of trips. Indeed, a challenge is posed due to the entanglement between the temporal and multilayer aspects of the system.

4. General Mobility Models

Models of human mobility can be aimed at reproducing individual mobility patterns or general population flows. In both cases one must necessarily take into account the characteristic spatial and temporal scales of the mobility process, which can vary from hundreds of meters to thousands of kilometers and from hours to years. For this reason, each of these cases have been tackled with distinct modeling frameworks. Individual mobility is subject to a certain level of uncertainty associated with free will and arbitrariness in the actions of individuals, leading to a degree of stochasticity in trip patterns. Consequently, minimal models borrow concepts and methods from random walks and Brownian motion. However, several studies highlighted that individual trajectories are far from random, possessing a high degree of regularity and predictability, which can be exploited to predict an individual's future whereabouts and to construct realistic generative models of individual mobility. At the level of population flows, models describe the aggregate mobility of many individuals and aim to reproduce Origin-Destination (OD) matrices by estimating the average number of travelers between any two spatial regions (e.g. municipalities) per unit time (i.e. daily in the case of commuting flows, yearly in the case of migration flows). Most modeling approaches derive the mobility flows as a function of a few relevant variables of the regions considered, such as mutual distances, population levels, GDP per capita, etc. The next sections review the state-of-the-art mobility models starting from individuallike approaches, moving on to flows at the population level and concluding by the interpolation between these scales (inter-modality).

4.1. Individual-Level (Random walks)

A random walk is mathematically defined as a path formed by successive discrete random steps although they can be described in the continuum limit as well (Sec. 4.1.3). The simplest version, however, deals with spatial displacements ΔX_i that are taken at discrete times t_i . If $x_0 = 0$ corresponds to the initial position of the walker at time $t_i = 0$ (we can arbitrarily fix the origin in the initial position of the walker), then the position after *N* steps is given by the random variable

$$X(t_N) = \sum_{i=1}^{N} \Delta X_i, \qquad (23)$$

where each displacement ΔX_i is a random variable extracted from a probability distribution $f(\Delta x)$, and draws are assumed to be statistically independent. The probability distribution $f(\Delta x)$ can be used to determine the probability density function (PDF), P(x, t) for the process to be at position x at time t which completely characterizes the nature of the walk and the related spatial and temporal measures. For example, the mean square displacement (Sec. 3.1.2) corresponds to the second moment $MSD(t) = \langle X(t)^2 \rangle$, and the *n*-th moment is obtained from

$$\langle X(t)^n \rangle = \int_{-\infty}^{\infty} x^n P(x, t) dx, \qquad (24)$$

where brackets indicate ensemble averages over multiple realizations of walks.

Of particular interest when analyzing models of individual mobility is the scaling of the square root of the mean squared displacement (RMSD), $R(t) = \sqrt{\text{MSD}(t)}$, with time *t*; a relationship that characterizes the speed of displacement from the origin with time. The scaling of the MSD can be used to categorize the type of diffusive motion of the random walker. Ordinary Brownian motion (Sec. 4.1.1) has a MSD that scales linearly with time (for any spatial dimension) therefore on average we expect that after a time *t* the distance of the walker from the origin is proportional to the square root of the elapsed time; $R(t) \sim t^{1/2}$. Taking this definition of diffusion, random walks that have displacement growing at a slower rate than $t^{1/2}$ are said to be *sub-diffusive*. In contrast, if displacement grows at a rate faster than $t^{1/2}$, the random walk is classed as *super-diffusive*. The models of random walks that can lead to these different behaviors are outlined below.

As an example, the most basic form of a random walk is the discrete symmetric random walk in 1D, for which $\Delta X_i = \pm 1$ with equal probability. For this simple case after an elapsed time time t = N (where N is the number of steps taken by the walker), the first two moments are $\langle X_N \rangle = 0$ and $\langle X_N^2 \rangle = N$.

4.1.1. Brownian Motion

Brownian motion is a class of random walk originally developed to describe the motion of a particle suspended in a fluid (liquid or gas) [110]. Such a particle undergoes many rapid instantaneous collisions with much smaller particles in the medium, resulting in a trajectory characterized by a series of irregular and random displacements. Mathematically, a 1-dimensional Brownian motion is a random walk in the space of real numbers \mathbb{R} with independent and normally distributed increments where the probability to observe a displacement of magnitude *X* from the origin location after a time *t* is Gaussian distributed with mean zero and variance proportional to *t*. Brownian motion can be defined as a limit of the discrete symmetric random walk. Let us assume that the particle can take steps of length $1/\sqrt{k}$ to its left or right with equal probability, and that after time *t* is given by

$$X_k(t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{k}} \sum_{i=1}^{tk} \Delta X_i,$$
(25)

and taking the limit $k \to \infty$ leads to Brownian motion as a consequence of the Central Limit Theorem (CLT). In fact, in the large k limit $X_k(t)$ tends to X(t), whose PDF is

$$P(x,t) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2\pi t\sigma^2}} e^{\frac{-(x-\mu k)^2}{2\tau\sigma^2}},$$
(26)

where $\mu = \langle \Delta X \rangle$ and $\sigma^2 = \langle \Delta X^2 \rangle$ are the mean and variance of the random walk displacements. For this case, the first moment is zero and $\sigma^2 = 1$, so the MSD is simply *t* and the scaling of the RMSD is $R(t) \sim t^{1/2}$, corresponding to ordinary diffusion. Using a similar limit, it can be shown that a *d*-dimensional random walk converges to a *d*-dimensional Brownian motion, for which the probability that the walker is found at distance *x* from the initial position is $P(x, t) = (4\pi t)^{-d/2} e^{\frac{-x^2}{4t}}$, and the RMSD always scales as the square root of *t*, $R(t) \sim t^{1/2}$.

4.1.2. Lévy Flight

Unlike Brownian motion, there is a class of random walks called Lévy Flights, for which one cannot use the CLT. A Lévy Flight is composed of a series of small displacements, interspersed occasionally by a very large displacement. It is formally defined as the sum of independent identically distributed random variables whose PDF for a single jump has a divergent second moment due to a long-tailed distribution of the form

$$f(\Delta x) \sim \frac{1}{\Delta x^{1+\beta}},$$
 (27)

with $0 < \beta < 2$. If the displacement after k steps of size $1/k^{1/\beta}$ is defined as $X_k(t)$, then the random variable Z_N defined as the re-scaled sum of N = t k independent random variables distributed as Eq. (27), takes the form

$$Z_N = \frac{1}{(t\,k)^{1/\beta}} \sum_{i=1}^{t\,k} \Delta X_i = \frac{1}{t^{1/\beta}} X_k(t).$$
(28)

The rescaled variable satisfies a generalization of the CLT, namely the Lévy-Khintchin theorem which states that the PDF of Z_N in the limit $N \to \infty$ is a so called α -stable (Lévy) distribution. These distributions do not have a closed formed in real space; instead the characteristic function can be written in Fourier space, and for this particular example, the tail would show the same power law behavior as Eq. (27). Changing variables from Z_N to X_k via Eq. (28) we obtain

$$Z_N \to f(z); \qquad X_k(t) \to \frac{1}{t^{1/\beta}} f\left(\frac{x}{t^{1/\beta}}\right).$$
 (29)

The MSD is equal to the second moment

$$\langle X(t)^2 \rangle \sim \int_0^\infty x^2 \frac{1}{t^{1/\beta}} f\left(\frac{x}{t^{1/\beta}}\right) dx = t^{2/\beta} \int_0^\infty y^2 f(y) \, dy \tag{30}$$

and hence RMSD for a Lévy flight scales super-diffusively: $R(t) \sim t^{1/\beta}$.

The jumps in Lévy flights can be considerable, but occurs within the same time step as a short one (which is unrealistic), and thus Lévy flights can be seen as only a rough approximation to actual human trajectories.

4.1.3. CTRW

The random walk models discussed thus far have been discrete in time. In each time interval, an instance of a jump is dictated by the corresponding jump-length distribution. A continuous time random walk (CTRW) is a random walk in which the

number of jumps made in a time interval dt is also a random variable or equivalently, the time elapsed between jumps (wait-time ΔT) is also a random variable.

If the PDF of jump-lengths is $f(\Delta x)$ and that for wait-times is $\phi(\Delta t)$, and these are independent, the CTRW consists of pairwise random and independent events with ΔX and ΔT drawn from the joint PDF, $P(\Delta x, \Delta t) = f(\Delta x)\phi(\Delta t)$, which denotes the probability that a jump of length Δx is taken after a time Δt . According to this model, after N steps, the total displacement, X_N , and the total elapsed time T_N are given by:

$$X_N = \sum_{i=1}^N \Delta X_i; \qquad T_N = \sum_{i=1}^N \Delta T_i.$$
(31)

The PDF of the process, P(x, t) can be Fourier-Laplace transformed to give:

$$W(k,u) = \frac{1 - \tilde{\phi}(u)}{u(1 - \tilde{\phi}(u)\,\tilde{f}(k))}$$
(32)

where $\tilde{\phi}(u)$ and $\tilde{f}(k)$ are the Laplace and Fourier transforms of $\phi(\Delta t)$ and $f(\Delta x)$ respectively. Taking the inverse transform we get

$$P(x,t) = \frac{1}{2\pi} \frac{1}{2\pi i} \int du \int dk \, e^{ut - i\,k\,x} \, W(k,u). \tag{33}$$

This expression for P(x, t) can be analyzed according to the asymptotic behavior of distributions $\phi(\Delta t)$ and $f(\Delta x)$. In particular four types of models are obtained, depending on whether none, either, or both distributions have heavy tails. The properties of these models and their application to human mobility are discussed below.

Ordinary Diffusion: If the expectation value of $\phi(\Delta t)$ and the variance of $f(\Delta x)$ are both finite, i.e $1 - \tilde{\phi}(u) \sim \tau u$ and $\tilde{f}(k) \sim 1 - (\sigma k)^2$ then from Eq. (32) and Eq. (33), asymptotically:

$$P(x,t) \sim \frac{1}{\sqrt{t}} e^{-x^2/Dt}$$
(34)

where *D* is a diffusion constant. Therefore a CTRW with well defined jump-length and waiting-time distributions, is asymptotically (with time) equivalent to Brownian Motion.

Lévy Flights: If $f(\Delta x) \sim \Delta x^{-(1+\beta)}$ ($0 < \beta < 2$), and $\phi(\Delta t)$ has a finite variance, a Lévy flight is recovered. Following the same procedure as Sect. 4.1.2, the PDF of the process is given by

$$P(x,t) \propto \frac{1}{t^{1/\beta}} G(x/t^{1/\beta}), \qquad (35)$$

where $G(x/t^{1/\beta})$ is a scaling (limiting) function. Therefore if the distribution of jump lengths is a power-law and the wait-times are well defined, $R(t) \sim t^{1/\beta}$ and a continuous time random walker will follow a super-diffusive path, equivalent to a Lévy Flight.



Fig. 20: Schematic of the different (asymptotic) classes of CTRW defined in the text, as a function of the waiting-time and jump-length exponents $0 < \alpha < 1$ and $0 < \beta < 2$. Lévy flights, fractional Brownian motion as well as ordinary diffusion are limiting cases of the more general class of ambivalent processes. Figure from [46].

Fractional Brownian Motion: Conversely, if jump-lengths with a finite variance are combined with a power-law distribution of wait-times $\phi(\Delta t) \sim \Delta t^{-(1+\alpha)}$, $(0 < \alpha < 2)$, the PDF is

$$P(x,t) \sim \frac{1}{t^{\alpha/2}} H(x/t^{\alpha/2}), \tag{36}$$

with *H* being a non-Gaussian limiting function. In this case, the effect of the distribution of waiting times is to slow down the random walk. Here $R(t) \sim t^{\alpha/2}$, consequently the walk is sub-diffusive for $\alpha < 1$ and super-diffusive for $1 < \alpha < 2$.

Ambivalent Processes: The fourth variant occurs when both $f(\Delta x)$ and $\phi(\Delta t)$ are heavy-tailed. In this case, $R(t) \sim t^{\alpha/\beta}$, and hence the nature of the diffusive behavior is fully specified by α and β . For $\beta < 2\alpha$, the CTRW is super-diffusive and for $\beta > 2\alpha$, it is sub-diffusive. If $\beta = 2\alpha$, the random walk converges to ordinary diffusion/Brownian motion, despite the diverging moments of the respective distributions. A schematic of these limiting cases is provided in Fig. 20. Given the sensitivity of the models to the parameters of the wait times and jump lengths, the importance of their accurate measurement from data cannot be over-stated. In any event, the ambivalent process model is most often used for describing the mobility of individuals. Analysis of various data sources (GPS, CDRs, Dollar bills) has found that both jump length distributions and the distribution of wait times display power-law behavior [46, 48, 86, 81]. The parameter ranges measured from data correspond to α estimated from empirical data range from 0.42 $\leq \alpha \leq 0.8$ [86, 81] and values of 0.31 $\leq \beta \leq 0.75$ [86, 48].

4.1.4. Preferential Return

An important aspect of human behavior, missing from the models discussed thus far, is the tendency of individuals to return to one or more locations on a daily basis (so-called preferential return). In a CTRW process, the number of distinct sites S visited by a random walker in time t is given by

$$S(t) \sim t^{\mu},\tag{37}$$

with $\mu = \alpha$ for a CTRW and $\mu = 1$ for a Lévy Flight [111]. The analysis of CDR's (Sec. 2.3), revealed a power-law distribution of jump-size with exponent $\alpha = 0.8$, while μ was independently measured to be $\mu = 0.6 \pm 0.02$, considerably less than the theoretical prediction. Indeed for random walks, the probability of an individual to visit any distinct location becomes asymptotically uniform, whereas analysis of visitation patterns [48] from data suggests that the rank-frequency visitation frequency follows a Zipf's law:

$$f_k \sim k^{-\zeta},\tag{38}$$

where *k* corresponds to the rank of location according to frequency of visit. This implies the distribution of visitation frequencies follows $P(f) \sim f^{-(1+1/\zeta)}$.

Furthermore the scaling of the MSD in the CTRW model suggests that an individual will asymptotically drift away from the origin (home) in contrast for what is known from daily experience. To account for the human trait of returning to locations, Song *et al.* [81] include two extensions to the CTRW model: *exploration* and *preferential return*.

Exploration is defined as the probability for an individual to move to a *previously unvisited* location according to

$$P_{new} = \rho S^{-\gamma},\tag{39}$$

where ρ and γ are parameters of the model and *S* increases by one for each new visit. Preferential return on the other hand is the probability to return to a previously visited location and is thus complementary to exploration: $P_{ret} = 1 - \rho S^{-\gamma}$ (see Fig. 21 for a schematic).

The probability to visit a previous location *i*, denoted Π_i , is determined by the number of previous visits to *i*, i.e., $\Pi_i = f_i$ where f_i is the visitation frequency. The parameters of the model are restricted to $0 < \rho < 1$ and $\gamma \ge 0$. Considering the total number of steps, *N*, an individual makes in time *t*, and noting that $dS/dN = P_{new}$, the number of distinct locations visited in time *t* is given by $S \sim N^{1/(1+\gamma)}$. For a power-law waiting time distribution $\phi(\Delta t)$, we have $t \sim n^{1/\alpha}$ and hence the exponent in Eq. (37)is

$$\mu = \frac{\alpha}{1+\gamma},\tag{40}$$

thus leading to slower rate of exploration than predicted by CTRW processes.

Furthermore, the number of visits to location *i* at step *N*, $m_i(N)$, increases according to

$$\frac{dm_i}{dN} = \Pi_i \left(1 - P_{new} \right),\tag{41}$$

where $\Pi_i = f_i = m_i / \sum_i m_i(N)$. As $S(t) \to \infty$, for $\gamma > 0$, $P_{new} \to 0$ and therefore $dm_i/dN = m_i / \sum_i m_i(N)$. Noting that the sum of visits over all locations is equivalent



Fig. 21: Schematic description of the Exploration and Preferential Return model. Starting at time t from the configuration shown in the left panel, indicating that the user visited previously S = 4 locations with frequency f_i that is proportional to the size of circles drawn at each location, at time $t + \Delta t$ (with Δt drawn from the $P(\Delta t)$ fat-tailed distribution) the user can either visit a new location at distance Δr from their present location, where Δr is chosen from the $P(\Delta r)$ fat-tailed distribution (exploration; upper panel), or return to a previously visited location with probability $P_{ret} = 1 - \rho S^{-\gamma}$, where the next location will be chosen with probability $\Pi_i = f_i$ (preferential return; lower panel). Figure from [81].

to the number of steps taken, $\sum_i m_i(N) = N$, the expression $m_i(N) = N/N_i$ is obtained, where N_i denotes the first jump to location *i*. It is clear that the likelihood of visiting a location increases with number of earlier visits, and as such, the rank k_i of location *i* follows the relation $k_i = S(n_i) \sim n_i^{1/(1+\gamma)}$. Combined with the fact that f_i is proportional to $m_i(N)$ this results in the relation $f_k \sim k^{-\zeta}$ with $\zeta = 1 + \gamma$, thereby accounting for the relation in Eq. (38).

The MSD is related to S via

$$\mathrm{MSD}^{\beta/2} \sim \log\left(\frac{1-S^{1-\zeta}}{\zeta-1}\right) + c,\tag{42}$$

where *c* is a constant. Given the measured range of the parameters, this leads to three asymptotic regimes: MSD ~ $(\log t)^{2/\beta}$ for $\zeta < 1$; MSD ~ $(\log \log t)^{2/\beta}$ for $\zeta = 1$; and MSD $\rightarrow X_{max}$ for $\zeta > 1$ where X_{max} denotes the saturation point of the MSD. Measured values suggest that $\zeta = 1.2 \pm 0.1$ indicating a saturation of movement at long times [81]. This regime corresponds to an individual's motion being dominated by their most visited location and is more in line with expected human behavior.

4.1.5. Recency

The concept of recency was introduced to solve discrepancies that emerges under the standard preferential return assumptions. Specifically, the fact that the earlier a location is discovered, the more visits it will receive, leading to a cumulative advantage precluding people from changing preference of location (unlike what is observed in data). Barbosa *et al.* [112] proposed a model in which the exploration phase in human movements also considers recently-visited locations and not solely frequently-visited locations. Two rank variables K_f and K_s are defined to characterize, respectively, the *frequency* and *recency* of a given location in the context of an individual's trajectories. More precisely, the rank variables can be described as:

- K_s is the recency-based rank. A location with $K_s = 1$ at time *t* means that it was the previous visited location. $K_s = 2$ means that such location was the second-most-recent location visited up to time t and so on.
- K_f is the frequency-based rank. A location with $K_f = 1$ at time *t* means that it was the most visited location up to that point in time. Similarly, a location with $K_f = 2$ is the second-most-visited location up to time *t*, and so on.

The model can be described as follows: first, a population of N agents is initialized and scattered randomly over a discrete lattice with $L \times L$ cells, each one representing a possible location. The initial position of each agent is accounted as its first visit. At each time step agents can visit a new location with probability similar to the preferential return model, Eq. (39).

The return phase happens with probability P_{ret} analogous to Eq. (39), with the caveat that return jumps selects location *i* from frequently visited ones with probability α and recently visited locations with probability $1 - \alpha$ thus:

$$P_{ret}^{s} = (1 - \alpha) P_{ret} \quad \Pi_{i} \propto k_{s}(i)^{-\nu},$$

$$P_{ret}^{f} = \alpha P_{ret} \qquad \Pi_{i} \propto k_{f}(i)^{-1-\gamma},$$
(43)

where $k_s(i)$ is the recency-based rank and $k_f(i)$ is the frequency-based rank of the location *i*. When $\alpha = 1$ the preferential return model is recovered. The empirical measurements for the two datasets considered had $\alpha = 0.1$, and $\nu = 1.6$. $\gamma = 0.6$ was kept the same as [81].

As seen from Fig. 22 the preferential return model does not capture the broader distribution of $p(K_f, K_s)$ for recently-visited locations, an effect captured by the recencybased refinements. The primary differences can be seen for the distribution of the recency rank K_s seen in log-linear scale.

4.1.6. Social-based models

It is natural to assume that two individuals who have a social interaction, such as friends, family or colleagues, do not always move independently [113, 114, 115]. Occasionally, they will share full trips, destinations or origins. The trips can be also synchronized if the objective is to meet somewhere or go back home after a meeting. Furthermore and closing the loop, the social network of an individual typically reflects the geography of their life with tighter connections with people spatially closer or at least in clusters related to the places in which the person has previously resided. These correlations have been observed in several publications. For example, a relation between distance and "online friendships" was described in 2005 by Liben-Nowell *et al.* [116] and was later confirmed using surveys [117, 118], social networks [119, 120] and



Fig. 22: Comparison between the Preferential Return (EPR) model and the recency-based (RM) model. (a) The analysis of the return ranks generated by the EPR model shows that it reproduces a pattern similar to the one observed from the empirical analysis. (b) Probability of return to recently-visited locations (i.e.,low K_s). (c) Distribution of the frequency ranks, the preferential return mechanisms (labelled EPR) exhibits a power-law distribution. The activation of the recency mechanism does not affect the frequency rank distribution. (d) K_s distribution, the EPR mechanism does not capture the power-law behavior observed on the empirical data. Figure from [112].

mobile phone records [121, 122, 123]. Indeed this feature formed the basis of a generative model describing the behavior of population level aggregate economic indicators across urban systems [124]. Possible methods for exploiting this intuitive observation towards improving forecasting of individual movement has been explored in [125]. For example, nonlinear time series prediction methods based on the delay embedding theorem by Takens [126] can be used to forecast an individual's future mobility given a detailed history of past movements and the assumption of a certain degree of determinism in mobility patterns. Furthermore, improvements in prediction accuracy by about one or two orders of magnitude has been observed when including the time series of past movements of the social network (individual's acquaintances)

Conversely, online [127, 128, 129] social links can be inferred from co-occurrences of individuals in space and time. In particular, the probability that two users have a friendship link on the Flickr social network grows significantly with the number of distinct geographical locations that they both visited within a given time threshold, where the spatial and temporal information are extracted from the geo-tagged photos they published. The probability of being friends is higher if the size of the regions and the temporal range between the two observations decrease. This result can be explained by

simple mobility models exploiting the fact that friends are more likely to spend time together in the same place, often live close to each other and that the jump-size distribution decays as a power law. Similarly, the location of a person may be predicted by those of their near contacts [130]. Two individuals with similar mobility patterns are generally in close proximity in the who-calls-whom social network of mobile phone users [131]. Indeed, strong correlations exist between various classical topological measures of the proximity of two mobile phone users in the social network, such as Adamic-Adar, Jaccard and Katz, and various measures of spatio-temporal proximity, such as co-location rates and spatial cosine similarity. Combining co-location information with information on the relative positions of users in the social network it is possible to predict the formation of new social ties with higher precision than using only information derived from the proximity in the social network.

The idea of interconnecting mobility and social interactions has been considered in different theoretical contexts. Detailed models have been proposed in the area of transportation to take into account the relation between social network and transport demand. This includes microsimulation of transport systems [113, 114, 115] in which agents may have communication between them and have common objectives [132]. Social groups and their sizes can impact transport demand [133], daily schedules, social relations and face-to-face interactions [134, 135, 136, 137, 138]. A simpler framework has been introduced from a Physics perspective, as for example formulated by [139]. The system is composed of N agents within a radius r moving in a 2D square of lateral size L and periodic boundary conditions. The starting position of the agents and their directions of movement are randomly selected. All the agents have the same initial speed v_0 and they travel in straight lines until they "crash". Every crash produces a new social tie between the pair of agents involved. After every crash, the velocities of the two agents are updated randomly selecting new directions of movement and increasing their speeds according to the expression:

$$|\vec{v}_i(t)| = v_o + c \, k_i(t), \tag{44}$$

where $\vec{v}_i(t)$ is the velocity of agent *i* at time *t* immediately after the crash, *c* is a constant and $k_i(t)$ is the number of connections of *i* in the social network. The number of agents *N* is constant, but after a certain period of time old agents are removed and substituted with new agents with speed v_o and no social links, allowing the system to reach a stationary state. The characteristics of the emerging social network are analyzed. The degree distribution depends on the constant *c* and on the lifetime of the agents in the system. For small *c*, the distribution is well approximated by a Poissonian distribution, but deviates from this shape with increasing *c* and average degree $\langle k \rangle$. Beyond the distribution, the model can reproduce other properties of real social networks such as the degree-degree correlations, the size of the large connected cluster and the abundance of cliques.

More realistic mobility models in the context of generated social networks were explored in [140, 141]. In particular the former proposed a model inspired by the methods described in Sec. 4.1.4 with important variations in the main ingredients (See Fig. 23). The initial conditions were set such that the agents are placed according to measured population density in the area considered. Then at every step, each agent decides to



Fig. 23: Sketch showing the main ingredients of Grabowicz's model. The agent's update of position and network is marked in red, while its contacts are in blue. The model has two main steps: one in which the mobility is determined in terms of either visiting a friend with probability p_v or a Lévy-like jump otherwise. After this, a new social link may be established with probability p in the neighborhood of the new position or at random with p_c . Figure from [140].

visit a social contact, with probability p_v or, otherwise moves according to a Lévy-like flight with probability $1 - p_v$, with the destination chosen in proportion to the population density in that area. This precludes agents from moving to unphysical locations such as water-bodies, geographic barriers and the like. After movement, the agent generates a new directed social link with probability p in the neighborhood of her present position and with probability p_c with a random agent. The parameter p_c represents social relations that emerge online, inspired by the observations made by [116]. Note that the jump distribution can be calibrated from measurements made in [81], and the tie formation parameter p can be sampled at different scales from measurements made in [128]. This leaves only two free parameters in the model: the probability of visiting friends p_v and that of creating new links regardless of the distance p_c . These parameters were adjusted to reproduce an error function containing topological and geographical properties of a set of online social networks such as Twitter, Gowalla and Brightkite. With these parameters, the model reproduces the degree distributions found in [139] as well as the spatial dependence of link distribution, the probability of reciprocal ties, the overlap of the social environment, the density of triangles and the disparity of the triangles in terms of distances of their vertices. The model is also amenable to a mean-field analytical treatment that demonstrates the necessity of accounting for social effects on mobility (visiting friends for example) to obtain realistic reproductions of the behavior seen in social networks.

The variant proposed by [141] instead focuses on behavior seen at shorter timescales such as intra-day mobility, for which period the social network can be approximated as static. Like the preferential return model, at each step an agent decides to return to a previously visited location with probability $1 - \rho S^{\gamma}$ or explore a new one with ρS^{γ} , but there is an additional "social pressure" component. This occurs with probability α where one of the agent's contacts are selected at random with probability proportional to the co-similarity in the location visiting profiles. Consequently, the new location is chosen from the list of the contact's previously visited locations. In the absence of social pressure, (probability $1 - \alpha$) the behavior is the same as Sec. 4.1.4. The introduction of the social pressure component does a better job at reproducing the re-visitation profiles measured in CDR data than models without this component.

4.2. Population-Level

Mobility information gathered at the individual level can be aggregated to study the flows of individuals traveling from one region to another at different spatio-temporal scales. These flows can be organized in the framework of Origin-Destination (OD) matrices (see Sec. 3.1.5). Such a format, with all possible combinations of origins and destinations for trips, is easily transformed into a directed weighted network in which nodes denote locations (for example counties or municipalities) and link weights correspond to the flow of travelers between the two locations. As discussed earlier in the review, OD matrices can be empirically estimated from transportation surveys, traffic counts or individuals' geolocated ICT data. An OD matrix, or its corresponding network, provides useful information on the travel demand between the origin and destination areas, representing a valuable asset widely studied and used in Geography, Transportation research and Urban Planning. Therefore, being able to obtain accurate estimation of OD matrices is crucial for both modeling and applications, and this problem has attracted the interest of researchers and decision makers for decades.

Note that individual mobility patterns are straightforwardly aggregated into flows, however the inverse problem, i.e the disaggregation of flows, is typically not possible. Instead, one has to resort to determine dependences between mobility flows and a limited set of "static" attributes of the locations that would allow predictions on how changes in these attributes can potentially influence future travel demand. To this end, various spatial interaction models have been proposed to predict flows of individuals based on a small number of key local attributes. Considering a region of interest divided into *n* locations, the purpose of these models is to estimate the number of trips T_{ii} from location *i* to location *j* from the socio-economic characteristics of the populations of *i* and *j*, and their spatial distribution. Models of spatial flows have been traditionally developed starting from the principle of entropy maximization subjected to various constraints. In the strongest version, the constraints are the number of people leaving and entering each location, but in softer ones there can be other proxy variables to represent the demand and attraction of the trips' origins and destinations such as population levels, the finite amount of resources for travels, utility functions to describe individual choices over competing alternatives, etc [142, 143, 144, 145, 146].

In the simplest version, the objective is to infer flows from the product of two types of variables: one type that depends on an attribute of each single location (e.g. the population), and the other type that depends on a quantity relating a pair of locations (e.g. the distance or travel time). The differences between the various models consist of the choice of variables considered, and the specific functional forms in which these variables enter. Over the years, two main schools of thought have emerged. The



Fig. 24: Differences between distance-based and intervening opportunity models. (a) The radiation model uses distance as a search criterion. (b) The cost-based radiation model uses network travel cost as a search criterion, which usually has a heterogeneous distribution. (c) The flow T_{ij} through edge (i, j) is the sum of contributions from all those mobility fluxes ϕ_{ab} whose minimal cost paths ω_{ab} contain (i, j). Figure from [147].

first one assumes that the number of trips between two locations is a decreasing function of their distance, giving rise to the so-called gravity models [148, 6]; the second variant postulates that the number of intervening opportunities, defined as the number of potential destinations between two locations, determines the mobility flow between them, and models that share this assumption are called Intervening Opportunities models [5]. An illustrative example that highlights the fundamental differences between distance and intervening opportunities is shown in Fig. 24. In addition to providing the mathematical framework to model human mobility flows [39, 149, 150], these models have found successful applications in estimating other spatial flows, including cargo shipping volume [151] and social interactions from inter-city phone calls [122, 152].

4.2.1. Gravity models

Preceded conceptually by the work of H.C. Carey in 1858 about land use [148] and the retailing models of W. J. Reilly in 1931 [153], George K. Zipf proposed in 1946 an equation to calculate mobility flows inspired by Newton's law of gravitation $[6]^{12}$. In his work, Zipf highlights the importance of the distance for human migration patterns

 $^{^{12}}$ Although the model is not stated as a *gravity* model, Zipf draws a parallel between his model and a two dimensional "gravitation" equation.

where the magnitude T_{ij} of a migratory flow between two communities *i* and *j* can be approximated by

$$T_{ij} \propto \frac{P_i P_j}{r_{ij}},\tag{45}$$

where P_i and P_j are the respective populations and r_{ij} the distance between *i* and *j*.

The basic assumptions of this model are that the number of trips leaving *i* is proportional to its population, the attractivity of *j* is also proportional to P_j , and finally, that there is a cost effect in terms of distance traveled. These ideas can be generalized assuming a relation of the type:

$$T_{ij} = Km_i m_j f(r_{ij}), (46)$$

where *K* is a constant, the masses m_i and m_j relate to the number of trips leaving *i* or the ones attracted by *j*, and $f(r_{ij})$, called a "friction factor" or "deterrence function", is a decreasing function of distance. As in the original version of the model, the masses usually are functions of population (not necessarily linear); common functional forms used in the literature are $m_i = P_i^{\alpha}$ or $m_j = P_j^{\gamma}$ [89]. Unlike the original version, however, other variables, such as gdp-per-capita, may factor in the definition of the masses [154, 155]. The distance function $f(r_{ij})$ is commonly modeled with a powerlaw or an exponential form, although more complicated functions can be considered, such as a combination of the two,

$$f(r_{ij}) = \alpha r_{ij}^{-\beta} e^{-\gamma r_{ij}}.$$
(47)

Indeed, the optimal form of the function may change according to the purpose of the trips, the spatial granularity of the locations, and the transportation mode [39]. For example, in the case of commuting flows, the value of the exponent is highly correlated with the scale [156, 157] as can be seen in Fig. 25. In other applications, the distance may not be the appropriate variable to quantify the cost of travel between two locations, and other variables such as travel time or economic (i.e. monetary) cost of a trip may offer better characterizations.

The ability to estimate, even if as a crude approximation, trip-flows, and consequently, traffic demand between two different locations as a function of their local properties, has made the gravity model widely popular in transport planning [158, 89], in studies of geography [159] and spatial economics [160, 161]. It has been also used in situations where the knowledge of mobility flows is essential but the empirical data is not available as in the case of the characterization and modeling of epidemic spreading patterns [162, 163, 164, 165, 155]. Despite its widespread use and historical popularity, one must keep in mind that the gravity model is a gross simplification of travel flows, and in many cases, falls far short of capturing actual empirical observations [42, 166, 157]. Furthermore, the model requires the estimation of a number of free parameters, making it rather sensitive to fluctuations or incompleteness in data [150, 42].

Constrained gravity models. Some of the limitations apparent in the gravity model, can be resolved via certain constrained versions. For example, one may hold the



Fig. 25: The distance exponent β (Eq. (47)) as a function of average unit surface area. (a) Normalized gravity laws with an exponential distance decay function. (b) Normalized gravity laws with a power distance decay function. (c) Schneider's intervening opportunities law. (d) Extended radiation law. Figure from [157].

number of people originating from a location i to be a known quantity O_i , and the gravity model is then used to estimate the destination, constituting a so-called *singly-constrained* gravity model of the form,

$$T_{ij} = K_i O_i m_j f(r_{ij}) = O_i \frac{m_j f(r_{ij})}{\sum_k m_k f(r_{ik})}.$$
(48)

As can be seen, in this formulation, the proportionality constants K_i depend on the location of the origin and its distance to the other places considered. One can go further and fix now also the total number of travelers *arriving* at a destination j as $D_j = \sum_i T_{ij}$, leading to a *doubly-constrained gravity model*. For each Origin-Destination pair, the flow is calculated as

$$T_{ij} = K_i O_i L_j D_j f(r_{ij}), \tag{49}$$

where there are now two flavors of proportionality constants,

$$K_{i} = \left[\sum_{j} L_{j} D_{j} f(r_{ij})\right]^{-1}, \qquad L_{j} = \left[\sum_{i} K_{i} O_{i} f(r_{ij})\right]^{-1}, \tag{50}$$

usually calibrated with an Iterative Proportional Fitting procedure [167].

The use of singly-, doubly- or non-constrained models depends on the amount of information available and on the pursued objective. If the aim is to approximate the mobility flows and transport demand from indirect socio-economic variables of different geographical areas, then one employs non-constrained models. On the other hand,

if out-going or in-going flows are empirically measured quantities, and the objective is to estimate the elements of the OD matrix T_{ij} , then one employs constrained models.

Maximum entropy derivation of gravity models. While the gravity model may seem rather *ad hoc* in terms of the form of Eq. (46), an argument in favor of this functional form was provided by Alan Wilson [168] in the framework of classical transportation theory combined with entropy maximization. Essentially, the argument posits that in the absence of detailed information, out of all possible variants of OD matrices, the most probable ones are those that can be obtained with the highest number of trip configurations under opportune global and local constraint satisfaction. The objective is thus to find the set of flows $\{T_{ij}\}$ that maximizes the number of possible configurations of trips associated with it, respecting the possible constraints.

Let $\Omega({T_{ij}})$ be the number of distinct arrangements of individuals (configurations) that give rise to the set of flows ${T_{ij}}$, corresponding to the number of ways in which T_{11} individuals can be selected from the total number of travelers $T = \sum_{ij} T_{ij}$; T_{12} from the remaining $T - T_{11}$ and so on and so forth. Then we have that

$$\Omega(\{T_{ij}\}) = \frac{T!}{T_{11}! (T - T_{11})!} \frac{(T - T_{11})!}{T_{12}! (T - T_{11} - T_{12})!} \dots = \frac{T!}{\prod_{ij} T_{ij}!}.$$
 (51)

One then determines the maximum of Ω using Lagrange multipliers, subject to the constraints:

$$\sum_{j} T_{ij} = O_i$$

$$\sum_{i} T_{ij} = D_j$$

$$\sum_{ij} T_{ij} C_{ij} = C,$$
(52)

where C_{ij} is the cost of travel from location *i* to location *j*. The first two constraints ensure that trips originating and terminating in every location are equal to their observed values, whereas the third constraint fixes a total cost for all trips, *C*. In the limit of a large number of trips, *T*, the configuration that maximizes Ω is by far the most probable, and hence dominates over all other configurations. The resulting doublyconstrained gravity model takes the form

$$T_{ij} = K_i O_i L_j D_j e^{-\beta C_{ij}}, (53)$$

where the values of K_i and L_j are set in order to fulfill the first two constraints in Eq. (52). The Lagrange multiplier β appearing in Eq. (53) controls the effect of cost on flows, and its value is empirically calibrated. It is worth noting that one can introduce a power law distance decay $f(r_{ij}) = r_{ij}^{-\beta}$ by considering a cost function of the form $C_{ij} \propto ln(r_{ij})$. These arguments have been further developed in a series of references [145, 146] that also includes the distinguishable nature of the travelers and therefore necessarily modifying the statistics.

Using gravity models to estimate mobility flows. In order to calibrate and apply gravity models to estimate mobility flows within a given region the following procedure is usually adopted.

- 1. First, depending on the objectives, a flavor of gravity model is selected from either the unconstrained version, Eq. (46), or one of the constrained versions, i.e Eq. (48), or Eq. (49).
- 2. Second, the set of independent variables, population size, gdp or gdp-per-capita, distance, etc, as well as their relation with the local outflow, the attractiveness and the travel cost must be established. Although the choice of functions are somewhat arbitrary, common forms are power laws for the origin and destination populations, and exponential or power laws for the distance dependence. These particular functional forms are chosen to enable a fast and accurate calibration of the model, as it ensures that the logarithm of the flow depends linearly on some functions of the populations and the distance, allowing researchers to apply linear regression methods to determine the parameter values.
- 3. Third, the parameter values are selected in order to maximize the fit between the flows estimated by the gravity model and the empirical flows observed in the region of interest. The best fit values of the parameters are determined using an optimization algorithm that either minimizes some error function between the model's estimates and the observed data [169], or maximizes the likelihood function of the observed data given the model's parameters [170]. Generalized Linear Models (GLM) [171] are a generalization of linear regression that are usually applied to fit the parameters of globally and singly constrained gravity models. GLM methods are more adapt than Ordinary Linear Regression (OLM) as it allows for the use of a wider and more realistic range of probabilistic models to capture fluctuations in flow estimates.

Both the model training and parameter calibration steps can be employed either on the entire dataset or on subsamples, particularly if the aim is to validate the performance of the model in relation to the remaining set.

4.2.2. Intervening opportunities models

Along with the gravity model, one of the first attempts to provide a conceptual and formal model of human mobility was introduced in 1940 by Stouffer [5]. Contradicting a long tradition in the social sciences – that distance is the central factor in determining mobility – Stouffer proposed a conceptual framework in which distance and mobility are not directly related. Instead, Stouffer suggested that what plays the key role in determining migration is the number of *intervening opportunities* or the cumulative number of *opportunities* between the origin and the destination. In the paper, Stouffer does not provide a precise definition for "opportunities", leaving it to be defined depending on the social phenomena under investigation.

The basic idea behind the intervening opportunities (IO) model is that the decision to make a trip is not explicitly related to the distance between origin and destination, but to the relative accessibility of opportunities for satisfying the objective of the trip. An opportunity is a destination that a trip-maker considers as a possible termination point for their journey, and an intervening opportunity is a location that is closer to the trip maker than the final destination but is rejected by the trip maker. The law of intervening opportunities as proposed by Stouffer in 1940 states "The number of persons going a given distance is directly proportional to the number of opportunities at that distance and inversely proportional to the number of intervening opportunities". Stouffer used this model to estimate migration patterns between services and residences [5]. The traditional form of the intervening opportunities model is usually given by Schneider's version of Stouffer's original model [172]. Schneider's hypothesis states that "The probability that a trip ends in a given location is equal to the probability that this location offers an acceptable opportunity times the probability that an acceptable opportunity in another location closer to the origin of the trips has not been chosen". More formally, the flow T_{ij} from the origin location *i* to the *j*-th location ranked by travel cost from *i* is given by:

$$T_{ij} = O_i \frac{e^{-LV_{ij-1}} - e^{-LV_{ij}}}{1 - e^{-LV_{in}}}.$$
(54)

Here, O_i is the total number of trips originating from *i* and the second term represents the probability that one of these trips ends in location *j*. The denominator is a normalization factor ensuring that the probabilities sum to 1 (i.e. $\sum_j T_{ij} = O_i$). This probability depends on V_{ij} , the cumulative number of opportunities up to the *j*-th location ranked by travel cost from the origin location *i* (and *n* is the total number of locations in the region considered). Usually, the population, m_j , or the total number of arrivals, $D_j = \sum_i T_{ij}$, are assumed to be proportional to the number of "real opportunities" in location *j*. The value of the parameter *L* can be seen as the constant probability of accepting an opportunity destination. As in the case of the gravity model, the value of *L* is adjusted in order to obtain simulated flows as close as possible to observed data.

Several studies and variants of intervening opportunities models have been developed on this concept [173, 174, 175, 159, 176, 177]. The gravity and the intervening opportunities models have been compared several times during the second half of the twentieth century, showing that generally both models perform comparably [178, 179, 180, 181]. In fact one can cast the intervening opportunities model as a special variant of the gravity model with the friction factor $f(r_{ij})$ replaced by a function of the number of opportunities between the two locations, $f(V_{ij}) = e^{-LV_{ij-1}}$ [182, 181]. Consequently, the intervening opportunities model can also be derived from entropy maximization methods as discussed earlier in the context of the constrained gravity model. Indeed, some authors have proposed hybrid gravity-opportunities models taking into account both the effect of distance and the number of opportunities between locations [183, 184].

However, unlike the gravity approach and despite relative good performances, the intervening opportunities model has suffered a growing loss of popularity. This is mainly due to the lack of research effort into the implementation and calibration of the model, attributable to the fact that the theoretical and practical advantages of opportunities models over the gravity ones are not overwhelming [89].

4.2.3. The radiation model

The concept of intervening opportunities and Schneider's hypothesis has recently triggered a renewed interest thanks to the recently proposed radiation model [42]. The radiation model assumes that the choice of a traveler's destination consists of two steps. First, each opportunity in every location is assigned a fitness represented by a number,



Fig. 26: Schematic of the the radiation model. (a) Commuting flows in two pairs of counties, one in Utah (UT) and the other in Alabama (AL), with similar origin (m, blue) and destination (n, green) populations and comparable distance r between them (see bottom left table). Number of travelers in the data, as predicted by the gravity model and finally for the radiation model shown as upper right inset. The definition of the radiation model: (b) An individual (e.g. living in Saratoga County, NY) applies for jobs in all counties and collects potential employment offers. The number of job opportunities in each county is chosen to be proportional to the resident population. Each offers attractiveness (benefit) is represented by a random variable with distribution p(z), the numbers placed in each county representing the best offer among the jobs in that area. Each county is marked in green (red) if its best offer is better (lower) than the best offer in the home county. (c) An individual accepts the closest job that offers better benefits than his home county. Figure from [42].

z, chosen from some distribution p(z), whose value represents the quality of the opportunity for the traveler. Second, the traveler ranks all opportunities according to their distances from the origin location and chooses the closest opportunity with a fitness higher than the traveler's fitness threshold, which is another random number extracted from the fitness distribution p(z) (see Fig. 26). As a result, the average number of travelers from location *i* to location *j*, T_{ij} , takes the form:

$$T_{ij} = O_i \frac{1}{1 - \frac{m_i}{M}} \frac{m_i m_j}{(m_i + s_{ij})(m_i + m_j + s_{ij})}.$$
(55)

Here again, the destination of the O_i trips originating in *i* is sampled from a distribution of probabilities that a trip originating in *i* ends in location *j*. This probability depends on the number of opportunities at the origin m_i , at the destination m_j and the number of opportunities s_{ij} in a circle of radius r_{ij} centered in *i* (excluding the source and des-



Fig. 27: The closest opportunity model (a) Sketch with the main ingredients of the model: the residence place of the agents and the opportunities with their correspondent quality until the last one at distance r is selected. In (b), (c) and (d) rescaled distributions of commuting distances. In blue, the empirical data for several years in the three countries, in dark blue the averaged empirical distributions, and superimposed in red the model fits using a single parameter. Figure from [187].

tination). This conditional probability needs to be normalized so that the probability that a trip originating in the region of interest ends in this region is equal to 1. In case of a finite system it is possible to show that this is equal to $1 - \frac{m_i}{M}$ where $M = \sum_i m_i$ is the total number of opportunities [166]. In the original version of the radiation model, the number of opportunities is approximated by the population, but the total inflows D_i to each destination can also be used [156, 166, 157]. The great advantage of the radiation model compared with other spatial interaction models is the absence of a parameter to calibrate with observed data. In particular, the flows defined in Eq. (55) are independent of the fitness distribution p(z). However, this advantage represents also a limitation since the model does not seem to be very robust to changes in the spatial scale [156, 166, 43, 157]. To overcome this drawback, a radiation model with opportunities' selection [185] and an extended radiation model [186] have been proposed. In this extended version, the conditional probability to perform a trip between two locations according to the spatial distribution of opportunities is derived under the survival analysis framework introducing a parameter α to control the effect of the number of opportunities between the source and the destination on the location choice. The addition of this scaling parameter seems to greatly improve the performance of the model, and similar to the gravity model, its value can be inferred from the scale of the study region according to the homogeneity of the opportunities' spatial distribution [186, 157].

An interpretation of the radiation model in the context of job search and, consequently, for the formation of commuting flow networks has been given in [187]. The basic components are individuals residing within a demarcated geographical area, who are seeking employment. Job locations are uniformly distributed in space and characterized by a fitness parameter z, which itself is drawn from a distribution that includes aspects such as wage and worker-convenience. Individuals have a certain tolerance level, z^* , and will search in a progressively increasing radius from their residence, with the search terminating at the first instance of the condition $z > z^*$. Using extreme value statistics, it is possible to determine the distance distribution, P(r), between residence and job places, which is independent of the distribution of z (for non-pathological cases), and was calculated to be of the form

$$P(r) = \frac{2\rho\pi r}{(1+\rho\pi r^2)^2},$$
(56)

where ρ is the density of jobs. The model satisfactorily reproduces some of the empirical features of the travel distance distributions in commuting data as can be seen in Fig. 27.

4.2.4. Comparison between models

The models described so far provide theoretical expectations for the OD matrices in terms of the flow values T_{ij} between geographical regions i and j. Before employing these for practical applications, it is essential to validate the expected (calculated) flows against empirical evidence, that may be limited in the sense of being restricted in space compared to regions of interest, or indeed to shorter time windows than the temporal period of interest. By evaluating the performance of each model, one selects the one that most closely matches the empirical data (if available). The accuracy, in general, will depend on the spatio-temporal scale as well as on available (meta) information and the extent of missing data. It is crucial that comparison between models is done on an equal footing, i.e using the same extent of available data and in equal spatiotemporal resolutions. As discussed, the model output is the value of T_{ii} , subject to constraints, which range from Eq. (46), where only the total sum of the flows is imposed via the parameter K, the singly constrained framework models based on intervening opportunities or the closest opportunity case, which is production constrained, in the sense that outflows O_i are fixed *a priori* and must be preserved for every location, and finally to the doubly-constrained models, where both the outflows O_i and the inflows D_i in every region *i* are preserved.

In general, all of the described models share some common assumptions:

- 1. The trip distribution P_{ij} that generate the flows T_{ij} is independent of the trip production O_i .
- 2. In both the unconstrained and singly-constrained models, choice of travel destinations are statistically independent (i.e there are no memory effects).
- 3. Flows are estimated as a product of variables related to opportunities and distance (i.e. variables are "separable").

Under these assumptions, it is possible to draw statistical laws that govern the distribution of travels P_{ij} , and from thereon, build models with varying levels of constraints.



Fig. 28: Performance comparison of the different models described in the text using the CPC metric defined in Eq. (57) applied to census commuting data from England and Wales (E&A), France (FRA), Italy (ITA), Mexico (MEX), Spain (SPA), USA. Additional census data at the city-scale was gathered from and London (LON) and Paris (PAR). The different symbols and colors represent the different flavors of the model. The short-forms exp (exponential) and pow (power-law) refer to the functional forms of distance dependence. Figure from [157].

This is important to adapt the models to the available information and to fairly compare between them.

One such comparison was carried out in [157], where commuting data was obtained from the census offices of England and Wales (E&A), France (FRA), Italy (ITA), Mexico (MEX), Spain (SPA), USA and then in shorter spatial scales, from the cities of London (LON) and Paris (PAR). Several variants of the gravity, intervening opportunities and radiation models were considered with multiple levels of constraints. The predicted flows T_{ij} were compared with the empirical data using two related metrics: The *common part of commuters (CPC)* for all location pairs *i*, *j* with positive flows both in the empirical data set and in the model prediction, defined as

$$CPC = \frac{\sum_{i,j} \min(T_{ij}^m, T_{ij}^e)}{T} = 1 - \frac{1}{2} \frac{\sum_{i,j} |T_{ij}^m - T_{ij}^e|}{T}.$$
(57)

Here $T = \sum_{i,j} T_{ij}^e$ is the total number of commuters, T_{ij}^m the model prediction for the flow, and T_{ij}^e the empirical value. The *CPC* is one, if the agreement is perfect and zero if there is no overlap between data and model. The ability of the models to recover the topological structure of the original network was assessed through the second metric, termed the *common part of links* (CPL) and defined as

$$CPL = \frac{2\sum_{i,j} 1_{T_{i,j}^{m} > 0} 1_{T_{i,j}^{e}}}{\sum_{i,j} 1_{T_{i,j}^{m} > 0} + \sum_{i,j} 1_{T_{i,j}^{e} > 0}},$$
(58)

where $1_{T_{i,j}>0}$ is the Heaviside function. The CPL measures the proportion of links in common between the simulated and the observed networks, it is null if there is no link in common and one if both networks are topologically equivalent. The results in terms of the *CPC* are shown in Fig. 28. For this choice of datasets, the gravity model is seen to moderately outperform the other models. One must note of course, that this might change across different datasets.

4.3. Intermodality

A complete description of mobility must take into account the mutlimodal structure of transport and the transitions between the different modes as alluded to in Sec. 3.3. A good framework for carrying out such an analysis has been developed in recent years in the context of multilayer or multiplex networks [188, 189]. These are networks in which the nodes can be present in one or multiple layers, and each layer by itself contains a set of links or node-node interactions; if a large fraction of nodes in the network are present in all apparent layers, then it is termed multiplex. On the other hand if one finds different flavors of nodes restricted within their own putative layers, then the network is dubbed a multilayered one. Indeed, each layer of the network constitutes a separate network in its own right depending on the context of its interactions. For example, in social networks, layers may correspond to different groupings such as coworkers, family, different cohorts of friends and so on, all of which have withinlayer interactions. Information diffusion in the network, however, occurs through each layer and across the full multilayer structure. Translating this to the case of mobility and transportation networks, layers may correspond to different transportation modes (road, subway, airline), while connections between layers constitute the interchanges between these modes. Within this context, the standard way to construct multilayer networks is to associate locations to nodes and flows, and frequency of travel (or simply unweighted simple connections) to links between different transportation modes (see, for example Fig. 29).

Traditionally, single-mode transport networks have been studied using mono-layers. Examples include metro networks in Beijing [191], Boston [192], London [193, 194], Montreal [195], Paris [193] and Seoul [196]; bus networks in China [197, 198] and Poland [199]; train networks in Boston, Vienna [200] and in India [201]; and combined public transportation networks in 14 cities around the world [202]. In most of these cases, the transport network was generated using different perspectives. One such perspective is the *L*-space representation, where nodes correspond to stations in the transportation map, and are linked together if they are consecutive stops in a transportation line. Similarly, the network can be built in the *P*-space framework, if nodes are stations linked together if they corresponds to a one-mode projection of a bipartite network [69] consisting of stations and lines. (For a graphic explanation of this notation see [202].) In addition to geographical aspects, the link weights can also



Fig. 29: An example of a multilayered network approach to mobility. Public transport networks in the London metro area, separated into multiple layers consisting of the bus, subway and rail networks. In this particular instance, one can see that the London bus network is the most "used" layer. Figure from [190].

incorporate information on the number of passengers in the same route, among other features.

The fact that a single transport network can be represented in multiple ways, naturally paved the way for the use of multilayer structures [203, 204]. In this case, each layer contains the expression of the network in a different space, and the multilayer allows for a deeper study of the network accessibility for travelers. As mentioned before, a multilayer network can be also employed to condense the transport information coming from different modes. An example for this can be seen in Fig. 29 which shows elements of the transportation network in London, combining the bus, train and metro networks, whereas additional elements including air and ferry can also be incorporated [190]. The more intricate topology of multilayer networks necessarily affects the spreading processes taking place on the system (diffusion and navigation) [205, 206, 189] that are modeled using the methods discussed in Sec. 4.1 and 4.2. This leads to new features such as congestion [207], change in the navigability of the network subject to disruptions [208, 209], produces new dynamic regimes that are absent in monolayers [210] and abrupt reactions to minimal topological changes [211].

A particular type of multilayer representation of transport networks is worth a separate discussion. In this case, nodes still correspond to locations, and links are assigned according to one of the space-frameworks (L or P), but the weight of the links now account for the temporal duration of trips between the nodes. This network configuration, which some authors refer to as a PT-space, appear in each of the layers, where each layer usually corresponds to a single transport mode. With such a representation, the optimal time for a traveler traversing between a given OD pair, can be calculated using optimal path algorithms across the multilayer structure, containing the full transport network and taking into account intermodality. These types of multilayers have been studied, for example, in British [102] and French [212] cities. In the British case, one detects a shift in preference for different transportation modes as well as the overlap between temporally and spatially optimal paths as a function of distance. In the French case, a few particular (temporally optimal) connections were singled out, so-called *efficient connections*, and their occurrence (and hence influence) in the general mobility modes were studied across a number of cities. Using a similar framework, with two layers corresponding to road and metro networks in the cities of London and New York, congestion effects as a function of varying the speed of metro lines was studied [213]. Finally, it is worth mentioning the point raised in [214], where the authors discuss the differences between building the network by considering a layer as a single transport mode or as a single line. The latter description provide a deeper view of the inefficiencies due to line transfer of the passengers, while the former is well-suited to study topological aspects and geographical coverage.

5. Selected Domains of Application

Here we discuss some selected applications of the frameworks, concepts, models and datasets introduced thus far. We organize this section by scale, ranging from single scale (mostly dealing with transportation modes), multi-scale applications with a focus on movement in cities and epidemic spreading, and finally end with some new developments related to virtual scales, i.e mobility patterns seen in online activity.

5.1. Single-Scale

5.1.1. Pedestrian movement

Large concentrations of people such as those occurring during festivals, sport events or religious ceremonies can present a challenge in terms of service and transport demand as well as public safety. Avalanches in stadiums, processions and even subway stations have occurred in recent decades leading in high casualties [215]. In the face of this, strategies need to be devised for ensuring prompt evacuation in cases of emergency when considering the configuration of new buildings, public spaces and transport systems. Consequently, understanding the empirical patterns governing pedestrian movement and being able to build corresponding models, has the potential to benefit a wide range of disciplines including architecture, urban planning and public service stakeholders among others. Given the broad range of interest, a large amount of research has been devoted to this sphere, over the past few decades. Indeed, several reviews exist on this topic [215, 216, 217, 218, 219, 220], so instead of providing a detailed retrospect, we provide here an overview of the most recent developments.

Modeling frameworks on pedestrian movement can be broadly classified according to the approach used to consider individual pedestrians. For example, when the aim is crowd control, then usually the number of individuals considered is quite large, and the metrics of interest are crowd velocities or pressures. In such a case, one can define fields at every point in space and time to characterize the state of the system. These fields usually include the density of pedestrians $\rho(\vec{x}, t)$, the local velocity $\vec{v}(\vec{x}, t)$ or the flow across an exit, $J(\vec{x}, t)$. In analogy with fluid dynamics, one sees a continuity equation of the form,

$$\frac{\partial \rho(\vec{x}, t)}{\partial t} = -\nabla(\rho(\vec{x}, t) \, \vec{v}(\vec{x}, t)), \tag{59}$$

stemming from the conservation number of people in the crowd. The motion of pedestrians can be assumed to minimize the time spent in the system. This condition is included via the introduction of a field $\phi(\vec{x}, t)$ coupled with the density in such a way that the local velocity shows a relation

$$\vec{v}(\vec{x},t) = f(\rho) \frac{\nabla \phi}{\|\nabla \phi\|},\tag{60}$$

where the gradient of ϕ determines the direction of motion and $f(\rho)$ is a simple function of the density ensuring that the pedestrians speed decreases as the density increases. Possible choices are a linear relation, $f(\rho) = \rho - \rho_{max}$, keeping $\rho < \rho_{max}$ or a non linear one, $f(\rho) = (\rho - \rho_{max})^2$, among others [221, 222, 223]. The connection with ϕ is established through the function $f(\rho)$ thus,

$$\|\nabla\phi\| = \frac{1}{f(\rho)},\tag{61}$$

leading to the so-called *Hughes model*. In a scenario with individuals exiting a room, it produces two regimes in the pedestrian mobility depending on the global density, one with free flow and another with congestion. Furthermore, it turns out that shock-waves and moving congestion fronts emerge due to the narrowing of the crowd close to the door, leading to intermittent exit flow, avalanches and stop-and-go effects [222].

An alternative approach is to use agent based modeling where the state of every individual (agent) *i* is simulated in detail. This framework is especially applicable to simulations of heterogeneous populations in which the agents may show different features. The most popular model falling into this category is the so-called *social force model* proposed by Helbing and Molnár [225, 226]. The idea behind this model is to apply the analogues of Newton's laws of motion to each pedestrian *i*. If the agent's velocity is v_i , the location r_i at time *t*, then the acceleration can be expressed as

$$\frac{dv_i}{dt} = f_i^d + f_i^a + f_i^{rb} + \sum_{j \neq i} f_{ij}^r + \eta(r, t).$$
(62)

The first term on the right hand side accounts for the tendency of the individuals to walk at a certain desired speed v_i^0 . It is usually written as

$$f_i^d = \frac{v_i^0 - v_i}{\tau},\tag{63}$$

which ensures the recovery of the desired speed in a characteristic reaction time τ . The second term f_i^a is an attraction force depending on the agent's position introduced to guarantee that walkers are compelled to a certain target or direction. The third force, f_i^{rb} , is repulsive depending on the agent's location and takes into account the effects of the boundaries and other obstacles on the agent's trajectory. The next term represents



Fig. 30: Social force model simulation of a crowd trying to leave a room through a narrow door. (a) a representative configuration. (b), the sequence of leaving times of the agents as a function of v_0 . In (c) and (d), the total evacuation time and the average flow of people as a function of v_0 . Figure from [224].

a repulsive force felt by the presence of other agents *j* different from *i*. Finally, $\eta(r, t)$, is an uncorrelated noise term that introduces low levels of random fluctuations to avoid deadlocks.

The social force model reproduces several phenomena observed in empirical circumstances. For example, when two groups of pedestrians moving in opposite directions meet in a corridor, unidirectional stripes are formed, or when they meet in a door, the flow displays intermittence due to clogging [226] (Fig. 30). Variations of this model have been used to analyze escape patterns from a building in low visibility conditions [224, 215], to assess evacuation plans in skyscrapers [228, 229], ships [230] and aircraft [231]. In relation to crowd control, they have also been used to analyze how to mitigate avalanches in the Hajj religious gathering in Saudi Arabia [227, 232], in the Notting Hill Carnival in London [233] or, along with mobility models for other transport media, to study evacuation of cities and populated areas in case of natural disasters such as flooding [234, 235, 236]. Additionally, these models provide the basic tool to model scenarios such as the formation of mosh and circle pits as a mark of collective motion in heavy music concerts [237], as well as the risk of disease propagation in massive gatherings [238].

In the last decade, there has been a large volume of research related to the constituent terms of Eq. (62), including empirical calibration of the different coefficients as well as the introduction of a cognitive basis for the different forces [217, 232]. In



Fig. 31: Analysis of an avalanche event during the Hajj pilgrimage of 2006. (a) Representative trajectories of the laminar flow, the stop-and-go and the turbulent regimes for individual movements. (b) The velocity in the turbulent regime. (c) The "pressure" as a function of time. (d) Different distributions of speed increments in the two regimes. (e), Distribution of displacements between consecutive stops. (f) The structure function in the turbulent regime. Figure from [227].

high density regimes, such as those occurring in videos taken of the disaster of the Jamarat Bridge in the Hajj pilgrimage of 2006, the trajectories of single pedestrians become turbulent [227, 232] (Fig. 31). The original version of the social force model is unable to reproduce this turbulent regime and consequently modifications to the force terms in high density regimes, were introduced. One of these modifications is the centrifugal force model, so-called because of its similarity with the classical centrifugal force in rotating bodies, and involves a modification of the mutual repulsion term f_{ij}^r thus,

$$f_{ij}^{r} = -m_{i} K_{ij} \frac{V_{ij}^{2}}{\|\vec{r}_{ij}\|} \vec{e}_{ij}.$$
(64)

Here m_i is the mass of pedestrian *i*, K_{ij} is a coefficient enforcing the influence only of pedestrians in front of *i* on its movements and \vec{e}_{ij} is the unit vector pointing from *i* to

j [239, 240]. This modification has the effect of introducing both laminar as well as turbulent regimes, a feature missing in earlier versions of the social force model. Further refinements also included the interactions of individuals based on specific boundaries and shapes of obstacles [241].

A second modification to the social force model deals with the cognitive capacities and limitations of pedestrians and how they can affect the force terms of the model [242, 243]. Examples include analysis of the time scales regulating pedestrian interactions [244], the addition of a field to take into account the (partial) global perception of individuals and the environment under consideration [245, 246], or the role of leaders [247]. The capacity of the pedestrians to foresee the movements of others and the dangers of obstacles have been modeled within this framework in [242, 248]. The model has also been adapted to agents with an anisotropic perception of their environment [249] and its instabilities in a context of stop-and-go oscillations have been studied in [250, 251]. A systematic stability analysis of its numerical solutions has been provided in [252] together with a version of the model that notably increases its computational performance.

In addition to this, there exist a family of models that lie between the macroscopic and microscopic approaches, characterized by discretization of space into cells, and the specification of rules on how agents navigate between these cells. Such *cellular automata* models have the advantage of computational scaleability, as for example, in [253] where simulations of crowds of size 10⁵, were conducted with running time scaling linearly with the number of individuals. The price to pay for this increased computational performance is the loss of local details within each cell. These models have been used to study clogging in exits, and due to obstacles by adding a "friction term" between agents [231, 254], pedestrian flow through subsequent bottlenecks [255] and the formation of stripes in junctions with agents moving in different directions [256]. Some modifications to these models include, for example, behavioral factors of the agents such as path selection based on the time necessary to reach the destination [257], heterogeneous agents [258] and long-range spatial awareness [259].

While some of the models described thus far have been inspired by empirical data obtained from crowds in different contexts, challenges remain in actually monitoring crowds to get accurate and precise measurements on individual movement (see [219] for a recent review on methods used for this). One way to calibrate models is to take a controlled approach, i.e conduct experiments on a smaller scale, in which groups of people are directed to move under specific constraints. This controlled environment can provide insight into questions such as how pedestrians walk in social groups [263], the quantification of pressure and density in different types of bottlenecks and junctions [264], the perception of personal space [265], the clogging effects and instabilities in narrow areas [266, 267] and the asymmetric flow produced by stairs [268]. One factor that is common to such experiment-based research is the generation and analysis of "fundamental diagrams" [269] (Fig. 32), that represent the relationship between the average velocity v and the density ρ of pedestrians, as well the flux through a surface J (an exit) among other parameters. In the free flow regime, with no obstacles and low density, pedestrians tend to move at an optimal velocity. As the density increases, the velocity decreases until the crowd stops. Similarly, the flux through an exit also decreases with increasing pedestrian concentrations. The relations between these



Fig. 32: Fundamental diagram with the speed as a function of the density of pedestrians for several experiments in a closed loop circuit (ovoid-like). On the left, experiments in India with different loop lenghts, plot originally taken from [260].On the right, experiments in Germany with two set of people: students and soldiers, figure originally taken from [261]. The composite figure comes from [262].

quantities are typically non-linear and are of great relevance for the design of buildings and urban spaces. Due to this, a large effort has been invested in the analysis of these diagrams. The results suggest while qualitatively the functional forms of $v(\rho)$ and $J(\rho)$ have common features across different settings, quantitative differences emerge based on extraneous factors. Some of these are cultural perception of personal space (a comparison between India and Germany was performed in [260]), the presence of T-junctions [270], the individual's perception of open versus closed spaces [271] and the bidirectional flow of agents [272].

5.1.2. Air Transportation

On the opposite end of the spectrum from pedestrian mobility (which is necessarily short-range) is long-range transportation over thousands of kilometers, which is primarily represented by air transportation. Air transport is of paramount importance for modern global connectivity, playing a central role in the world economy and in the interchange of people, ideas and, unfortunately, also the propagation of diseases. While the study of such systems has a long tradition in the engineering community, primarily related to aeronautics and air traffic management [274, 275], recent years has provided further impetus to this line of research with the development of tools based on network science [69]. In this setting, initial studies were conducted from a static perspective, where airports are the nodes of the network, with a link between a pair of airports if a direct flight exists between them, discarding any directional information as well as temporal dynamics. The basic statistical features of such networks were analyzed, for instance, in [276, 277, 273] for the World Airport Network (WAN), in [278] for the Chinese network and in [279] for Brazil. Figure 33 shows the location of the high-degree nodes (maximum traffic) and those with the highest betweenness centrality (bottlenecks) in the WAN. Statistical distributions of the degree (number of destinations of the airports), the traffic (number of passengers per route or per airport) and betweenness were found to be typically heavy-tailed.



Fig. 33: (a) The relation between node degree (traffic) and betweenness centrality (measure of load on a node) in the World Airport Network (WAN). (b) The location of the 25 most connected cities. (c) The top 25 cities in terms of the load of traffic (betweenness centrality). Figure from [273].

Furthermore, it was found that the networks can be divided into modules with a certain level of self-contained traffic [273], although this division is not seasonably stable when the focus is set on smaller geographical scales such as the US network [280]. The average number of passengers per route w_{ij} was determined to be a non-linear function of the traffic in airports of the form

$$w_{ij} \sim \left(k_i \, k_j\right)^{\theta},\tag{65}$$

where k_i is the traffic at the origin, k_j at the destination and $\theta \approx 1/2$ [277]. An explanation of these measured topological properties has been proposed by simple models based on cumulative advantage [276, 277]. The robustness of these networks to



Fig. 34: A typical configuration of a delay tree. Each node represents an airport and the links represent connections between them. The link weights denote temporal delays (in minutes) and the tree is composed of different levels or generations. Each node has a certain branching number (ρ) for the next level. Figure from [284].

disruptions has been considered in terms of a unipartite framework [281] as well as multiplex-like approaches [282], where the network of each airline forms a layer and the airports appearing in the different layers connect the structure. A short review of network analysis on air transportation can be found in [283].

Of course the static topological framework does not take into account the dynamics occurring on the network. Indeed a key component of air transportation is that goods and people arrive in their destination in time. In particular logistical failures can propagate in the network where travel schedules are not met, with the delay propagating to effect a significant fraction of the system and paralyzing airport operations. This idea was first explored in the context of air transportation in [285], where the concept of *delay multipliers* was introduced. This can be seen as a combination of a delayed flight not only affecting the departure of other flights in the same airport, but also affecting connecting flights down the transportation chain, leading to the formation of avalanches or "delay-trees" [284] as shown in Fig. 34. Direct costs of flight delays in Europe amount to more than one billion euros [286], while in the US direct and indirect costs go beyond 40 billion dollars [287]. Delays directly affect airlines since they increase operational costs, but as an indirect factor they also bring associated reputational costs [288, 289]. Passengers, on the other hand, undergo a direct loss of time, which can be further exasperated by lost connections leading to missed business and leisure opportunities. Finally, efforts to recover delays airborne usually imply excess fuel consumption and larger CO₂ emissions.

Given these challenges, it is important to characterize the sources of initial (primary) delays [290, 291] and devise mitigating strategies. Unfortunately this is a highly complex problem with the involvement of numerous (and sometimes unrelated) factors such as weather conditions, technical failures in the aircraft, aircraft rotations, crew and passenger connections, organizational issues in airports, and the mechanisms through which these delays are transferred and amplified in subsequent oper-



Fig. 35: Comparison between the congested cluster size as a function of time measured from empirical data. Congested airports are defined as those with a average delay per departing flight of over 29 minutes in intervals of one hour. The congested cluster is obtained from the largest connected component of the network formed by congested airports connected with direct flights during the day considered. The model has been tested with all the ingredients working or only with some of them to check their importance in delay propagation. (a)-(d) refer to variants of the model taking into account all or some of the factors. Figure from [298].

ations [292, 285, 293]. Airline schedules typically include a buffer time to absorb these delays [294], but there are frequent scenarios when this is not nearly enough. The Central Office for Delay Analysis of Eurocontrol (CODA) in Europe and its counterpart in the US, the Bureau of Transportation Statistics of the Department of Transportation, release monthly reports on flight performance including statistics on the major causes of delays and the airport affected. Based on these reports, studies have been conducted in single hubs such as Newark [295] as well as parts of the European [275, 296] and US [289, 297, 284] networks.

There have been primarily two approaches considered to model such effects. One class of models probe the network structure to search for weak points, analyzing jamming and congestion phenomena, especially trying to isolate those airports that cause cascades of delays that span a finite-fraction of the network [299, 300, 301, 302]. This approach has also been extended to multiplex networks of airports and airlines also attempting to identify carriers that are most responsible for delays [282]. In addition to these more-stylized approaches, there exist other families of models whose objectives are to provide realistic predictions that can be implemented in real-time. Such models are primarily agent-based and incorporate fine-grained details of air operations while sacrificing analytical tractability. Indeed, this has been the main approach adopted in the area of transport engineering related to Air Transport Management (ATM). There are hundreds of contributions on this line mainly presented in sectorial conferences such as the USA/Europe ATM Seminar, the Air Transport Research Society (ATRS) Conference, ICRAT, the SESAR Innovation Days, etc, whose proceedings are accessible online as well as publications in journals such as Journal of Air Transport Management (Man-



Fig. 36: (a) The global boat cargo network consisting of ports as nodes, and connections between them when boats navigate from one to the other. The links are colored according to the volume of traffic and their shape is constructed from the geodesic distance between ports. (b) A map of the top 50 ports in terms of their betweenness centrality. Also listed are the top 20. Figure from [151].

agement (JATM). The advances in this area cover topics such as the optimization of runway management, the effects of bad weather, sector congestion, how the advent of drone technology affects commercial air transportation, among many other minute details. While a comprehensive listing of all the findings would require a review by itself, we mention a few that are directly related to delay propagation in networks. Micro-modeling of the connection between air-transport logistics and delays was first explored in [303, 304]. Later a similar framework was used to assess the economic impact of a major disruption in a European hub [305]. Also in Europe, within the umbrella of the WPE of the Joint SESAR Undertaking, several projects as NEWO, TREE and POEM have studied the modeling of delay propagation from different perspectives: the first two from the network and airline managers' and the latter from the passenger's point of view.

In the same context, data-driven models have been developed to reproduce the delay propagation patterns in the US [306]. These models were validated against empirical performance data [307], showing an acceptable level of accuracy and precision in the prediction of delayed flights, identification of airports displaying major departuredelays, network-wide congestion and generalized bad weather conditions [298]. The models are built with an agent-based approach applied at the level of aircraft, with delays appearing at any point in the operations due to technical, airport organizational or weather-related issues incorporated as initial conditions to the model. The airport management is simulated with a system of queues that depend on the specific network considered (US or Europe). One of the primary finding of such analysis is that the mechanism with the strongest potential to effect delay is passenger and crew connections (Fig. 35).

5.1.3. Sea Networks

Another example of long-range transportation are sea transportation networks, which have received comparatively less attention than their air traffic counterparts. While his-
torically, sea transportation was the main mode of long-range human mobility, in recent times they mostly involve movement of cargo. Still, for sake of completeness we provide here a brief description on studies conducted on such networks. Typically such networks are studies as representing the ports as nodes, with links connecting them whenever major cargo liners travel from one to other [308]. The links typically are given weights that correspond to the number of ships (trips) along the route. The resulting network spans the globe, connecting different continents as shown in Fig. 36. Similar to that seen in air transportation networks, statistical distributions of typical topological properties are heavy-tailed, with only a few number of ports accounting for a majority of global traffic, with the majority playing a peripheral role [151]. The centrality of ports was studied in [309], where it was found that Singapore, Antwerp, Bushan and Rotterdam top the list in terms of both traffic and load. A similar relationship between connectivity and traffic as in Eq. (65) was noted with an exponent of 1.46 ± 0.1 [151]. Furthermore, the network can be segmented by the type of ship (containers, oil tankers, etc) in terms of a multiplex network framework [310]. A systematic analysis on the similarities between the world airport network and the boat network was performed in [311], including a study of the resilience of both networks. From a modeling perspective certain aspects of the flows can be reproduced with a gravity model (Sec. 4.2.1), although there are some strong limitations. An important additional application of this network, besides the transport of goods, is the study of the invasion of species brought by carriers from different parts of the world [312, 313].

5.2. Multi-scale

5.2.1. Intra urban mobility

One of the more important and much studied applications of mobility is that seen within cities. Indeed, there are good reasons for this. One is just the availability of more data. With rapid urbanization, an increasing part of the global population is living in urban areas. Large cities are early adopters of new technologies have large populations and consequently more mobile phone users and high densities of of phone antennas. Consequently the spatial resolution of CDR data (Sec. 2.3) collected in cities is order of magnitude higher when compared to rural/non-urban areas. The same considerations hold for the data generated from social networking applications, such as Twitter or Foursquare. Indeed, the usage of these applications has been shown to have so-cially and spatially biases; they are more likely to be used by urban residents, educated individuals, young people and middle age employed adults [314].

The other of course is the unique set of challenges that abound from large agglomerations of people resulting in high population density. One of these is congestion that has an associated energy cost as measured for example by C02 emissions. As a large part of human movement occurs in individual vehicles, accurate measurements of transportation flows are needed to infer how congestion affects carbon emissions. For example, it is known that CO2 emissions mainly depend on the time spent traveling, and in places of high density such as cities where congestion appears, traffic jams are responsible for carbon emissions that scale super-linearly with the population size [315, 104]. Yet another reason for studying intra urban mobility is related to that fact that cities typically have high levels of socioeconomic inequality among their residents,



Fig. 37: Statistics of the co-location times for "familiar strangers". In (a), typical contact network. In (b), inter-encounter distribution times. In (c), joint probability distribution of inter-encounter times. In (d), distribution time between encounters for groups. Figure from [316].

with residential segregation that is amplified by other forms of segregation, perceived in mobility practices and facilities that may differ depending on the neighborhood of residence. Additionally, the multi-modal nature of transport networks in urban areas (which include privately owned vehicles, buses, metros, taxis, tramways, bike sharing systems, and pedestrians) gives rise to specific questions related to the navigability of these multi-layer networks. For example, the combination of the regularity of daily circadian rhythms and smart transport card technology provides data that allows for the study of intriguing phenomena, such as *familiar strangers* [316], and can be used to uncover the properties of "hidden" temporal networks of the city, formed by individuals that temporarily co-locate in the same spaces, but do not know each other (see Fig. 37).

There is an important body of mixed literature, quantitative and qualitative, on intra-urban mobility that relies upon longitudinal travel surveys, started more than 60 years ago. Covering it is beyond the scope of this review, and possible starting points for those interested may be found in [317, 318, 319], which focus on North-American metropolises. Ref. [320] was one of the first papers to explicitly discuss the possibilities offered by individual digital footprints for urban analysis. It underlined that such data could be used to gain understanding of a number of phenomena associated to intra-urban mobility. Following this, a series of papers highlighted possibilities of real-time visualization and monitoring of displacements in cities [321, 322, 94].



Fig. 38: Boxplot with the daily mobility ranges in Los Angeles and New York. Figure from [93].

The first studies that utilized metadata produced by handheld devices carried by individuals focused on a single city, and essentially consisted of visualizations and simple aggregated measures, providing information on the density of individuals using a device in various areas of the city and at various times of the day. Metadata provided by mobile phone operators contains information on the nationality of the phone number, which is also common on social networking user profiles. Consequently one of the first uses of such databases of individual geotagged data was to model the movements of foreign visitors in cities. [323] studied the location and mobility patterns of tourists in Rome, and subsequent studies highlighted the specific travel patterns of visitors, when compared to the movements of city residents, notably in Paris [324, 325], Jakarta and Singapore [326].

Another popular case study are ones which focus on the influence an area of residence has on intra-urban mobility patterns. Most of the first intra-urban studies using ICT data in these categories have focused on the organization of mobility in one or two large cities. One of the very first in this category was [93], which used mobile phone CDR data recorded during a period *D* of 62 consecutive days in New York and Los Angeles. They compared aggregated mobility statistics; the individuals' mean daily range – defined for each individual as the mean of the maximal distance traveled each day, $\sum_{d \in D} max_{ij}(d(i, j))/|D|$ – and the individuals' maximal daily range – defined as $max_D(max_{ij}(d(i, j)))$ (see Fig. 38). They showed that residents of Los Angeles globally commute over further distances, but also highlighted heterogeneities; some residents in Manhattan commute farther than their counterparts in Los Angeles and the neighborhood of residence has an influence on the average journey-to-work commuting distance. Combining mobile phone data and odometer data (a distance measuring device for bikes and automobiles), [327] performed similar comparative measures between the two data sources, highlighting the influence of a number of built environmental factors on the travel distances of Boston residents. [328] went further by combining mobile phone data and census data which provided information on the proportion of racial groups in each of the cities' census tracks. They showed that residential segregation was amplified by a mobility segregation in the urban areas of Boston and Los Angeles.

Focusing on a single city, some authors have investigated the relation between morphology and mobility patterns: [329] used smart cards data collected over several weeks in the London subway to provide measures linking the polycentric spatial structure of London and the organization of mobility patterns in the city. Relying upon mobile phone data collected during 2 months in 31 Spanish urban areas, [330] showed how the spatial organization of hotspots and the shape of cities evolve during the course of a typical weekday, as residents move inside the cities, highlighting different typical city forms (see Figure 39). Thanks to a large Foursquare dataset that records GPS positioning data, [65] compared the distribution of jump lengths in 34 different cities worldwide. Fitting the distribution in each city, they conclude that at the city scale, human displacements cannot be properly fitted by a power-law distribution, a result in agreement with several other case studies held for particular cities, which found that the distribution of travel distances inside an urban area is more properly fitted by an exponential distribution $P(\Delta r) \propto exp(-\Delta r/r_0)$. They propose an individual model derived from Stouffer's intervening opportunities, that states that the important parameter for explaining destination choice in cities is not the distance by itself, but rather the density of possible alternative destinations in a perimeter of distance d. Given a set U of places in a city, the probability of moving from place $u \in U$ to a place $v \in U$ is formally defined as

$$P_r[u \to w] \propto \frac{1}{rank_u(v)^a},\tag{66}$$

where $rank_u(v) \propto |\{w : d(u, w) < d(u, v)\}|$, which can be seen as an urban counterpart to the radiation model proposed in the same year by [42] (see section 4).

One of the most debated questions in the recent literature on human mobility has been the shape of the statistical distributions of the distances traveled by individuals $P(\Delta r)$, and their travel times at various spatial and temporal scales and in different environments. Providing a neat characterization of these distributions is of extreme importance, and a prerequisite to modeling. Indeed, the distribution of travel distances $P(\Delta r)$ is a key ingredient that any reasonable model should be able to reproduce and explain. [331] contains a very clear recap of the efforts of the last decade on this question, and a table summarizing the parameters values of the fitting distributions that have been proposed. These distributions have been characterized thanks to various sources of individual data (dollar bills, mobile phones, private car GPS, taxis, longitudinal travel surveys, and geolocated tweets, among others). In most cases, the fit of $P(\Delta r)$ is consistent with the general form of a truncated power law distribution

$$P(\Delta r) \propto (\Delta r + r_0)^{-\beta} \exp\left(-\frac{\Delta r}{\kappa}\right),$$
 (67)

with $\kappa = 0$ corresponding to the case of a non-truncated power-law, and $\beta = 0$ corresponding to an exponential distribution of scale κ . The majority of papers propose



Fig. 39: Scatter plot with the number of hotspots detected as a function of the population of the cities. The colors of the curves and the points correspond to two different ways of defining the threshold marking an activity cell as hotspot. Figure from [330].

truncated power law fits for $P(\Delta r)$, and argue that the distribution of displacements follows an underlying Lévy-flight process.

The studies compared in [331] provided very different results for the parameters values β , r_0 and κ of the general form above, and consequently they proposed different underlying processes for explaining the shape of this distribution. To settle the discrepancies, a convincing modeling framework, able to reproduce a number of stylized facts, and $P(\Delta r)$ is required, and more research and cross-checks should be performed. Data accessibility is always an issue in this type of research, so one workaround passes is repeating the same measures on many different datasets, to enable a systematic comparison of the empirical results as done by [331].

Apart from this, some of the many aspects studied on intra-urban mobility relate to the typical distance scales of movement [63, 332]; measures of travel duration [332]; effects of population size on the structure and dynamics of mobility [104, 333]; the effect of city topology on the displacements of its inhabitants (in terms of travel time, distance, and spatial organization of flows) [334] optimal 'strategies' for navigating multimodal transport networks [102], the efficiency of transport itineraries [335]; the level of complexity of transportation maps, which might exceed cognitive limits, and



Fig. 40: In (a), Shortest (most-likely) disease propagation pathways for an epidemic starting in Hong Kong. D_{eff} stands for the "radial distance from the disease origin as defined in [341]. In (b), time evolution of a simulated pandemic starting in Hong Kong. In (c), epidemic arrival time as a function of D_{eff} in the simulation. In (d) and (e), same analysis but with data for the 2009 H1N1 flu pandemic and for the 2003 SARS outbreak. Figure from [341].

therefore explain sub optimal navigation by city residents [336].

5.2.2. Epidemic Spreading

Perhaps one of the most important applications of studies on human mobility and transportation systems relates to epidemic spreading. While epidemiology as a discipline has several hundred years of tradition, only recently has it been possible to model the global spreading patterns of diseases in a realistic and reasonably accurate way. Of course, every disease has its own peculiarities, and requires tailored modeling with the inclusion of the specific mechanisms associated with it. Consequently, the literature in this area is extensive, with dedicated monographs and a number of reviews [337, 338, 339, 340]. Here we discuss how recent knowledge of human mobility has influenced the latest generation of epidemiological models.

Whilst it has been known for some time that air transportation plays a major role in the global spreading of diseases [342, 343], the implementation of air traffic data in epidemic models has only been possible in recent times with the advances in information technologies and computing resources over the past decade or so [344, 345, 346], with the majority of studies focusing on the spread of influenza. The flu is a paradigmatic example of contact diseases that spreads annually cross the globe, and for which contagion is airborne with a patient clinical process that allows for relatively simple modeling. Indeed, improved surveillance systems have brought new insights on the temporal and spatial patterns of its propagation [163, 347].

Of course, new modeling frameworks are not restricted to the flu but can be also



Fig. 41: In (a), time evolution of a flu epidemic with $R_0 = 1.5$ in the Southeast Asia. Infectious individuals are shown in red, while green ones are those already recovered or removed. In (b), daily incidence of the simulation on average in dark blue, several realizations in different colors and in gray the 95% confidence interval. In (c), distance from the origin of the disease. In (d), the proportion of infected people by age group. In e, distribution of number of secondary cases produced per infectious individual in the early stages of the outbreak. Figure from [353].

extended to other contact diseases such as SARS [348], mosquito-driven infections lile malaria [349] or yellow fever [238], or even Ebola and other emerging health threats [350, 351]. In many such cases, the first instance of the disease in a particular location occurs through the arrival of infected humans from the source location via air transportation. The world airport network (WAN) can thus be considered as the backbone through which new emerging diseases arrive where connections with larger flows of passengers marking the most likely pathways for propagation [341] (see Fig. 40). Indeed, within the framework of the WAN (as discussed in Sec. 5.1.2), it is possible to estimate the potential of every airport as a source for a pandemic [352].

Concerning realistic models, two main frameworks have been used in the literature: agent-based modeling and metapopulations. The difference between the two lies in the level of information needed. Agent-based models attempt to generate synthetic population mimicking at an individual (agent) level the realistics aspects related to disease propagation. A detailed knowledge is therefore required of features such as location of residential areas, businesses and schools, leisure activities, population divisions by age, gender and sizes of households as well as individual mobility. These are typically sourced from census-like surveys and then a synthetic population is created assigning each individual to a household, a work/school place and a characteristic mobility profile. The earliest variants of such models were developed in the 1990's within the Los Alamos project *Transportation Analysis Simulation System* or TRAN-SIMS. The objective of TRANSIMS was to reproduce via agent-based modeling the daily life of Portland, Oregon, including population, mobility, income levels and other details sourced from the US census [354]. This was later adapted to study the evolution of epidemics, called *Epidemic Disease Simulation System* or EPISIMS, which was used to study different scenarios to prevent the propagation of smallpox [355]. Similar models were applied to study the propagation of a strain of avian flu, H5N1, in South East Asia, where for instance, epidemic spreading was simulated with the source centered in Thailand (see Fig. 41), and including neighboring countries at a range of 100 kms containing about 80 million inhabitants (agents) [353, 356]. This was primarily done to assess the effect of several intervention measures (distribution of antivirals and reducing the social contacts) to halt the progress of the disease. Similar models have been applied to even larger populations in the US and UK [357, 358, 359, 360]. The level of granularity present in such models, enables minute analysis such as the effect of closing specific schools, employing different vaccination protocols (say by age) on disease propagation [358, 359]. The arrival of the 2009 flu pandemic provided further impetus to such modeling approaches and agent-based models have been now developed for most of Western European countries [361, 362, 363, 364] where a dazzling amount of scenarios have been exhaustively simulated including the risk of spread of a newly created virus strain from a lab following the case of the creation of a new H5N1 influenza strain [365]. One must note that the mobility aspect in such models relates to the movement of the individuals (agents) and is explicitly implemented both at long and short ranges involving multiple models of (simulated) transportation.

While agent-based models provide the best approximation to reality, they are severely limited by the fact that they require highly detailed input information, the data for which in many cases is noisy, unreliable or just simply unavailable. Furthermore, given the sheer complexity of such models, an analytical treatment is nearly impossible. On the other hand, the metapopulation framework, balances granularity with analytic tractability, and has easier to obtain data as input parameters [342, 366, 367]. In this model, the population of interest is divided into subpopulations, within which contacts are modeled by a fully-mixed mean-field approach, whereas contacts between subpopulations occur through the (measured) mobility networks. One of the earliest such models is the so-called Global Epidemic and Mobility model or GLEaM [368]. GLEaM is a global simulation platform that divides the globe in cells of 15×15 minutes of arc, which are grouped in basins of attraction around the major transportation hubs, which in most cases are airports. The mobility is then simulated at two levels: long range air transport, which is calibrated from the world airport network, and short-range mobility obtained from either census commuting data or estimated using the gravity law [165]. Figure 42 displays the different components of the model.

Most notably, GLEaM was used to study the propagation patterns of the 2009 H1N1 influenza pandemic in *real time*. The pandemic started in a small population of Mexico early in that year [369], and its unfolding received attention of mass media media as well as the scientific community, which brought unprecedented details on the characteristics of the first imported cases in several countries. This information allowed for the calibration of the infectivity and the seasonality in GLEaM in early May 2009 [368]. Once calibrated, the model predicted the disease propagation patterns: essentially, the arrival and prevalence peak times for the rest of the countries of the world, predictions that were later validated, after the full surveillance reports were available in 2012 [347]. Additionally, the model helped estimate the actual initial number of cases present in Mexico in the early stages of the disease [370]. Ever since, the model has become an important tool for subsequent studies that takes its results as a baseline (see,



Fig. 42: In (a), air transport network zoomed in for the US. In (b), commuting network in the same area. In both cases, the link weights are plotted using a heatmap code. In (c)-(f), comparison between flows coming from commuting data w^D and those produced with a gravity model w^M with the aim of extrapolating short-range mobility in zones where the data was not available. Figure from [164].

for example [341, 352]) and has been also used to assess the risk of spreading of new emerging health threats [371, 351, 372].

The flexibility of the multilevel framework inherent in the model allows for the quantitative assessment of the differences between short-range and long-range traveling on the disease propagation. In particular it was determined that travel restrictions via decrease of the air traffic (or temporary quarantines) can at best delay the disease spread by a few days or weeks. Unless one totally shuts down the network, or severely restricts it (which of course carries a massive economic cost) global propagation is almost guaranteed [373, 372]. Newer versions of such models factor in facets of human behavior, such as the tendency of people to restrict contacts and travel when made aware of the existence of a dangerous disease [374], as well as heterogeneity in the population (age, gender, socioeconomic indicators) and its effect on travel patterns [375]. Possible future directions regarding these models include the possibility of feeding them with real-time ICT collected data on mobility [376, 377, 20, 378] or hybrid frameworks that merge aspects of agent-based and metapopulation modeling [361].

5.3. Virtual-Scale

5.3.1. Web (Online) Mobility

Ostensibly, physical human mobility and virtual navigation are indeed activities of very distinct nature, yet there are a number of reasons why the latter can be cast in the context of the former. Indeed, many daily activities that occurred in specific physical locations, such as work, study, leisure, financial transactions, purchasing, are now increasingly migrating towards being conducted online. Moreover, the world wide web (www) has a humanitarian and social role, in the sense that it helps individuals and populations with limited mobility to have access (albeit virtually) to locations, people and information hitherto unreachable. For instance, the disabled [379, 380, 381] and the elderly [382, 383, 384], at an individual level, for whom the www represents a means of overcoming their physical limitations, or even entire populations, whose



Fig. 43: Mobility activities within the *Pardus* MMOG. The Mean Squared Displacement (main panel) suggests a subdiffusive process with exponent v = 0.26, whereas the return probabilities in number of discrete jumps τ (inset) behave as a power law with exponent $\alpha \approx 1.3$. (adapted from Szell *et al.* [386])

mobility is restricted for political or geographical reasons, for which the www is their only access to the outside world [385]. In this section we present an overview of the recent empirical evidence on the statistical similarities between virtual and physical navigation.

In the context of this parallel between virtual and physical mobility, we differentiate two classes of activities that although related, have practical and functional distinctions, that is, mobility in virtual spaces (for example, World of Warcraft, Second Life and The Sims) and navigation in virtual *spaceless* environments (for example, browsing the WWW or navigating through the interface of a device). The difference between these two classes of activities is given by the fact that in the first there is an explicit notion of space such that displacements between different locations come with a temporal cost, often proportional to some distance measure between them [387].

An empirical analysis of the behaviors and trajectories in the virtual space of the online game *Pardus* suggests a subdiffuse behavior in online mobility [386], similar to that observed in physical mobility [81, 48] (Fig. 43). Additionally, it appears that the return time (in number of discrete steps) of users of the Pardus game follows a power-law distribution with an exponential cut-off (inset of Fig. 43). These similarities between virtual and physical mobility were later empirically corroborated by other similar datasets. A comparative analyses between traces of World of Warcraft (WoW) players and GPS traces [388] revealed that the distributions of jump lengths and waiting times are both approximated by lognormal distributions (Fig. 44).

Furthermore, the analyses of CDRs along with the Web activities of 20,000 mobile



Fig. 44: Jump lengths (top) and waiting-times (bottom) distributions within the virtual environment of World of Warcraft (left) and physical mobility from GPS traces (right) (adapted from [387])

phone users [389] suggest that visitation frequencies in both activities have a stretched exponential distribution (see Fig. 45). However, Web traces from mobile phone users tend to overrepresent a particular set of activities such as fact finding, information gathering and communication [390]. More recently, the analyses of complete Web browsing activities of 582 users, has revealed that it is possible to profile Web users based on their *exploratory vs. exploitative* behaviors in their browsing patterns [391]. More surprisingly, however, is the fact that the distribution of *returners* and *explorers* profiles are remarkably similar to the one observed in human mobility [87].

The observed similarities between physical and virtual navigation is beginning to draw increased attention from the scientific community. Of course the analogy can oly be taken so far, as compared to physical movement, virtual activity is relatively recent (on an evolutionary time scale) and much remains to be understood. It is reasonable, however, to believe that online activity is driven by the same psychological mechanism as *off-line* behaviors, now adapted to new environments or contexts. In fact, such intuition has increasingly found scientific support, both from a theoretical and empirical point of view, such as evidence of foraging behaviors in online shopping [392] and information consumption on the Web [393, 394], similar to that observed in human resource acquisition behaviors [395].



Fig. 45: Visitation frequencies distribution in online (a) and physical (b) spaces (adapted from Zhao *et al.* [389]).

6. Conclusions

In this work we discussed the state-of-the art in the field of human mobility. After a short historical description of the field, we focused on current work starting with the type of data utilized in most research projects, followed by the description of metrics and models of individual mobility and population mobility. We illustrated a list of selected applications of human mobility modeling, demonstrating the insights the field can bring to the solution of real-world problems.

It should be clear from the survey that the study, understanding, and modeling of human mobility is of primacy to many areas of society. At a deeper level the current research raises a fundamental question regarding human cognitive limitation. Among the many features described here, one in particular stands out: Why are we likely to return to frequently-visited locations or recently-visited locations? Does it relate to our ability to remember where we have been? Is it a innate characteristic of individuals or something that can be learned (*i.e.* nature vs. nurture)? The same can be said about regularities whereby human behavior is divided between those that are explorers or returners in their mobility pattern [87]. Indeed, this begs the interesting question, as to whether this observed division is an inherent property of society, say acting as a stabilizing influence? Indeed, this dichotomy is also found in other context, such as social learning, where it has been suggested that a population cooperating to solve a complex task can attain a better performance if it is composed by a mixture of explorers, individuals who try new solutions, and exploiters, individuals that have less propensity to abandon the optimally extant solutions [396]. More generally, the exploration vs exploitation dilemma is a fundamental issue in optimal decision-making and is analyzed in economics (multi-armed bandits) and computer science (reinforcement learning) and finds natural applications in marketing and advertisement, where recommendation algorithms determine whether people are likely to adopt familiar or unfamiliar products. All these problems require an understanding of human dynamics and many of these areas can possibly be studied using approaches inspired from research in human mobility. With the data we continue to collect as a society, and given the methodology developed to explain regularities in human mobility, we now have an additional set of mathematical tools to characterize the regularities in human activities more broadly.

A different structural dimension linked to human mobility relates to the invariant that humans are linked to each other forming social networks. Studies of social networks aim at grasping the multidimensional properties of the structures formed by entities (e.g., persons and organizations) and the ties connecting them together [397]. In fact, the intersection between human mobility and social networks goes beyond the obvious analogy that humans are social and their movement may be related to them being social [398, 399, 400, 401, 402]. The field of Social Network research is a huge enterprise in its own right and elucidating the connection between social networks and human movement is a nascent effort that should be explored in more depth.

An interesting research frontier in human mobility in the near future will likely concern the shift from traditional vehicles to autonomous, self-driving, vehicles. The diffusion of autonomous vehicles will transform private and public transportation, with sweeping consequences for society, the economy and the environment. How exactly will these transformations happen and how will mobility habits change in response to these new technologies? How can such vehicles be controlled and how does one plan routes in order to optimize fuel and time consumption, reducing congestion and pollution? Answers to these important questions, may well arise from a fuller understanding of human mobility and behavior at the individual and population (collective) levels.

Finally, it should be clear from this survey that interdisciplinarity and cross-fertilization is a *condicio sine qua non* to the success of the field. Computer scientists, physicists, social scientists, environmentalists, engineers, government officials and many other professions need to work together to develop and implement solutions to many of the problems society faces today that could benefit from understanding mobility (and dynamics) such as crime, urban planning, energy consumption, social integration, to name but a few.

Acknowledgements

HB, GG, RM and MT were partially supported by the US Army Research Office under Agreement Number W911NF-17-1-0127. FS is supported by EPSRC First Grant EP/P012906/1. JJR received funding from the Spanish Ministry of Economy, Industry and Competitiveness (MINEICO) and FEDER (EU) under the project ES-OTECOS (FIS2015-63628-C2-2-R), and also from the European Commission H2020 project BigData4ATM (699260) under the SESAR Joint Undertaking.

7. References

References

- [1] E. L. Ullman, Geography as spatial interaction, in: R. R. Boyce (Ed.), Geography as Spatial Interaction, University of Washington Press, 1980, pp. 13–27.
- [2] M. Helvig, Chicago's External Truck Movements; Spatial Interactions Between the Chicago Area and Its Hinterland, Department of Geography, University of Chicago, 1964.

- [3] D. E. Boyce, H. C. W. L. Williams, Forecasting Urban Travel: Past, Present and Future, Edward Elgar Publishing, 2015.
- [4] W. J. Reilly, Methods for the Study of Retail Relationships, University of Texas, 1929.
- [5] S. A. Stouffer, Intervening opportunities: A theory relating mobility and distance, American Sociological Review 5 (6) (1940) 845–867.
- [6] G. K. Zipf, The P1 P2/D Hypothesis: On the Intercity Movement of Persons, American Sociological Review 11 (6) (1946) 677–686.
- [7] T. R. Anderson, Intermetropolitan migration: a comparison of the hypotheses of zipf and stouffer, American Sociological Review 11 (1955) 287–291.
- [8] S. Hanson, The importance of the multi-purpose journey to work in urban travel behavior, Transportation 9 (3) (1980) 229–248.
- [9] J. O. Huff, S. Hanson, Repetition and variability in urban travel, Geographical Analysis 18 (2) (1986) 97–114.
- [10] R. Kitamura, C. Chen, R. M. Pendyala, R. Narayanan, Micro-simulation of daily activity-travel patterns for travel demand forecasting, Transportation 27 (1) (2000) 25–51.
- [11] C. Bhat, J. Guo, S. Srinivasan, A. Sivakumar, Comprehensive econometric microsimulator for daily activity-travel patterns, Transportation Research Record 1894 (1) (2004) 57–66.
- [12] R. M. Pendyala, R. Kitamura, A. Kikuchi, T. Yamamoto, S. Fujii, Florida activity mobility simulator: overview and preliminary validation results, Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board 1921 (1) (2005) 123–130.
- [13] K. Nagel, M. Paczuski, Emergent traffic jams, Physical Review E 51 (4) (1995) 2909.
- [14] P. Wang, T. Hunter, A. M. Bayen, K. Schechtner, M. C. González, Understanding road usage patterns in urban areas, Scientific reports 2 (2012) 1001.
- [15] B. Hillier, A. Turner, T. Yang, H.-T. Park, Metric and topo-geometric properties of urban street networks: some convergences, divergences and new results, Journal of Space Syntax Studies 1 (2009) 258–279.
- [16] V. E. Krebs, Mapping networks of terrorist cells, Connections 24 (3) (2002) 43–52.
- [17] A. Clauset, L. Heger, M. Young, K. S. Gleditsch, The strategic calculus of terrorism: Substitution and competition in the israel–palestine conflict, Cooperation and Conflict 45 (1) (2010) 6–33.

- [18] V. Colizza, A. Barrat, M. Barthelemy, A.-J. Valleron, A. Vespignani, Modeling the worldwide spread of pandemic influenza: baseline case and containment interventions, PLoS medicine 4 (1) (2007) e13.
- [19] A. Vespignani, Modelling dynamical processes in complex socio-technical systems, Nature Physics 8 (2012) 32–39.
- [20] M. Tizzoni, P. Bajardi, A. Decuyper, G. Kon Kam King, C. M. Schneider, V. Blondel, Z. Smoreda, M. C. González, V. Colizza, On the use of human mobility proxies for modeling epidemics, PLoS Computational Biology 10 (2014) e1003716.
- [21] G. Olsson, Distance and Human Interaction: A Review and Bibliography, Regional Science Research Institute, Philadelphia, 1965.
- [22] E. G. Ravenstein, The laws of migration, Journal of the Statistical Society of London 48 (1885) 167–235.
- [23] M. L. Bright, D. S. Thomas, Interstate migration and intervening opportunities, American Sociological Review 6 (6) (1941) 846–847.
- [24] F. K. Schaefer, Exceptionalism in Geography: A Methodological Examination, Annals of the Association of American Geographers 43 (3) (1953) 226–249.
- [25] B. J. L. Berry, Geography's Quantitative Revolution: Initial Conditions, 1954-1960. a Personal Memoir, Urban Geography 14 (5) (1993) 434–441.
- [26] J. S. Adams, The Quantitative Revolution in Urban Geography, Urban Geography 22 (6) (2001) 530–539.
- [27] J. A. Ericksen, An analysis of the journey to work for women, Social Problems 24 (4) (1977) 428–435.
- [28] S. Hanson, P. Hanson, The travel-activity patterns of urban residents: Dimensions and relationships to sociodemographic characteristics, Economic Geography 57 (4) (1981) 332–347.
- [29] S. Hanson, I. Johnston, Gender differences in work-trip length: Explanations and implications, Urban Geography 6 (3) (1985) 193–219.
- [30] R. Jennissen, Causality chains in the international migration systems approach, Population Research and Policy Review 26 (2007) 411.
- [31] S. Stigler, Statistics on the Table: The History of Statistical Concepts and Methods, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, USA, 1997.
- [32] E. G. Ravenstein, The laws of migration, Journal of the Royal Statistical Society 52 (2) (1889) 241–305.
- [33] G. K. Zipf, The Psychobiology of Language, Routledge, London, 1936.

- [34] G. K. Zipf, The generalized harmonic series as a fundamental principle of social organization, Psychological Record 4 (1940) 43.
- [35] G. K. Zipf, National Unity and Disunity, Principia Press, Bloomington, 1941.
- [36] T. Hägerstraand, What About People in Regional Science?, Papers in Regional Science 24 (1) (1970) 7–24.
- [37] S. Chardonnel, Time-geography :Individuals in Time and Space, in: Models in Spatial Analysis, sanders, lena Edition, Geographical Information Systems Series, ISTE, 2007, p. 319.
- [38] D. O'Sullivan, S. M. Manson, Do Physicists Have Geography Envy? And What Can Geographers Learn from It?, Annals of the Association of American Geographers 105 (4) (2015) 704–722.
- [39] M. Barthelemy, Spatial networks, Physics Reports 499 (2011) 1–101.
- [40] M. Barthelemy, The structure and dynamics of cities, Cambridge University Press, 2016.
- [41] C. Potter, New questions in the 1940 census, Prologue-Quarterly of the National Archives and Records Administration 42 (4) (2010) 46–52.
- [42] F. Simini, M. C. González, A. Maritan, A.-L. Barabási, A universal model for mobility and migration patterns, Nature 484 (7392) (2012) 96–100.
- [43] X. Liang, J. Zhao, L. Dong, K. Xu, Unraveling the origin of exponential law in intra-urban human mobility, Scientific Reports 3 (2983).
- [44] C. M. Schneider, V. Belik, T. Couronné, Z. Smoreda, M. C. González, Unravelling daily human mobility motifs, Journal of The Royal Society Interface 10 (84) (2013) 20130246.
- [45] J. R. Palmer, T. J. Espenshade, F. Bartumeus, C. Y. Chung, N. E. Ozgencil, K. Li, New approaches to human mobility: Using mobile phones for demographic research, Demography 50 (3) (2013) 1105–1128.
- [46] D. Brockmann, L. Hufnagel, T. Geisel, The scaling laws of human travel, Nature 439 (7075) (2006) 462–465.
- [47] C. Song, Z. Qu, N. Blumm, A.-L. Barabási, Limits of predictability in human mobility, Science 327 (2010) 1018–1021.
- [48] M. C. Gonzalez, C. A. Hidalgo, A.-L. Barabasi, Understanding individual human mobility patterns, Nature 453 (7196) (2008) 779–782.
- [49] Y.-A. de Montjoye, C. A. Hidalgo, M. Verleysen, V. D. Blondel, Unique in the crowd: The privacy bounds of human mobility, Scientific Reports 3.

- [50] V. D. Blondel, M. Esch, C. Chan, F. Clérot, P. Deville, E. Huens, F. Morlot, Z. Smoreda, C. Ziemlicki, Data for development: the d4d challenge on mobile phone data, arXiv preprint arXiv:1210.0137.
- [51] X. Lu, E. Wetter, N. Bharti, A. J. Tatem, L. Bengtsson, Approaching the limit of predictability in human mobility, Scientific Reports 3 (2013) 2923.
- [52] G. Barlacchi, M. De Nadai, R. Larcher, A. Casella, C. Chitic, G. Torrisi, F. Antonelli, A. Vespignani, A. Pentland, B. Lepri, A multi-source dataset of urban life in the city of milan and the province of trentino, Scientific data 2.
- [53] M. De Domenico, A. Lima, M. C. González, A. Arenas, Personalized routing for multitudes in smart cities, EPJ Data Science 4 (1) (2015) 1–11.
- [54] R. W. Douglass, D. A. Meyer, M. Ram, D. Rideout, D. Song, High resolution population estimates from telecommunications data, EPJ Data Science 4 (1) (2015) 1–13.
- [55] A. Alshamsi, E. Awad, M. Almehrezi, V. Babushkin, P.-J. Chang, Z. Shoroye, A.-P. Tóth, I. Rahwan, Misery loves company: happiness and communication in the city, EPJ Data Science 4 (1) (2015) 1–12.
- [56] V. D. Blondel, A. Decuyper, G. Krings, A survey of results on mobile phone datasets analysis, EPJ Data Science 4 (2015) 10.
- [57] A. Bazzani, B. Giorgini, S. Rambaldi, R. Gallotti, L. Giovannini, Statistical laws in urban mobility from microscopic gps data in the area of florence, arXiv:0912.4371.
- [58] R. Shin, S. Hong, K. Lee, S. Chong, On the levy-walk nature of human mobility: Do humans walk like monkeys?, in: Proc. IEEE INFOCOM, 2008, pp. 924–932.
- [59] Y. Zheng, Q. Li, Y. Chen, X. Xie, W.-Y. Ma, Understanding mobility based on gps data, in: Proceedings of the 10th international conference on Ubiquitous computing, ACM, 2008, pp. 312–321.
- [60] Y. Zheng, L. Zhang, X. Xie, W.-Y. Ma, Mining interesting locations and travel sequences from gps trajectories, in: Proceedings of the 18th international conference on World wide web, ACM, 2009, pp. 791–800.
- [61] Q. Li, Y. Zheng, X. Xie, Y. Chen, W. Liu, W.-Y. Ma, Mining user similarity based on location history, in: Proceedings of the 16th ACM SIGSPATIAL international conference on Advances in geographic information systems, ACM, 2008, p. 34.
- [62] Y. Zheng, X. Xie, W.-Y. Ma, Geolife: A collaborative social networking service among user, location and trajectory., IEEE Data Eng. Bull. 33 (2) (2010) 32–39.
- [63] A. Bazzani, B. Giorgini, S. Rambaldi, R. Gallotti, L. Giovannini, Statistical laws in urban mobility from microscopic gps data in the area of florence, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2010 (05) (2010) P05001.

- [64] L. Pappalardo, S. Rinzivillo, Z. Qu, D. Pedreschi, F. Giannotti, Understanding the patterns of car travel, The European Physical Journal Special Topics 215 (1) (2013) 61–73.
- [65] A. Noulas, S. Scellato, R. Lambiotte, M. Pontil, C. Mascolo, A tale of many cities: universal patterns in human urban mobility, PloS one 7 (5) (2012) e37027.
- [66] B. Hawelka, I. Sitko, E. Beinat, S. Sobolevsky, P. Kazakopoulos, C. Ratti, Geolocated Twitter as proxy for global mobility patterns, Cartography and Geographic Information Science 41 (2014) 260–271.
- [67] R. Jurdak, K. Zhao, J. Liu, M. AbouJaoude, M. Cameron, D. Newth, Understanding human mobility from twitter, PloS one 10 (7) (2015) e0131469.
- [68] S. Scellato, A. Noulas, R. Lambiotte, C. Mascolo, Socio-spatial properties of online location-based social networks., ICWSM 11 (2011) 329–336.
- [69] M. E. Newman, Networks: An Introduction, Oxford University Press, Oxford, 2010.
- [70] A. Java, X. Song, T. Finin, B. Tseng, Why we twitter: understanding microblogging usage and communities, in: Proceedings of the 9th WebKDD and 1st SNA-KDD 2007 workshop on Web mining and social network analysis, ACM, 2007, pp. 56–65.
- [71] B. A. Huberman, D. M. Romero, F. Wu, Social networks that matter: Twitter under the microscope, Available at SSRN 1313405.
- [72] H. Kwak, C. Lee, H. Park, S. Moon, What is twitter, a social network or a news media?, in: Proceedings of the 19th international conference on World wide web, ACM, 2010, pp. 591–600.
- [73] A. Pak, P. Paroubek, Twitter as a corpus for sentiment analysis and opinion mining., in: LREc, Vol. 10, 2010, pp. 1320–1326.
- [74] J. Bollen, H. Mao, A. Pepe, Modeling public mood and emotion: Twitter sentiment and socio-economic phenomena., ICWSM 11 (2011) 450–453.
- [75] S. A. Golder, M. W. Macy, Diurnal and seasonal mood vary with work, sleep, and daylength across diverse cultures, Science 333 (6051) (2011) 1878–1881.
- [76] T. Sakaki, M. Okazaki, Y. Matsuo, Earthquake shakes twitter users: real-time event detection by social sensors, in: Proceedings of the 19th international conference on World wide web, ACM, 2010, pp. 851–860.
- [77] A. M. MacEachren, A. Jaiswal, A. C. Robinson, S. Pezanowski, A. Savelyev, P. Mitra, X. Zhang, J. Blanford, Senseplace2: Geotwitter analytics support for situational awareness, in: Visual Analytics Science and Technology (VAST), 2011 IEEE Conference on, IEEE, 2011, pp. 181–190.

- [78] D. Thom, H. Bosch, S. Koch, M. Wörner, T. Ertl, Spatiotemporal anomaly detection through visual analysis of geolocated twitter messages, in: Visualization Symposium (PacificVis), 2012 IEEE Pacific, IEEE, 2012, pp. 41–48.
- [79] L. Sloan, J. Morgan, Who tweets with their location? understanding the relationship between demographic characteristics and the use of geoservices and geotagging on twitter, PloS one 10 (11) (2015) e0142209.
- [80] P. Turchin, Quantitative Analysis of Movement: Measuring and Modeling Population Redistribution in Animals and Plants, Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, Massachusetts, USA, 1998.
- [81] C. Song, T. Koren, P. Wang, A.-L. Barabási, Modelling the scaling properties of human mobility, Nature Physics 6 (10) (2010) 818–823.
- [82] K. Zhao, M. Musolesi, P. Hui, W. Rao, S. Tarkoma, Explaining the power-law distribution of human mobility through transportation modality decomposition, Scientific reports 5.
- [83] P. A. DiMilla, J. A. Stone, J. A. Quinn, S. M. Albelda, D. A. Lauffenburger, Maximal migration of human smooth muscle cells on fibronectin and type iv collagen occurs at an intermediate attachment strength, The Journal of cell biology 122 (3) (1993) 729–737.
- [84] Y. Maruyama, J. Murakami, Truncated levy walk of a nanocluster bound weakly to an atomically flat surface: Crossover from superdiffusion to normal diffusion, Physical Review B 67 (8) (2003) 085406.
- [85] A. Vazquez, O. Sotolongo-Costa, F. Brouers, Diffusion regimes in levy flights with trapping, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 264 (3) (1999) 424–431.
- [86] M. Zhao, L. Mason, W. Wang, Empirical study on human mobility for mobile wireless networks, in: Military Communications Conference, 2008. MILCOM 2008. IEEE, IEEE, 2008, pp. 1–7.
- [87] L. Pappalardo, F. Simini, S. Rinzivillo, D. Pedreschi, F. Giannotti, A.-L. Barabási, Returners and explorers dichotomy in human mobility, Nature Communications 6 (2015) 8166.
- [88] U. Alon, Network motifs: theory and experimental approaches, Nature Reviews Genetics 8 (6) (2007) 450–461.
- [89] J. de Dios Ortúzar, L. Willumsen, Modeling Transport, John Wiley and Sons Ltd, New York, 2011.
- [90] M. S. Iqbal, C. F. Choudhury, P. Wang, M. C. González, Development of origindestination matrices using mobile phone call data, Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies 40 (2014) 63–74.

- [91] J. White, I. Wells, Extracting origin destination information from mobile phone data, in: Road Transport Information and Control, 2002. Eleventh International Conference on (Conf. Publ. No. 486), 2002, pp. 30–34.
- [92] N. Caceres, J. Wideberg, F. G. Benitez, Deriving origin destination data from a mobile phone network, Intelligent Transport Systems, IET 1 (1) (2007) 15–26.
- [93] S. Isaacman, R. Becker, R. Cáceres, S. Kobourov, J. Rowland, A. Varshavsky, A Tale of Two Cities, in: Proceedings of the Eleventh Workshop on Mobile Computing Systems & Applications, HotMobile '10, ACM, New York, NY, USA, 2010, pp. 19–24.
- [94] F. Calabrese, G. Di Lorenzo, L. Liu, C. Ratti, Estimating origin-destination flows using mobile phone location data, IEEE Pervasive Computing 10 (4) (2011) 0036–44.
- [95] S. Jiang, G. A. Fiore, Y. Yang, J. Ferreira Jr, E. Frazzoli, M. C. González, A review of urban computing for mobile phone traces: current methods, challenges and opportunities, in: Proceedings of the 2nd ACM SIGKDD International Workshop on Urban Computing, ACM, 2013, p. 2.
- [96] M. Lenormand, M. Picornell, O. G. Cantú-Ros, A. Tugores, T. Louail, R. Herranz, M. Barthelemy, E. Frías-Martínez, J. J. Ramasco, Cross-Checking Different Sources of Mobility Information, PLoS ONE 9 (8) (2014) e105184.
- [97] L. Alexander, S. Jiang, M. Murga, M. C. González, Origin-destination trips by purpose and time of day inferred from mobile phone data, Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies 58, Part B (2015) 240–250.
- [98] J. L. Toole, S. Colak, B. Sturt, L. P. Alexander, A. Evsukoff, M. C. González, The path most traveled: Travel demand estimation using big data resources, Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies 58, Part B (2015) 162– 177.
- [99] N. Caceres, J. Wideberg, F. G. Benitez, Review of traffic data estimations extracted from cellular networks, IET Intelligent Transport Systems 2 (3) (2008) 179–192.
- [100] S. Çolak, L. P. Alexander, B. G. Alvim, S. R. Mehndiratta, M. C. González, Analyzing Cell Phone Location Data for Urban Travel, Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board 2526 (2015) 126–135.
- [101] L. Varga, A. Kovács, G. Tóth, I. Papp, Z. Néda, Further we travel the faster we go, PloS one 11 (2) (2016) e0148913.
- [102] R. Gallotti, M. Barthelemy, Anatomy and efficiency of urban multimodal mobility, Scientific Reports 4 (2014) 6911.
- [103] R. Gallotti, A. Bazzani, S. Rambaldi, M. Barthelemy, A stochastic model of randomly accelerated walkers for human mobility, Nature Communications 7.

- [104] R. Louf, M. Barthelemy, How congestion shapes cities: from mobility patterns to scaling, Scientific Reports 4.
- [105] C. Marchetti, Anthropological invariants in travel behavior, Technological Forecasting and Social Change 47 (1994) 88.
- [106] Y. Zehavi, The umot model, Tech. rep., The Urban Project Department, The World Bank, Washington, DC, US (1977).
- [107] D. Levinson, Y. Wu, The rational locator reexamined: Are travel times still stable?, Transportation 32 (2) (2005) 187–202.
- [108] R. Kölbl, D. Helbing, Energy laws in human travel behaviour, New Journal of Physics 5 (1) (2003) 48.
- [109] T. Hettinger, Physiologische leistungsgrundlagen, Handbuch der Ergonomie 1.
- [110] A. Einstein, über die von der molekularkinetischen theorie der wärme geforderte bewegung von in ruhenden flüssigkeiten suspendierten teilchen (on the movement of small particles suspended in a stationary liquid demanded by the molecular-kinetic theory of heat), Annalen der physik 17 (1905) 549–560.
- [111] J. E. Gillis, G. H. Weiss, Expected number of distinct sites visited by a random walk with an infinite variance, Journal of Mathematical Physics 11 (4) (1970) 1307–1312.
- [112] H. Barbosa, F. B. de Lima-Neto, A. Evsukoff, R. Menezes, The effect of recency to human mobility, EPJ Data Science 4 (1) (2015) 1–14.
- [113] K. W. Axhausen, Social networks and travel: some hypotheses, in: K. Donaghy, S. Poppelreuter, G. Rudinger (Eds.), Social dimensions of sustainable transport: transatlantic perspectives, Ashgate Aldershot, London, UK, 2005, pp. 90–108.
- [114] J. A. Carrasco, E. J. Miller, Exploring the propensity to perform social activities: social networks approach, Transportation 33 (2006) 463–480.
- [115] E. Dugundji, J. Walker, Discrete choice with social and spatial network interdependencies: an empirical example using mixed gev models with field and panel effects, Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board 1921 (2005) 70–78.
- [116] D. Liben-Nowell, J. Novak, R. Kumar, P. Raghavan, A. Tomkins, Geographic routing in social networks, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102 (11623–11628).
- [117] J. Carrasco, E. Miller, B. Wellman, How far and with whom do people socialize? empirical evidence about the distance between social network members, Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board 2076 (2008) 114–122.

- [118] P. van den Berg, T. Arentze, H. Timmermans, A path analysis of social networks, telecommunication and social activity-travel patterns, Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies 26 (2013) 256–268.
- [119] J. A. Carrasco, B. Hogan, B. Wellman, E. J. Miller, Collecting social network data to study social activity- travel behaviour: an egocentric approach, Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design 35 (2008) 961–980.
- [120] J. A. Carrasco, B. Hogan, B. Wellman, E. J. Miller, Agency in social activity and ict interactions: The role of social networks in time and space, Tijdschrift voor economische en sociale geografie 99 (2008) 562–583.
- [121] R. Lambiotte, V. D. Blondel, C. De Kerchove, E. Huens, C. Prieur, Z. Smoreda, P. Van Dooren, Geographical dispersal of mobile communication networks, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 387 (2008) 5317–5325.
- [122] G. Krings, F. Calabrese, C. Ratti, V. D. Blondel, Urban gravity: a model for inter-city telecommunication flows, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2009 (07) (2009) L07003.
- [123] S. Phithakkitnukoon, Z. Smoreda, P. Olivier, Socio-Geography of Human Mobility: A Study Using Longitudinal Mobile Phone Data, PLoS ONE 7 (6) (2012) e39253.
- [124] W. Pan, G. Ghoshal, C. Krumme, M. Cebrian, A. Pentland, Urban characteristics attributable to density-driven tie formation, Nature Communications 4 (2013) 1961.
- [125] M. De Domenico, A. Lima, M. Musolesi, Interdependence and predictability of human mobility and social interactions, Pervasive and Mobile Computing 9 (6) (2013) 798–807.
- [126] F. Takens, Detecting strange attractors in turbulence, Vol. 898 of Lecture Notes in Mathematics, Springer-Verlag, 1981, pp. 366–381.
- [127] N. Eagle, A. S. Pentland, D. Lazer, Inferring friendship network structure by using mobile phone data, Proceedings of the national academy of sciences 106 (36) (2009) 15274–15278.
- [128] D. J. Crandall, L. Backstrom, D. Cosley, S. Suri, D. Huttenlocher, J. Kleinberg, Inferring social ties from geographic coincidences, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 107 (2010) 22436–22441.
- [129] M. Picornell, T. Ruiz, M. Lenormand, J. J. Ramasco, T. Dubernet, E. Frías-Martínez, Exploring the potential of phone call data to characterize the relationship between social network and travel behavior, Transportation 42 (2015) 647–668.

- [130] L. Backstrom, E. Sun, C. Marlow, Find me if you can: Improving geographical prediction with social and spatial proximity, in: Proceedings of the 19th International Conference on World Wide Web, WWW '10, ACM, New York, NY, USA, 2010, pp. 61–70.
- [131] D. Wang, D. Pedreschi, C. Song, F. Giannotti, A.-L. Barabasi, Human mobility, social ties, and link prediction, in: Proceedings of the 17th ACM SIGKDD international conference on Knowledge discovery and data mining, ACM, 2011, pp. 1100–1108.
- [132] A. Páez, D. M. Scott, Social influence on travel behavior: a simulation example of the decision to telecommute, Environment and Planning A 39 (2007) 647– 665.
- [133] E. Molin, T. Arentze, H. Timmermans, Social activities and travel demand: model-based analysis of social network data, Transportation Research Record: Journal of the Transportation Research Board 2082 (2008) 168–175.
- [134] T. Arentze, H. Timmermans, Social networks, social interactions, and activitytravel behavior: a framework for microsimulation, Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design 35 (6) (2008) 1012–1027.
- [135] J.-A. Carrasco, E. J. Miller, The social dimension in action: a multilevel, personal networks model of social activity frequency, Transportation Research Part A: Policy and Practice 43 (2009) 90–104.
- [136] J. Hackney, F. Marchal, An agent model of social network and travel behavior interdependence, Transp. Res. Part A 45 (2011) 296–309.
- [137] N. Ronald, T. Arentze, H. Timmermans, Modeling social interactions between individuals for joint activity scheduling, Transportation research part B: methodological 46 (2012) 276–290.
- [138] F. Sharmeen, T. Arentze, H. Timmermans, Dynamics of face-to-face social interaction frequency: role of accessibility, urbanization, changes in geographical distance and path dependence, Journal of Transport Geography 34 (2014) 211– 220.
- [139] M. C. González, P. Lind, H. Herrmann, System of mobile agents to model social networks, Physical Review Letters 96 (8) (2006) 088702. arXiv:0602091.
- [140] P. A. Grabowicz, J. J. Ramasco, B. Gonçalves, V. M. Eguíluz, Entangling mobility and interactions in social media, PLoS One 9 (3) (2014) e92196.
- [141] J. L. Toole, C. Herrera-Yagüe, C. M. Schneider, M. C. González, Coupling social mobility and social ties, Journal of The Royal Society Interface 12 (2015) 20141128.
- [142] A. G. Wilson, A statistical theory of spatial distribution models, Transportation Research 1 (1967) 253–269.

- [143] D. McFadden, The measurement of urban travel demand, Journal of Public Economics 3 (1974) 303–328.
- [144] M. ben Akiva, S. R. Lerman, Discrete choice analysis: theory and application to travel demand, The MIT Press, 1985.
- [145] O. Sagarra, C. P. Vicente, A. Dïaz-Guilera, Statistical mechanics of multi-edge networks, Physical Review E 88 (2013) 062806.
- [146] O. Sagarra, C. P. Vicente, A. Díaz-Guilera, Role of adjacency-matrix degeneracy in maximum-entropy-weighted network models, Physical Review E 92 (2015) 052816.
- [147] Y. Ren, M. Ercsey-Ravasz, P. Wang, M. C. González, Z. Toroczkai, Predicting commuter flows in spatial networks using a radiation model based on temporal ranges, Nature Communications 5 (5347).
- [148] H. C. Carey, Principles of Social Science, Lippincott, 1858.
- [149] C. Thiemann, F. Theis, D. Grady, R. Brune, D. Brockmann, The structure of borders in a small world, PLoS ONE 5 (2010) e15422.
- [150] W.-S. Jung, F. Wang, H. E. Stanley, Gravity model in the korean highway, EPL (Europhysics Letters) 81 (4) (2008) 48005.
- [151] P. Kaluza, A. Kölzsch, M. T. Gastner, B. Blasius, The complex network of global cargo ship movements, Journal of The Royal Society Interface 7 (2010) 1093– 1103.
- [152] P. Expert, T. S. Evans, V. D. Blondel, R. Lambiotte, Uncovering spaceindependent communities in spatial networks, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 108 (19) (2011) 7663.
- [153] W. J. Reilly, The law of retail gravitation, William J. Reilly, New York, 1931.
- [154] P. McCullagh, J. A. Nelder, Generalized Linear Models, no. 37 in Monograph on Statistics and Applied Probability, Chapman and Hall, London, UK, 1989.
- [155] X. Li, H. Tian, D. Lai, Z. Zhang, Validation of the gravity model in predicting the global spread of influenza, International journal of environmental research and public health 8 (2011) 3134–3143.
- [156] M. Lenormand, S. Huet, F. Gargiulo, G. Deffuant, A Universal Model of Commuting Networks, PLoS ONE 7 (2012) e45985.
- [157] M. Lenormand, A. Bassolas, J. J. Ramasco, Systematic comparison of trip distribution laws and models, Journal of Transport Geography 51 (2016) 158–169.
- [158] S. Erlander, N. F. Stewart, The Gravity model in transportation analysis: theory and extensions, Topics in transportation, VSP, Utrecht, The Netherlands, 1990.

- [159] A. G. Wilson, Urban and regional models in geography and planning, Wiley, New York, 1970.
- [160] D. Karemera, V. I. Oguledo, B. Davis, A gravity model analysis of international migration to north america, Applied Economics 32 (13) (2000) 1745–1755.
- [161] R. Patuelli, A. Reggiani, S. P. Gorman, P. Nijkamp, F.-J. Bade, Network analysis of commuting flows: A comparative static approach to german data, Networks and Spatial Economics 7 (2007) 315–331.
- [162] Y. Xia, O. N. Bjørnstad, B. T. Grenfell, Measles metapopulation dynamics: A gravity model for epidemiological coupling and dynamics, The American Naturalist 164 (2004) 267–281.
- [163] C. Viboud, O. N. Bjørnstad, D. L. Smith, L. Simonsen, M. A. Miller, B. T. Grenfell, Synchrony, Waves, and Spatial Hierarchies in the Spread of Influenza, Science 312 (2006) 447–451.
- [164] D. Balcan, V. Colizza, B. Goncalves, H. Hu, J. J. Ramasco, A. Vespignani, Multiscale mobility networks and the spatial spreading of infectious diseases, Proceedings National Academy of Science USA 106 (2009) 21484–21489.
- [165] D. Balcan, V. Colizza, B. Gonçalves, H. Hu, J. J. Ramasco, A. Vespignani, Modeling the spatial spread of infectious diseases: The global epidemic and mobility computational model, Journal of Computational Science 1 (2010) 132.
- [166] A. P. Masucci, J. Serras, A. Johansson, M. Batty, Gravity versus radiation models: On the importance of scale and heterogeneity in commuting flows, Physical Review E 88 (2013) 022812.
- [167] W. E. Deming, F. F. Stephan, On a least squares adjustment of a sample frequency table when the expected marginal totals are known, Annals of Mathematical Statistics 11 (1940) 427–444.
- [168] A. G. Wilson, Entropy in urban and regional modelling, London: Pion, 1970.
- [169] S.-H. Cha, Comprehensive survey on distance/similarity measures between probability density functions, City 1 (2) (2007) 1.
- [170] R. Flowerdew, M. Aitkin, A method of fitting the gravity model based on the poisson distribution, Journal of Regional Science 22 (2) (1982) 191–202.
- [171] J. A. Nelder, R. J. Baker, Generalized linear models, Encyclopedia of Statistical Sciences.
- [172] M. Schneider, Gravity models and trip distribution theory, Papers of the regional science association 5 (1959) 51–58.
- [173] K. E. Heanue, C. E. Pyers, A comparative evaluation of trip distribution procedures, Highway Research Record 114 (1966) 20–50.

- [174] E. R. Ruiter, Toward a better understanding of the intervening opportunities model, Transportation Research 1 (1967) 47–56.
- [175] K. E. Haynes, D. L. Poston Jr, P. Schnirring, Intermetropolitan migration in high and low opportunity areas: Indirect tests of the distance and intervening opportunities hypotheses, Economic Geography 49 (1) (1973) 68–73.
- [176] T. J. Fik, G. F. Mulligan, Spatial flows and competing central places: Toward a general theory of hierarchical interaction, Environment and Planning A 22 (1990) 527–549.
- [177] S. Akwawua, J. A. Poller, The development of an intervening opportunities model with spatial dominance effects, Journal of Geographical Systems 3 (2001) 69–86.
- [178] D. K. Witheford, Comparison of trip distribution by opportunity model and gravity model, Pittsburgh Area Transportation Study, 1961.
- [179] C. E. Pyers, Evaluation of intervening opportunities trip distribution models, Highway Research Record 114 (114) (1966) 71–88.
- [180] H. C. Lawson, J. A. Dearinger, A comparison of four work trip distribution models, Proceedings of American Society of Civil Engineering 93 (1967) 1–25.
- [181] F. Zhao, L.-F. Chow, M.-T. Li, A. Gan, S. D. L., Refinement of FSUTMS trip distribution methodology, Tech. rep., Technical Memorandum 3, Florida International University (2001).
- [182] R. Eash, Development of a doubly constrained intervening opportunities model for trip distribution, no. 84, Chicago Area Transportation Study, 1984.
- [183] M. J. Wills, A flexible gravity-opportunities model for trip distribution, Transportation Research 20B (1986) 89–111.
- [184] M. B. Gonçalves, I. Ulyssea-Neto, The development of a new gravityopportunity model for trip distribution, Environment and Planning A 25 (1993) 817–826.
- [185] F. Simini, A. Maritan, Z. Néda, Human mobility in a continuum approach, PLoS ONE 8 (3) (2013) e60069.
- [186] Y. Yang, C. Herrera, N. Eagle, M. C. González, Limits of predictability in commuting flows in the absence of data for calibration, Scientific Reports 4 (5662).
- [187] G. Carra, I. Mulalic, M. Fosgerau, M. Barthelemy, Modeling the relation between income and commuting distance, Journal of the Royal Society Interface 13 (2016) 20160306.
- [188] S. Boccaletti, G. Bianconi, R. Criado, C. I. Del Genio, J. Gómez-Gardenes, M. Romance, I. Sendina-Nadal, Z. Wang, M. Zanin, The structure and dynamics of multilayer networks, Physics Reports 544 (2014) 1–122.

- [189] M. Kivelä, A. Arenas, M. Barthelemy, J. P. Gleeson, Y. Moreno, M. A. Porter, Multilayer networks, Journal of Complex Networks 2 (2014) 203.
- [190] R. Gallotti, M. Barthelemy, The multilayer temporal network of public transport in great britain, Scientific Data 2 (2015) 140056.
- [191] J. Feng, X. Li, B. Mao, Q. Xu, Y. Bai, Weighted complex network analysis of the beijing subway, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 474 (2017) 213–223.
- [192] V. Latora, M. Marchiori, Is the boston subway a small-world network?, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 314 (2002) 109–113.
- [193] P. Angeloudis, D. Fisk, Large subway systems as complex networks, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 367 (2006) 553–558.
- [194] W. Guo, X. Lu, London underground: Neighbourhood centrality and relation to urban geography, in: 2016 IEEE International Smart Cities Conference (ISC2), Trento, Italy, 2016, pp. 1–7.
- [195] S. Derrible, C. Kennedy, The complexity and robustness of metro networks, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 389 (2010) 3678–3691.
- [196] K. Lee, W.-S. Jung, J. S. Park, M. Choi, Statistical analysis of the metropolitan seoul subway system: Network structure and passenger flows, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 387 (2008) 6231–6234.
- [197] X. Xu, J. Hu, F. Liu, L. Liu, Scaling and correlations in three bus-transport networks of china, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 374 (2007) 441–448.
- [198] Y.-Z. Chen, N. Li, D.-R. He, A study on some urban bus transport networks, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 376 (2007) 747–754.
- [199] J. Sienkiewicz, J. A. Hołyst, Statistical analysis of 22 public transport networks in poland, Physical Review E 72 (2005) 046127.
- [200] K. A. Seaton, L. M. Hackett, Stations, trains and small-world networks, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 339 (2004) 635–644.
- [201] P. Sen, S. Dasgupta, A. Chatterjee, P. A. Sreeram, G. Mukherjee, S. S. Manna, Small-world properties of the indian railway network, Physical Review E 67 (2003) 036106.
- [202] C. von Ferber, T. Holovatch, Y. Holovatch, V. Palchykov, Public transport networks: empirical analysis and modeling, The European Physical Journal B 68 (2009) 261–275.
- [203] M. Kurant, P. Thiran, Layered complex networks, Physical review letters 96 (2006) 138701.

- [204] M. Kurant, P. Thiran, Extraction and analysis of traffic and topologies of transportation networks, Physical Review E 74 (2006) 036114.
- [205] M. De Domenico, A. Solé-Ribalta, E. Cozzo, M. Kivelä, Y. Moreno, M. A. Porter, S. Gómez, A. Arenas, Mathematical formulation of multilayer networks, Physical Review X 3 (2013) 041022.
- [206] S. Gomez, A. Diaz-Guilera, J. Gomez-Gardenes, C. J. Perez-Vicente, Y. Moreno, A. Arenas, Diffusion dynamics on multiplex networks, Physical review letters 110 (2013) 028701.
- [207] A. Solé-Ribalta, S. Gómez, A. Arenas, Congestion induced by the structure of multiplex networks, Physical review letters 116 (2016) 108701.
- [208] M. De Domenico, A. Solé-Ribalta, S. Gómez, A. Arenas, Navigability of interconnected networks under random failures, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 111 (2014) 8351–8356.
- [209] F. Battiston, V. Nicosia, V. Latora, Efficient exploration of multiplex networks, New Journal of Physics 18 (2016) 043035.
- [210] F. Radicchi, A. Arenas, Abrupt transition in the structural formation of interconnected networks, Nature Physics 9 (2013) 717–720.
- [211] M. Diakonova, J. J. Ramasco, V. Eguíluz, Dynamical leaps due to microscopic changes in multilayer networks, EPL 117 (2017) 48004.
- [212] L. Alessandretti, M. Karsai, L. Gauvin, User-based representation of timeresolved multimodal public transportation networks, Royal Society Open Science 3.
- [213] E. Strano, S. Shai, S. Dobson, M. Barthelemy, Multiplex networks in metropolitan areas: generic features and local effects, Journal of The Royal Society Interface 12 (2015) 20150651.
- [214] A. Aleta, S. Meloni, Y. Moreno, A multilayer perspective for the analysis of urban transportation systems, arXiv 1607.00072.
- [215] D. Helbing, A. Johansson, Pedestrian, Crowd, and Evacuation Dynamics, Arxiv e-print, arXiv: 1309.1609.
- [216] D. Helbing, Traffic and related self-driven many-particle systems, Reviews of Modern Physics 73 (4) (2001) 1067–1141.
- [217] Z. Zainuddin, M. M. Shuaib, I. M. Abu-Sulyman, The Characteristics of the Factors that Govern the Preferred Force in the Social Force Model of Pedestrian Movement, International Journal of Mathematical, Computational, Physical, Electrical and Computer Engineering 4 (2) (2010) 316 – 320.
- [218] T. Vicsek, A. Zafeiris, Collective motion, Physics Reports 517 (2012) 71–140.

- [219] R. Benenson, M. Omran, J. Hosang, B. Schiele, Ten years of pedestrian detection, what have we learned?, in: Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 8926, 2014, pp. 613–627.
- [220] K. Cao, Y. Chen, D. Stuart, D. Yue, K. Cao, Y. Chen, D. Stuart, D. Yue, Cyberphysical modeling and control of crowd of pedestrians: A review and new framework, IEEE/CAA Journal of Automatica Sinica 2 (3) (2015) 334–344.
- [221] R. L. Hughes, A continuum theory for the flow of pedestrians, Transportation Research Part B: Methodological 36 (6) (2002) 507–535.
- [222] D. Helbing, A. Johansson, J. Mathiesen, M. H. Jensen, A. Hansen, Analytical Approach to Continuous and Intermittent Bottleneck Flows, Physical Review Letters 97 (16) (2006) 168001.
- [223] J. A. Carrillo, S. Martin, M.-T. Wolfram, A local version of the Hughes model for pedestrian flow, Arxiv e-print, arXiv:1501.07054.
- [224] D. Helbing, I. Farkas, T. Vicsek, Simulating dynamical features of escape panic, Nature 407 (6803) (2000) 487–490.
- [225] D. Helbing, P. Molnár, Social force model for pedestrian dynamics, Physical Review E 51 (5) (1995) 4282–4286.
- [226] D. Helbing, P. Molnár, I. J. Farkas, K. Bolay, Self-Organizing Pedestrian Movement, Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design 28 (3) (2001) 361– 383.
- [227] D. Helbing, A. Johansson, H. Z. Al-Abideen, Dynamics of crowd disasters: An empirical study, Physical Review E 75 (4) (2007) 046109.
- [228] W. Sikora, J. Malinowski, A. Kupczak, Model of skyscraper evacuation with the use of space symmetry and fluid dynamic approximation, in: Lecture Notes in Computer Science, Vol. 7204, 2012, pp. 924–932.
- [229] D. R. Parisi, P. A. Negri, Sequential evacuation strategy for multiple rooms toward the same means of egress, Papers in Physics 6 (0) (2014) 060013.
- [230] J. Chen, J. Ma, S. M. Lo, Modeling pedestrian evacuation movement in a swaying ship, Arxiv e-print, arXiv:1511.04686.
- [231] A. Kirchner, K. Nishinari, A. Schadschneider, Friction effects and clogging in a cellular automaton model for pedestrian dynamics, Physical Review E 67 (5) (2003) 056122.
- [232] A. Johansson, D. Helbing, H. Z. Al-Abideen, S. Al-Bosta, From Crowd Dynamics to Crowd Safety: A Video-Based Analysis, Advances in Complex Systems 11 (2008) 497–527.

- [233] M. Batty, J. Desyllas, E. Duxbury, Safety in Numbers? Modelling Crowds and Designing Control for the Notting Hill Carnival, Urban Studies 40 (8) (2003) 1573–1590.
- [234] G. Lämmel, D. Grether, K. Nagel, The representation and implementation of time-dependent inundation in large-scale microscopic evacuation simulations, Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies 18 (1) (2010) 84–98.
- [235] B. Kunwar, F. Simini, A. Johansson, Large Scale Pedestrian Evacuation Modeling Framework Using Volunteered Geographical Information, Transportation Research Procedia 2 (2014) 813–818.
- [236] B. Kunwar, F. Simini, A. Johansson, Evacuation time estimate for a total pedestrian evacuation using queuing network model and volunteered geographic information, Arxiv e-print, arXiv: 1512.03087.
- [237] J. L. Silverberg, M. Bierbaum, J. P. Sethna, I. Cohen, Collective Motion of Humans in Mosh and Circle Pits at Heavy Metal Concerts, Physical Review Letters 110 (22) (2013) 228701.
- [238] A. Johansson, M. Batty, K. Hayashi, O. Al Bar, D. Marcozzi, Z. A. Memish, Crowd and environmental management during mass gatherings, The Lancet Infectious Diseases 12 (2) (2012) 150–156.
- [239] W. J. Yu, R. Chen, L. Y. Dong, S. Q. Dai, Centrifugal force model for pedestrian dynamics, Physical Review E 72 (2) (2005) 026112.
- [240] W. Yu, A. Johansson, Modeling crowd turbulence by many-particle simulations, Physical Review E 76 (4) (2007) 046105.
- [241] M. Chraibi, A. Seyfried, A. Schadschneider, Generalized centrifugal-force model for pedestrian dynamics, Physical Review E 82 (4) (2010) 046111.
- [242] M. Moussaïd, D. Helbing, S. Garnier, A. Johansson, M. Combe, G. Theraulaz, Experimental study of the behavioural mechanisms underlying self-organization in human crowds, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 276 (1668) (2009) 2755–2762.
- [243] M. Moussaïd, D. Helbing, G. Theraulaz, How simple rules determine pedestrian behavior and crowd disasters, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 108 (17) (2011) 6884–6888.
- [244] A. Johansson, Constant-net-time headway as a key mechanism behind pedestrian flow dynamics, Physical Review E 80 (2) (2009) 026120.
- [245] F. Dietrich, G. Köster, Gradient navigation model for pedestrian dynamics, Physical Review E 89 (6) (2014) 062801.
- [246] A. Colombi, M. Scianna, A. Tosin, Moving in a crowd: human perception as a multiscale process, Arxiv e-print, arXiv: 1502.01375.

- [247] P. Degond, J. Pettré, S. Donikian, C. Appert-Rolland, A. Jelić, S. Lemercier, J. Hua, J. Narski, J. Fehrenbach, Time-delayed follow-the-leader model for pedestrians walking in line, Networks and Heterogeneous Media 10 (3) (2015) 579–608.
- [248] B. Steffen, A Modification of the Social Force Model by Foresight, Arxiv eprint, arXiv: 0912.0634.
- [249] L. Gulikers, J. Evers, A. Muntean, A. Lyulin, The effect of perception anisotropy on particle systems describing pedestrian flows in corridors, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2013 (04) (2013) P04025.
- [250] M. Chraibi, Oscillating behavior within the social force model, Arxiv e-print, arXiv:1412.1133.
- [251] M. Chraibi, T. Ezaki, A. Tordeux, K. Nishinari, A. Schadschneider, A. Seyfried, Jamming transitions in force-based models for pedestrian dynamics, Physical Review E 92 (4) (20015) 042809.
- [252] G. Köster, F. Treml, M. Gödel, Avoiding numerical pitfalls in social force models, Physical Review E 87 (6) (2013) 063305.
- [253] S. B. Dutta, R. McLeod, M. Friesen, GPU Accelerated Nature Inspired Methods for Modelling Large Scale Bi-directional Pedestrian Movement, in: Proceedings of the 2014 IEEE International Parallel & Distributed Processing Symposium Workshops, IPDPSW '14, IEEE Computer Society, 2014, pp. 448–456.
- [254] D. Yanagisawa, A. Kimura, A. Tomoeda, R. Nishi, Y. Suma, K. Ohtsuka, K. Nishinari, Introduction of Frictional and Turning Function for Pedestrian Outflow with an Obstacle, Physical Review E 80 (3).
- [255] T. Ezaki, D. Yanagisawa, K. Nishinari, Pedestrian flow through multiple bottlenecks, Physical Review E 86 (2) (2014) 026118.
- [256] J. Cividini, C. Appert-Rolland, H.-J. Hilhorst, Diagonal patterns and chevron effect in intersecting traffic flows, EPL (Europhysics Letters) 102 (2) (2013) 20002.
- [257] E. Kirik, T. 'yana Yurgel'yan, D. Krouglov, The shortest time and/or the shortest path strategies in a CA FF pedestrian dynamics model, Arxiv e-print, arXiv: 0906.4265.
- [258] S. Sarmady, F. Haron, A. Z. Talib, Simulating Crowd Movements Using Fine Grid Cellular Automata, in: 2010 12th International Conference on Computer Modelling and Simulation (UKSim), 2010, pp. 428–433.
- [259] P. C. Tissera, A. Castro, A. M. Printista, E. Luque, Simulating Behaviours to face up an Emergency Evacuation, Arxiv e-print, arXiv: 1401.5209.

- [260] U. Chattaraj, A. Seyfried, P. Chakroborty, Comparison of pedestrian fundamental diagram across cultures, Advances in Complex Systems 12 (03) (2009) 393– 405.
- [261] A. Portz, A. Seyfried, Analyzing stop-and-go waves by experiments and modeling, in: R. Peacock, E. Kuligowski, J. Averill (Eds.), Pedestrian and Evacuation Dynamics, Springer US, New York, US, 2011, pp. 577–586.
- [262] T. Kretz, J. Lohmiller, J. Schlaich, The Social Force Model and its Relation to the Kladek Formula, Arxiv e-print, arXiv: 1512.01426.
- [263] M. Moussaïd, N. Perozo, S. Garnier, D. Helbing, G. Theraulaz, The Walking Behaviour of Pedestrian Social Groups and Its Impact on Crowd Dynamics, PLoS ONE 5 (4) (2010) e10047.
- [264] J. Zhang, A. Seyfried, Quantification of Bottleneck Effects for Different Types of Facilities, Transportation Research Procedia 2 (2014) 51–59.
- [265] T. Ducourant, S. Vieilledent, Y. Kerlirzin, A. Berthoz, Timing and distance characteristics of interpersonal coordination during locomotion, Neuroscience Letters 389 (1) (2005) 6–11.
- [266] M. Moussaïd, E. G. Guillot, M. Moreau, J. Fehrenbach, O. Chabiron, S. Lemercier, J. Pettré, C. Appert-Rolland, P. Degond, G. Theraulaz, Traffic Instabilities in Self-Organized Pedestrian Crowds, PLoS Computational Biology 8 (3) (2012) e1002442.
- [267] M. Bukáček, P. Hrabák, M. Krbálek, Experimental analysis of two-dimensional pedestrian flow in front of the bottleneck, in: Procs. Traffic and Granular Flow'13, 2014, pp. 93–101.
- [268] A. Corbetta, C.-m. Lee, A. Muntean, F. Toschi, Asymmetric pedestrian dynamics on a staircase landing from continuous measurements, Arxiv e-print, arXiv: 1511.04735.
- [269] A. Jelić, C. Appert-Rolland, S. Lemercier, J. Pettré, Properties of pedestrians walking in line: Fundamental diagrams, Physical Review E 85 (3) (2012) 036111.
- [270] J. Zhang, W. Klingsch, A. Schadschneider, A. Seyfried, Experimental study of pedestrian flow through a t-junction, in: Procs. Traffic and Granular Flow'11, 2013, pp. 241–249.
- [271] J. Zhang, A. Tordeux, A. Seyfried, Effects of Boundary Conditions on Single-File Pedestrian Flow, Arxiv e-print, arXiv: 1508.06768 8751 (2014) 462–469.
- [272] J. Zhang, A. Seyfried, Comparison of intersecting pedestrian flows based on experiments, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 405 (2014) 316–325.

- [273] R. Guimera, S. Mossa, A. Turtschi, L. N. Amaral, The worldwide air transportation network: Anomalous centrality, community structure, and cities' global roles, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 102 (2005) 7794–7799.
- [274] P. Belobaba, A. Odoni, C. Barnhart, The Global Airline Industry, 1st Edition, Wiley, 2009.
- [275] A. Cook, European Air Traffic Management: Principles, Practice, and Research, Ashgate Publishing, Ltd., 2007.
- [276] R. Guimerá, L. a. N. Amaral, Modeling the world-wide airport network, The European Physical Journal B - Condensed Matter and Complex Systems 38 (2) (2004) 381–385.
- [277] A. Barrat, M. Barthelemy, R. Pastor-Satorras, A. Vespignani, The architecture of complex weighted networks, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101 (11) (2004) 3747–3752. arXiv:15007165.
- [278] W. Li, X. Cai, Statistical analysis of airport network of China, Physical Review E 69 (2004) 046106.
- [279] L. E. C. da Rocha, Structural evolution of the Brazilian airport network, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2009 (2009) P04020.
- [280] A. Lancichinetti, F. Radicchi, J. J. Ramasco, S. Fortunato, Finding Statistically Significant Communities in Networks, PLoS ONE 6 (4) (2011) e18961.
- [281] T. Verma, N. A. Araújo, H. J. Herrmann, Revealing the structure of the world airline network, Scientific Reports 4 (2014) 5638.
- [282] A. Cardillo, M. Zanin, J. Gómez-Gardeñes, M. Romance, A. J. G. del Amo, S. Boccaletti, Modeling the multi-layer nature of the European Air Transport Network: Resilience and passengers re-scheduling under random failures, The European Physical Journal Special Topics 215 (2013) 23–33.
- [283] M. Zanin, F. Lillo, Modelling the air transport with complex networks: A short review, European Physics Journal Special Topics 215 (2013) 5–21.
- [284] P. Fleurquin, B. Campanelli, V. M. Eguiluz, J. J. Ramasco, Trees of reactionary delay: Addressing the dynamical robustness of the us air transportation network, in: Procs. 4th SESAR Innovation Days, 2014.
- [285] R. Beatty, R. Hsu, J. A. Rome, Preliminary Evaluation of Flight Delay Propagation Through an Airline Schedule, Air Traffic Control Quarterly 7 (4).
- [286] A. J. Cook, G. Tanner, European airline delay cost reference values, Tech. rep., Performance Review Unit, Eurocontrol (2011).
- [287] J. E. Committee, Your flight has been delayed again: Flight delays cost passengers, airlines and the U.S. economy billions, Tech. rep., US Congress (2008).

- [288] V. S. Folkes, S. Koletsky, J. L. Graham, A field study of casual inferences and consumer reaction: The view from the airport, Journal of Consumer Research 13 (1987) 534–539.
- [289] C. Mayer, T. Sinai, Network Effects, Congestion Externalities, and Air Traffic Delays: Or Why All Delays Are Not Evil, American Economic Review 93 (2003) 1194–1215.
- [290] N. G. Rupp, Further investigations into the causes of flight delays, Tech. rep., Working paper, Department of Economy, East Carolina University). Available online at http://www.ecu.edu/cs-educ/econ/upload/ecu0707.pdf (2007).
- [291] S. AhmadBeygi, A. Cohn, Y. Guan, P. Belobaba, Analysis of the potential for delay propagation in passenger airline networks, Journal of Air Transport Management 14 (5) (2008) 221–236.
- [292] P. Bonnefoy, R. J. Hansman, Scalability and Evolutionary Dynamics of Air Transportation Networks in the United States, in: Procs. 7th AIAA Aviation Technology, Integration and Operations Conference (ATIO), 2007.
- [293] P. T. Wang, L. A. Schaefer, L. A. Wojcik, Flight connections and their impacts on delay propagation, in: Digital Avionics Systems Conference, 2003. DASC '03. The 22nd, Vol. 1, 2003, pp. 5.B.4–5.1–9.
- [294] C.-L. Wu, R. E. Caves, Aircraft operational costs and turnaround efficiency at airports, Journal of Air Transport Management 6 (2000) 201–208.
- [295] S. S. Allan, J. A. Beesley, J. E. Evans, S. G. Gaddy, Analysis of delay causality at newark international airport, in: Procs. 4th USA/Europe Air Traffic Management R & D Seminar, 2001.
- [296] M. Jetzki, The propagation of air transport delays in Europe, Ph.D. thesis, Department of Airport and Air Transportation Research RWTH, Aachen University (2009).
- [297] A. Churchill, D. Lovell, M. Ball, Examining the temporal evolution of propagated delays at individual airports: Case studies, in: Procs. 7th USA/Europe Air Traffic Management R & D Seminar, 2007.
- [298] P. Fleurquin, J. J. Ramasco, V. M. Eguiluz, Systemic delay propagation in the US airport network, Scientific Reports 3 (2013) 1159.
- [299] L. Lacasa, M. Cea, M. Zanin, Jamming transition in air transportation networks, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 388 (18) (2009) 3948– 3954.
- [300] D. R. Wuellner, S. Roy, R. M. D'Souza, Resilience and rewiring of the passenger airline networks in the United States, Physical Review E 82 (2010) 056101.
- [301] T. Ezaki, K. Nishinari, Potential global jamming transition in aviation networks, Physical Review E 90 (2014) 022807.

- [302] O. Lordan, J. M. Sallan, P. Simo, Study of the topology and robustness of airline route networks from the complex network approach: a survey and research agenda, Journal of Transport Geography 37 (2014) 112–120.
- [303] L. Schaefer, D. Millner, Flight delay propagation analysis with the Detailed Policy Assessment Tool, in: 2001 IEEE International Conference on Systems, Man, and Cybernetics, Vol. 2, 2001, pp. 1299–1303 vol.2.
- [304] J. M. Rosenberg, A. J. Schaefer, D. Goldsman, E. L. Johnson, A. Kleywegt, G. L. Nemhauser, A stochastic model of airline operations, Transportation Science 2002 (2002) 357–377.
- [305] M. Janić, Modeling the Large Scale Disruptions of an Airline Network, Journal of Transportation Engineering 131 (2005) 249–260.
- [306] N. Pyrgiotis, K. M. Malone, A. Odoni, Modelling delay propagation within an airport network, Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies 27 (2013) 60–75.
- [307] B. Campanelli, P. Fleurquin, C. Ciruelos, A. Arranz, V. M. Eguiluz, J. J. Ramasco, Modelling delay propagation trees for scheduled flights, in: Procs. 5th Sesar Innovation Days, 2015.
- [308] A. Fremont, Global maritime networks: The case of maersk, Journal of Transport Geography 15 (2007) 431–442.
- [309] Y. Hu, D. Zhu, Empirical analysis of the worldwide maritime transportation network, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 388 (2009) 2061– 2071.
- [310] C. Ducruet, Network diversity and maritime flows, Journal of Transport Geography 30 (2013) 77–88.
- [311] O. Woolley-Meza, C. Thiemann, D. Grady, J. J. Lee, H. Seebens, B. Blasius, D. Brockmann, Complexity in human transportation networks: a comparative analysis of worldwide air transportation and global cargo-ship movements, The European Physical Journal B 84 (2011) 589–600.
- [312] R. P. Keller, J. M. Drake, M. B. Drew, D. M. Lodge, Linking environmental conditions and ship movements to estimate invasive species transport across the global shipping network, Diversity and Distributions 17 (2010) 93–102.
- [313] H. Seebens, M. T. Gastner, B. Blasius, The risk of marine bioinvasion caused by global shipping, Ecology Letters 16 (2013) 782–790.
- [314] M. Adnan, P. A. Longley, S. M. Khan, Social dynamics of Twitter usage in London, Paris, and New York City, First Monday 19 (5).
- [315] R. Louf, M. Barthelemy, Modeling the Polycentric Transition of Cities, Physical Review Letters 111 (19) (2013) 198702.

- [316] L. Sun, K. W. Axhausen, D.-H. Lee, X. Huang, Understanding metropolitan patterns of daily encounters, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 110 (34) (2013) 13774–13779.
- [317] F. S. Chapin, Human activity patterns in the city: things people do in time and in space, Wiley, New York, 1974.
- [318] S. Hanson, G. Giuliano, The Geography of Urban Transportation, Guilford Press, 2004.
- [319] R. G. Golledge, R. J. Stimson, Spatial Behavior: A Geographic Perspective, Guilford Press, 1997.
- [320] C. Ratti, D. Frenchman, R. M. Pulselli, S. Williams, Mobile Landscapes: Using Location Data from Cell Phones for Urban Analysis, Environment and Planning B: Planning and Design 33 (5) (2006) 727–748.
- [321] F. Calabrese, C. Ratti, Real time rome, Networks and Communication studies 20 (3-4) (2006) 247–258.
- [322] J. Reades, F. Calabrese, A. Sevtsuk, C. Ratti, Cellular Census: Explorations in Urban Data Collection, IEEE Pervasive Computing 6 (3) (2007) 30–38.
- [323] F. Girardin, F. Calabrese, F. D. Fiore, C. Ratti, J. Blat, Digital Footprinting: Uncovering Tourists with User-Generated Content, IEEE Pervasive Computing 7 (4) (2008) 36–43.
- [324] A.-M. Olteanu Raimond, T. Couronné, J. Feng-Chong, Z. Smoreda, Le Paris des visiteurs étrangers, qu'en disent les téléphones mobiles ? Inférence des pratiques spatiales et fréquentations des sites touristiques en Île-de-France, Revue internationale de géomatique 22 (3) (2012) 413–437.
- [325] J. Fen-Chong, Organisation spatio-temporelle des mobilités révélées par la téléphonie mobile en ile-de-france, Ph.D. thesis, Université Panthéon-Sorbonne - Paris I (2012).
- [326] W.-H. Chong, B. T. Dai, E.-P. Lim, Not All Trips Are Equal: Analyzing Foursquare Check-ins of Trips and City Visitors, in: Proceedings of the 2015 ACM on Conference on Online Social Networks, COSN '15, ACM, New York, NY, USA, 2015, pp. 173–184.
- [327] F. Calabrese, M. Diao, G. Di Lorenzo, J. Ferreira Jr., C. Ratti, Understanding individual mobility patterns from urban sensing data: A mobile phone trace example, Transportation Research Part C: Emerging Technologies 26 (2013) 301– 313.
- [328] S. Desu, Untangling the effects of residential segregation on individual mobility, Ph.D. thesis, MIT (2016).
- [329] C. Roth, S. M. Kang, M. Batty, M. Barthélemy, Structure of Urban Movements: Polycentric Activity and Entangled Hierarchical Flows, PLoS ONE 6 (1) (2011) e15923.
- [330] T. Louail, M. Lenormand, O. G. Cantu Ros, M. Picornell, R. Herranz, E. Frias-Martinez, J. J. Ramasco, M. Barthelemy, From mobile phone data to the spatial structure of cities, Scientific Reports 4.
- [331] R. Gallotti, A. Bazzani, S. Rambaldi, M. Barthelemy, A stochastic model of randomly accelerated walkers for human mobility, arXiv:1509.03752 [cond-mat, physics:physics].
- [332] R. Gallotti, A. Bazzani, S. Rambaldi, Understanding the variability of daily travel-time expenditures using GPS trajectory data, EPJ Data Science 4 (1) (2015) 1–14.
- [333] T. Louail, M. Lenormand, M. Picornell, O. García Cantú, R. Herranz, E. Frias-Martinez, J. J. Ramasco, M. Barthelemy, Uncovering the spatial structure of mobility networks, Nature Communications 6 (2015) 6007.
- [334] C. Kang, X. Ma, D. Tong, Y. Liu, Intra-urban human mobility patterns: An urban morphology perspective, Physica A: Statistical Mechanics and its Applications 391 (4) (2012) 1702–1717.
- [335] A. Lima, R. Stanojevic, D. Papagianniaki, P. Rodriguez, M. C. Gonzalez, Understanding individual routing behaviour, Journal of The Royal Society Interface.
- [336] R. Gallotti, M. A. Porter, M. Barthelemy, Lost in transportation: Information measures and cognitive limits in multilayer navigation, Science Advances 2 (2) (2016) e1500445.
- [337] O. Diekmann, J. A. P. Heesterbeek, Mathematical Epidemiology of Infectious Diseases: Model Building, Analysis and Interpretation, John Wiley & Sons, 2000.
- [338] M. J. Keeling, P. Rohani, Modeling Infectious Diseases in Humans and Animals, Princeton University Press, 2008.
- [339] A. J. Tatem, Mapping population and pathogen movements, International Health 6 (2014) 5–11.
- [340] R. Pastor-Satorras, C. Castellano, P. Van Mieghem, A. Vespignani, Epidemic processes in complex networks, Reviews of Modern Physics 87 (2015) 925– 979.
- [341] D. Brockmann, D. Helbing, The Hidden Geometry of Complex, Network-Driven Contagion Phenomena, Science 342 (2013) 1337–1342.
- [342] L. A. Rvachev, I. M. Longini, A mathematical model for the global spread of influenza, Mathematical Biosciences 75 (1) (1985) 3–22.

- [343] A. Flahault, A.-J. Valleron, A method for assessing the global spread of HIV-1 infection based on air travel, Mathematical Population Studies 3 (1992) 161– 171.
- [344] L. Hufnagel, D. Brockmann, T. Geisel, Forecast and control of epidemics in a globalized world, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 101 (2004) 15124–15129.
- [345] R. F. Grais, J. H. Ellis, G. E. Glass, Assessing the impact of airline travel on the geographic spread of pandemic influenza, European Journal of Epidemiology 18 (2003) 1065–1072.
- [346] V. Colizza, A. Barrat, M. Barthélemy, A. Vespignani, The role of the airline transportation network in the prediction and predictability of global epidemics, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103 (2006) 2015–2020.
- [347] M. Tizzoni, P. Bajardi, C. Poletto, J. J. Ramasco, D. Balcan, B. Gonçalves, N. Perra, V. Colizza, A. Vespignani, Real-time numerical forecast of global epidemic spreading: case study of 2009 A/H1N1pdm, BMC Medicine 10 (2012) 165.
- [348] C. T. Bauch, J. O. Lloyd-Smith, M. P. Coffee, A. P. Galvani, Dynamically modeling sars and other newly emerging respiratory illnesses: past, present, and future, Epidemiology 16 (2005) 791–801.
- [349] Z. Huang, A. J. Tatem, Global malaria connectivity through air travel, Malaria Journal 12 (2013) 269.
- [350] K. E. Jones, N. G. Patel, M. A. Levy, A. Storeygard, D. Balk, J. L. Gittleman, P. Daszak, Global trends in emerging infectious diseases, Nature 451 (2008) 990–993.
- [351] M. F. C. Gomes, A. Pastore y Piontti, L. Rossi, D. Chao, I. Longini, M. E. Halloran, A. Vespignani, Assessing the International Spreading Risk Associated with the 2014 West African Ebola Outbreak, PLoS Currents.
- [352] G. Lawyer, Measuring the potential of individual airports for pandemic spread over the world airline network, BMC Infectious Diseases 16 (2016) 70.
- [353] N. M. Ferguson, D. A. T. Cummings, S. Cauchemez, C. Fraser, S. Riley, A. Meeyai, S. Iamsirithaworn, D. S. Burke, Strategies for containing an emerging influenza pandemic in Southeast Asia, Nature 437 (2005) 209–214.
- [354] P. M. imon, J. Esser, K. Nagel, Simple queuing model applied to the city of portland, International Journal of Modern Physics 10 (1999) 941–960.
- [355] S. Eubank, H. Guclu, V. S. Anil Kumar, M. V. Marathe, A. Srinivasan, Z. Toroczkai, N. Wang, Modelling disease outbreaks in realistic urban social networks, Nature 429 (2004) 180–184.

- [356] I. M. Longini, A. Nizam, S. Xu, K. Ungchusak, W. Hanshaoworakul, D. A. T. Cummings, M. E. Halloran, Containing Pandemic Influenza at the Source, Science 309 (2005) 1083–1087.
- [357] N. M. Ferguson, D. A. T. Cummings, C. Fraser, J. C. Cajka, P. C. Cooley, D. S. Burke, Strategies for mitigating an influenza pandemic, Nature 442 (2006) 448– 452.
- [358] T. C. Germann, K. Kadau, I. M. Longini, C. A. Macken, Mitigation strategies for pandemic influenza in the United States, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 103 (2006) 5935–5940.
- [359] M. E. Halloran, N. M. Ferguson, S. Eubank, I. M. Longini, D. A. T. Cummings, B. Lewis, S. Xu, C. Fraser, A. Vullikanti, T. C. Germann, D. Wagener, R. Beckman, K. Kadau, C. Barrett, C. A. Macken, D. S. Burke, P. Cooley, Modeling targeted layered containment of an influenza pandemic in the United States, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America 105 (2008) 4639–4644.
- [360] M. Ajelli, S. Merler, The impact of the unstructured contacts component in influenza pandemic modeling, PLoS 3 (e1519) (2008) 1337–1342.
- [361] M. Ajelli, B. Gonçalves, D. Balcan, V. Colizza, H. Hu, J. J. Ramasco, S. Merler, A. Vespignani, Comparing large-scale computational approaches to epidemic modeling: Agent-based versus structured metapopulation models, BMC Infectious Diseases 10 (2010) 190.
- [362] M. L. Ciofi degli Atti, S. Merler, C. Rizzo, M. Ajelli, M. Massari, P. Manfredi, C. Furlanello, G. Scalia Tomba, M. Iannelli, Mitigation measures for pandemic influenza in italy: An individual based model considering different scenarios, PLoS ONE 3 (2008) e1790.
- [363] S. Merler, M. Ajelli, The role of population heterogeneity and human mobility in the spread of pandemic influenza, Proceedings of the Royal Society of London B: Biological Sciences 277 (2009) 557–565.
- [364] S. Merler, M. Ajelli, A. Pugliese, N. M. Ferguson, Determinants of the spatiotemporal dynamics of the 2009 h1n1 pandemic in europe: implications for real-time modelling, PLoS Computational Biology 7 (2011) e1002205.
- [365] S. Merler, M. Ajelli, L. Fumanelli, A. Vespignani, Containing the accidental laboratory escape of potential pandemic influenza viruses, BMC Medicine 11 (2013) 252.
- [366] L. Sattenspiel, K. Dietz, A structured epidemic model incorporating geographic mobility among regions, Mathematical Biosciences 128 (1995) 71–91.
- [367] V. Colizza, A. Vespignani, Invasion Threshold in Heterogeneous Metapopulation Networks, Physical Review Letters 99 (2007) 148701.

- [368] D. Balcan, H. Hu, B. Goncalves, P. Bajardi, C. Poletto, J. J. Ramasco, D. Paolotti, N. Perra, M. Tizzoni, V. Colizza, et al., Seasonal transmission potential and activity peaks of the new influenza a (h1n1): a monte carlo likelihood analysis based on human mobility, BMC medicine 7 (1) (2009) 1.
- [369] C. Fraser, C. A. Donnelly, S. Cauchemez, W. P. Hanage, M. D. V. Kerkhove, T. D. Hollingsworth, J. Griffin, R. F. Baggaley, H. E. Jenkins, E. J. Lyons, T. Jombart, W. R. Hinsley, N. C. Grassly, F. Balloux, A. C. Ghani, N. M. Ferguson, A. Rambaut, O. G. Pybus, H. Lopez-Gatell, C. M. Alpuche-Aranda, I. B. Chapela, E. P. Zavala, D. M. E. Guevara, F. Checchi, E. Garcia, S. Hugonnet, C. Roth, T. W. R. P. A. Collaboration, Pandemic Potential of a Strain of Influenza A (H1N1): Early Findings, Science 324 (2009) 1557–1561.
- [370] V. Colizza, A. Vespignani, N. Perra, C. Poletto, B. Gonçalves, H. Hu, D. Balcan, D. Paolotti, W. Van den Broeck, M. Tizzoni, P. Bajardi, J. J. Ramasco, Estimate of novel influenza a/h1n1 cases in mexico at the early stage of the pandemic with a spatially structured epidemic model, PLoS Currents 1 (2009) RRN1129.
- [371] B. Gonçalves, D. Balcan, A. Vespignani, Human mobility and the worldwide impact of intentional localized highly pathogenic virus release, Scientific Reports 3 (2013) 810.
- [372] C. Poletto, M. F. C. Gomes, A. P. y Piontti, L. Rossi, L. Bioglio, D. L. Chao, I. M. Longini, M. E. Halloran, V. Colizza, A. Vespignani, Assessing the impact of travel restrictions on international spread of the 2014 West African Ebola epidemic, Euro Surveillance 19 (2014) 20936.
- [373] P. Bajardi, C. Poletto, J. J. Ramasco, M. Tizzoni, V. Colizza, A. Vespignani, Human mobility networks, travel restrictions, and the global spread of 2009 H1N1 pandemic, PLoS ONE 6 (2011) e16591.
- [374] S. Meloni, N. Perra, A. Arenas, S. Gómez, Y. Moreno, A. Vespignani, Modeling human mobility responses to the large-scale spreading of infectious diseases, Scientific Reports 1 (2011) 62.
- [375] A. Apolloni, C. Poletto, J. J. Ramasco, P. Jensen, V. Colizza, Metapopulation epidemic models with heterogeneous mixing and travel behaviour, Theoretical Biology and Medical Modelling 11 (2014) 3.
- [376] T. Jia, B. Jiang, K. Carling, M. Bolin, Y. Ban, An empirical study on human mobility and its agent-based modeling, Journal of Statistical Mechanics: Theory and Experiment 2012 (2012) P11024.
- [377] A. Wesolowski, G. Stresman, N. Eagle, J. Stevenson, C. Owaga, E. Marube, T. Bousema, C. Drakeley, J. Cox, C. O. Buckee, Quantifying travel behavior for infectious disease research: a comparison of data from surveys and mobile phones, Scientific Reports 4 (2014) 5678.
- [378] M. Lenormand, B. Gonçalves, A. Tugores, J. J. Ramasco, Human diffusion and city influence, Journal of The Royal Society Interface 12 (2015) 20150473.

- [379] S. Harper, R. Stevens, C. Goble, Towel: Real world mobility on the web, Computer-Aided Design of User Interfaces II (1999) 305–314.
- [380] C. Goble, S. Harper, R. Stevens, The travails of visually impaired web travellers, Proceedings of the eleventh ACM on Hypertext and hypermedia (2000) 1–10.
- [381] H. Ritchie, P. Blanck, The promise of the internet for disability: A study of on-line services and web site accessibility at centers for independent living, Behavioral Sciences and the Law 21 (1) (2003) 5–26.
- [382] G. Nimrod, Seniors' online communities: A quantitative content analysis, Gerontologist 50 (3) (2010) 382–392.
- [383] S. R. Cotten, W. A. Anderson, B. M. McCullough, Impact of internet use on loneliness and contact with others among older adults: Cross-sectional analysis, Journal of Medical Internet Research 15 (2) (2013) 1–13.
- [384] Bo Xie, Using the internet for offline relationship formation, Social Science Computer Review 25 (3) (2007) 396–404.
- [385] M. Aouragh, Confined offline, traversing online palestinian mobility through the prism of the internet, Mobilities 6 (November 2014) (2011) 375–397.
- [386] M. Szell, R. Sinatra, G. Petri, S. Thurner, V. Latora, Understanding mobility in a social petri dish, Scientific Reports 2 (2012) 1–6. arXiv:1112.1220.
- [387] S. Shen, N. Brouwers, A. Iosup, Human mobility in virtual and real worlds: Characterization, modeling, and implications, Parallel and Distributed Systems Report Series.
- [388] S. Shen, N. Brouwers, A. Iosup, D. Epema, Characterization of human mobility in networked virtual environments, Proceedings of Network and Operating System Support on Digital Audio and Video Workshop (2014) 13:13—13:18.
- [389] Z.-D. Zhao, Z.-G. Huang, L. Huang, H. Liu, Y.-C. Lai, Scaling and correlation of human movements in cyberspace and physical space, Physical Review E 90 (5) (2014) 050802.
- [390] Y. Cui, Y. Cui, V. Roto, V. Roto, How people use the web on mobile devices, WWW '08 Proceedings of the 17th international conference on World Wide Web (2008) 905–914.
- [391] H. S. Barbosa, F. B. de Lima Neto, A. Evsukoff, R. Menezes, Returners and explorers dichotomy in web browsing behaviora human mobility approach, in: Complex Networks VII, Springer, 2016, pp. 173–184.
- [392] D. A. Hantula, D. D. Brockman, C. L. Smith, Online shopping as foraging: The effects of increasing delays on purchasing and patch residence, IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication 51 (2) (2008) 147–154.

- [393] P. Pirolli, S. Card, Information Foraging, Psychlogical Review (January) (1999) 643–675.
- [394] E. Stenstrom, P. Stenstrom, G. Saad, S. Cheikhrouhou, Online hunting and gathering: An evolutionary perspective on sex differences in website preferences and navigation, IEEE Transactions on Professional Communication 51 (2) (2008) 155–168.
- [395] D. Stephens, J. Brown, R. Ydenberg, Foraging. Behaviour and ecology., Vol. 1, 2007.
- [396] L. Rendell, L. Fogarty, W. J. Hoppitt, T. J. Morgan, M. M. Webster, K. N. Laland, Cognitive culture: theoretical and empirical insights into social learning strategies, Trends in cognitive sciences 15 (2) (2011) 68–76.
- [397] S. Wasserman, Social Network Analysis: Methods and Applications, Vol. 8, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 1994.
- [398] B. Wellman, B. Leighton, Networks, neighborhoods, and communities approaches to the study of the community question, Urban Affairs Review 14 (3) (1979) 363–390.
- [399] C. Tilly, Transplanted networks, in: Yans-McLaughlin (Ed.), Immigration Reconsidered. History, Sociology, and Politics, Oxford University Press, 1986.
- [400] F. Liljeros, C. R. Edling, L. A. N. Amaral, H. E. Stanley, Y. Åberg, The web of human sexual contacts, Nature 411 (6840) (2001) 907–908.
- [401] T. Tassier, F. Menczer, Social network structure, segregation, and equality in a labor market with referral hiring, Journal of Economic Behavior & Organization 66 (3) (2008) 514–528.
- [402] A.-L. Barabási, Network science, Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 371 (1987) (2013) 20120375.
- [403] B. P. Zeigler, H. Praehofer, T. G. Kim, Theory of modeling and simulation: integrating discrete event and continuous complex dynamic systems, Academic press, 2000.
- [404] J. M. Epstein, Nonlinear dynamics, mathematical biology, and social science, Westview Press, 1997.
- [405] D. C. Lane, You just don't understand me: Modes of failure and success in the discourse between system dynamics and discrete event simulation.
- [406] M. Wooldridge, N. R. Jennings, Intelligent agents: Theory and practice, The knowledge engineering review 10 (02) (1995) 115–152.

- [407] E. Bonabeau, Agent-based modeling: Methods and techniques for simulating human systems, Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 99 (suppl 3) (2002) 7280–7287.
- [408] W. H. Press, B. P. Flannery, S. A. Teukolsky, Numerical Recipes in C: the art of scientific computing, Cambridge University Press, 1997.
- [409] A. Clauset, C. R. Shalizi, M. E. Newman, Power-law distributions in empirical data, SIAM review 51 (4) (2009) 661–703.

Appendix

A. Modeling Frameworks and Algorithms

As we advance our understanding of the fundamental mechanisms governing human traveling behaviors, mobility models become increasingly more refined. Therefore, implementing those models requires more specialized tools such as efficient graph libraries, advanced spatial capabilities (GIS) and statistical routines, to name a few. Luckily, libraries for such purposes are widely available for the most popular languages, allowing researchers to focus their efforts (and grant resources) onto more relevant parts of their contributions. In this section we present several practical aspects related to the modeling and simulation of human traveling behaviors. Such details do not correspond necessarily to implementation details but rather to many of the basic building blocks from which we can construct all of the mobility models we presented in this survey.

A.1. Modeling Frameworks

Computational models are becoming increasingly important in contemporary research, with applications ranging widely in scope, technique, and goals. Strictly speaking, any simulation model implemented and executed on a computer can be considered a computational model, from numerical models of complex dynamical systems to recurrent neural networks in modern applications of artificial intelligence. What all computer models have in common is the fact that they are described in such a way that can be unambiguously translated to low-level code to run on a computer. Methodological and implementation details vary in several dimensions and must be carefully defined considering the characteristics of the system or process being modeled, the objectives of the experiments, and the expected results.

It is important to emphasize that a mobility model can be composed of smaller modeling blocks such as random number generators, optimizers, individual-level dynamics to name but a few. The actual macrolevel dynamics results therefore from the combination of these smaller processes. For instance, a CTRW is composed of waiting-time and jump-length distribution models. Often times, more complex mobility models incorporate ingredients such as social interactions [140, 141] and environmental features [182, 158, 184, 42]. The soundness of a mobility model will thus rely heavily on the validity of those sub-components in representing the processes being modeled. Not surprisingly, many of the most groundbreaking models were based, at one level

or another, on physical mechanisms and first principle formulations. However, what all those mobility models have in common is the fact that they are based on Monte Carlo methods, in the sense that they rely on generating repeated random samples as an approximation for the behavior of the system (in this case, human displacements).

Computational models can come in different flavors, varying in many aspects such as modeling approach and complexity, and are used to simulate human mobility to validate the analytical models by comparing data generated from the simulation with real world traces. Simulations can be grouped into three major modeling approaches: numerical, particle-based and agent-based models (ABM). Also, there are simulation of discrete events and simulation based on system dynamics [403]. The former consists in conducting entities through processes or queues in order to analyze the general behavior exhibited by a system over time. In the latter, simulations are performed by analyzing the behavior of variables in systems of differential equations [404]. Historically, the first simulations were numerical in nature and although effective, in many cases the results of the simulations of the models did not have good adherence to reality, especially in cases where many abstractions are needed (i.e., intentional disregard of aspects of systems to simplify the model) [405]. The rise in popularity of ABM models, especially to model human mobility and social phenomenas, is due to the fact that they are more suitable when the simplicity of a Monte Carlo method is not sufficient or appropriate to represent more complex entities such as adaptive processes or local interactions. Also ABMs are especially useful when second-order dynamics or emergent phenomena are involved. In the context of human mobility, elements such as past-events memory, social networks and spatial capabilities make ABM the natural modeling approach.

Agent-based models are a class of computational models that emphasizes interactions of entities to assess their effects on a system. The key point is that simple rules and micro-level interactions lead to the emergence of complex macroscopic regularities and organizations that represent the observable outcomes to allow the study of the dynamics of individual behavior. Computational agents, according to Wooldridge and Jennings [406], normally have the following characteristics:

- Autonomy The agents' operation must take place without the direct control of its actions or internal states;
- **Social behavior** Agents must interact with other agents through some kind of standard communication;
- **Reactivity** Agents must be able to understand the environment and respond to it;
- **Initiative** In addition to reacting to the environment, agents are also able to take the initiative of an action, changing their behavior so as to fulfill a certain purpose.

Based on these aspects, simulations carried out with agent-based models allow for a deep investigation on the system from microlevel behaviors to macrolevel phenomena. Thus, agent-based models, depending on the kind of model to be designed, may show several benefits over other modeling techniques. According to Bonabeau [407], they may be summarized as follows:

- **Production of emergent phenomena** resulting from the interactions of individual entities.
- **Possibility to offer a natural way to describe systems** that are composed by interacting entities (e.g., stock markets).
- **Be flexible** because agents can be modeled from different levels and approaches, endowing them with different kinds of behaviors, degrees of rationality or learning skills.

A.2. Algorithms

In this sections we provide the pseudo-code of the algorithms required to implements some of the mobility models. We also provide pseudo code to generate random numbers sampled from specific probability distributions. The general framework we use to model individual mobility is agent based as introduced in Sec. A.1.

A.2.1. Individual Mobility

The ubiquity of cellular phones leads to the availability of large data sets capturing spatio-temporal traces of human trajectories. In the context of mobility modeling, the mathematical framework of *Random Walks (RW)*, a class of stochastic random path models, has been extremely successful at reproducing some of the statistical properties of movements at a long-term limit. The mechanism at the core of random walks consists of a series of successive random events alternating displacements (i.e. movements) and changes of direction (Sec. 4.1).

Random Walk. A simple random walk model has been described in Sec. 4.1.1. A way to simulate a random walk on a computer is to let the agent move to a D-dimensional lattice. We can simulate a simple random walk of N steps on a 2-dimensional lattice (see Fig. A.46) by starting from the origin (0,0) of the space, and then iteratively choose one of the four possible directions available (up, down, left, right), and move of one unit of length in that direction. The process stops when we iterated N times. The procedure is illustrated in Algorithm 1. Note that It is crucial to choose each direction with the same chance or the random walk will be biased to some direction. For such purpose, modern computing devices and operating systems provides specific functions. In our case, we assume we have a function RANDOM(min,max) that is able to generate a uniformly distributed random number in the range [min,max). Such function is trivial enough to be implemented on any platform or any programming language.

Lévy Flight. Lévy Flight have been described in details in Sec. 4.1.2. The main difference with the simple random walk is the type of distribution used to generate the jump length at each step, which follows a heavy-tailed distribution (e.g., power law). Therefore the Lévy flight is a succession of short jumps and some occasional long jumps (Fig. A.47). When trying to implement a Lévy flight on a computer there are several issue to take in account:

• If there are RNG functions available to draw a number from a distribution, usually the power law distribution is not supported.

Algorithm 1 Simple 2D Random Walk

0	1	
1:	procedure Random–Walk(N)	
2:	$x \leftarrow 0$	
3:	$y \leftarrow 0$	
4:	$n \leftarrow 0$	
5:	while $n < N$ do	
6:	$r \leftarrow \text{RANDOM}(0,4)$	
7:	if <i>r</i> < 1 then	⊳ Up
8:	$y \leftarrow y + 1$	
9:	else if $r < 2$ then	⊳ Down
10:	$y \leftarrow y - 1$	
11:	else if $r < 3$ then	⊳ Right
12:	$x \leftarrow x + 1$	
13:	else if $r < 4$ then	⊳ Left
14:	$x \leftarrow x - 1$	
15:	end if	
16:	$n \leftarrow n+1$	
17:	end while	
18:	end procedure	

- For a power law distribution we need to specify α and x_{\min} values.
- Continuous power law distribution is easy to deal with, but the discretization process may introduce an error.

To generate a random number drawn from a power law distribution we can use the transformation method [408]. Usually, on a computer we have a source of random reals r uniformly distributed in the interval [0, 1) that are provided by a pseudo-random number generator. In this case we can obtain a random number x drawn from a continuous probability density p(x) with a cumulative distribution function P by obtaining the functional inverse of the CDF [409]:

$$x = P^{-1}(1 - r) \tag{A.1}$$

where

$$P(x) = \left(\frac{x}{x_{\min}}\right)^{-\alpha+1}$$
(A.2)

for a continuous power law, and

$$P(x) = \frac{\zeta(\alpha, x)}{\zeta(\alpha, x_{\min})}$$
(A.3)

for a discrete power law. Therefore we obtain

$$x = x_{\min}(1-r)^{-1/(\alpha-1)}$$
(A.4)

for the continuous case, which is straightforward to implement in any programming languages. However, the discrete form of P(x) cannot be inverted in closed form,



(a) 5000 steps

(b) 25000 steps

Fig. A.46: Illustration of random walks in two dimensions. In 46(a), we have 5000 discrete steps while in 46(b), 25000 discrete steps. In the figure, more traversed lines are represented by darker lines.

therefore we solve $P(x) = \sum_{x'=x}^{+\infty} p(x') = 1 - r$ instead by a combination of doubling up starting from $x = x_{\min}$, which ensure that $1 - r \in [P(x), P(2x))$, and binary search (see Algorithm 2). Note that we need to evaluate the generalized Riemann zeta function ζ to compute P(x) which might be computationally expensive, and it is usually done by using third party scientific libraries. When speed is important, techniques like dynamic programming can greatly improve algorithm speed by storing the result of previous evaluations that therefore need not to be computed again. Furthermore, if accuracy is not of great importance, which is the case for most applications where $x_{\min} > 5$, we can approximate the discrete power law to a continuous one. We first generate power law distributed numbers $y \ge x_{\min} - \frac{1}{2}$ and then round it off to the nearest integer $x = \lfloor y + \frac{1}{2} \rfloor$ [409]:

$$x = \left[\left(x_{\min} - \frac{1}{2} \right) \left(1 - r \right)^{-1/(\alpha - 1)} + \frac{1}{2} \right]$$
(A.5)

It is straightforward to notice that the approximation is bigger for smaller value of x and therefore it is maximum when $x = x_{min}$. The error between the approximated distribution an the discrete one when $x = x_{min}$ can be computed as:

$$\Delta p = 1 - \left(\frac{x_{\min} + \frac{1}{2}}{x_{\min} - \frac{1}{2}}\right)^{-\alpha + 1} - \frac{x_{\min}}{\zeta(\alpha, x_{\min})}$$
(A.6)

Once we are able to generate power law distributed random numbers, we can modify the algorithm of the simple random walk to implement a Lévy walk by choosing a direction randomly and uniformly, an angle θ , and the length *r* of the jump (in this case from a continuous power law distribution). In this case we move away from a simple lattice to let the coordinates to be in the Euclidean plane \mathbb{R}^2 (Algorithm 3).



Fig. A.47: Sample trajectories of Lévy flights in two dimensions for $\beta = 0.6$ and step length $\Delta r \ge 1$. In 47(a), 5000 steps while in 47(b), 25000 discrete steps.

Algorithm 2 Discrete Power Law Random Number Generator				
1: procedure Power–Law(α , x_{\min})				
2: $r \leftarrow \text{RNG}(0, 1)$				
3: $x_1 \leftarrow x_{\min}$				
4: $x_2 \leftarrow x_{\min}$				
5: repeat	Determine Boundaries of Solution			
$6: \qquad x_1 \leftarrow x_2$				
7: $x_2 \leftarrow 2 \times x_1$				
8: until $P(x_2) < 1 - r$				
9: repeat	Binary Search of Solution			
10: $mid \leftarrow x_1 + (x_2 - x_1)/2$				
11: if $P(mid) < 1 - r$ then				
12: $x_1 \leftarrow mid$				
13: else				
14: $x_2 \leftarrow mid$				
15: end if				
16: until $x_2 - \lfloor x_1 \rfloor \ge 1$				
17: return $\lfloor x_1 \rfloor$				
18: end procedure				

Algorithm 3 Lévy Walk

1:	procedure Levy–Walk(N)
2:	$x \leftarrow 0$
3:	$y \leftarrow 0$
4:	$n \leftarrow 0$
5:	while $n < N$ do
6:	$\theta \leftarrow \text{RANDOM}(0, 360)$
7:	$r \leftarrow \text{POWER-LAW}(\alpha, x_{\min})$
8:	$x \leftarrow x + r \cos \theta$
9:	$y \leftarrow y + r \sin \theta$
10:	$n \leftarrow n + 1$
11:	end while
12:	end procedure

Continuos-Time Random Walk (CTRW). A limitation of the RW models introduced so far is that time intervals between two successive steps are constant (Sec. 4.1.3). In order to simulate a CTRW we can modify Algorithm 3 to include the wait time τ between jumps (Algorithm 4). Notice that the wait time and jump length need not to be drawn from power law distributions, but CTRW with power laws has been shown to be useful to model human mobility [46]. Moreover, the power laws can have different parameters.

Exploration-Preferential Return (EPR). Although there is an extensive literature supporting the idea that human trajectories indeed follow reproducible scaling laws, the predictions of Lévy flight and CTRW models systematically deviate from empirical results. Song et al. [81] proposed two key mechanisms, unique to human trajectories, that were missing from existing models: *Exploration* and *Preferential Return* (see Sec. 4.1.4). Another aspect that differs from previous study is the use of power law with exponential cutoff for the jump length and wait time (Fig. 48(a)). Power law with cutoff does not have a closed-form expression. However, we can generate a random number drawn from a power law with parameters x_{\min} , α and an exponential cutoff K with the following process [409]: generate an exponentially distributed random number $x = x_{\min} - \frac{1}{2} \ln (1 - r)$, where r is a uniformly distributed number in the interval [0, 1). Then, accept or reject it with probability p or 1 - p respectively, where $p = \left(\frac{x}{x}\right)^{-\alpha}$. Repeating the process until a number x is accepted will guarantee that it will follow the desired distribution. This procedure is illustrated by Algorithm 5. Note that in the pseudo-code x and y are lists, therefore the operator + has the meaning of concatenation of the two operands. Finally, if we define S as the set of previously visited locations, F_i the number of times (frequency) that the location i has been visited, and ρ and γ the parameters that control the probability P_{new} of an exploration jump then the EPR random walk is implemented by Algorithm 6. Note that while the x and y coordinates vary continuously, the space is actually divided in discrete "locations", like Voronoi patches or squares of a grid. Therefore, different points in the plane may be part of the same location; to this purpose we use the function CURRENT-LOCATION(x,y) to obtain the location associated with the current coordinates of the agent.

Algorithm 4 Continuos-Time Random Walk 1: procedure CTRW(N) 2: $x \leftarrow 0$ $y \leftarrow 0$ 3: $n \leftarrow 0$ 4: 5: while n < N do $\theta \leftarrow \text{RANDOM}(0, 360)$ 6: $r \leftarrow \text{POWER-LAW}(\alpha, x_{\min}^r)$ 7: 8: $x \leftarrow x + r \cos \theta$ 9. $y \leftarrow y + r \sin \theta$ $\tau \leftarrow \text{POWER-LAW}(\beta, x_{\min}^{\tau})$ Wait Phase 10: while $\tau > 0$ do 11: if $\tau >= 1$ then 12: WAIT(1)13: $\tau \leftarrow \tau - 1$ 14: else 15: $WAIT(\tau)$ 16: end if 17: end while 18: $n \leftarrow n + 1$ 19: end while 20: 21: end procedure

Recency. A further improvement over the EPR model has been introduced by Barbosa *et al.* [112]. The main observation is that frequently visited locations are also recently visited locations (Fig. 48(b)). However, recently visited locations might not always be frequently visited, because it might be that a location has been visited for the first time (Sec. 4.1.5). The algorithm to implement the recency mobility model is exactly the same as for EPR, but when deciding the for a return jump we can choose either a frequency based return with probability α or a recency based return with probability $1 - \alpha$, where α is a parameter extracted from empirical data (Equation (43), Algorithm 7).

Social Models. It is intuitive to understand that the mobility of socially related individuals is correlated; for example friends often hang out and visit places together. Therefore, mobility models that include social network links and proximity based interactions were developed (See Sec. 4.1.6). Two prominent examples are the models described in [140] and [141], which can be seen as variations of the preferential return model (Sec. 4.1.4), where the preferential return is governed by the social strength between the users instead of the visitation frequency of the locations. Given the previously presented building blocks and algorithms, it should be trivial at this point to implement these models, therefore the explicit algorithms are omitted.

In [140], at every step each agent chooses to visit a social contact (i.e., another agent with whom the agent has a link) with probability p_v . Otherwise, it chooses a new location with the complementary probability $1 - p_v$ following a Lèvy-like flight. After

Algorithm 5 Power Law with Exponential Cutoff Random Number Generator

```
Require: \alpha > 1
Require: x_{\min} \ge 1
  1: procedure Power–Law–Cutoff(\alpha, x_{\min, K})
  2:
            x \leftarrow \{\}
  3:
            y \leftarrow \{\}
           n \leftarrow 1
  4:
  5:
            \lambda \leftarrow 1/K
            while True do
  6:
                 for i \leftarrow 0, 10 * n do
                                                              Generate exponentially distributed numbers
  7:
                       y \leftarrow y + \left\{ x_{\min} - \left(\frac{1}{\lambda}\right) * \ln\left(1 - \text{RANDOM}(0,1)\right) \right\}
  8:
                 end for
  9:
10:
                 y_{\text{temp}} \leftarrow \{\}
                                                                         ▷ Accept with probability p = \left(\frac{x}{x_{\min}}\right)^{-\alpha}
                 for i \leftarrow 0, 10 * n do
11:
                       if RANDOM(0,1) < \left(\frac{y_i}{x_{\min}}\right)^{-\alpha}: then
y_{\text{temp}} \leftarrow y_{\text{temp}} + \{y_i\}
12:
13:
                       end if
14:
                 end for
15:
16:
                 y \leftarrow y_{temp}
                 x \leftarrow x + y
17:
                 q \leftarrow \text{LENGTH}(x) - n
18:
                 if q == 0 then
19:
                       break
20:
                 end if
21:
22:
                 if q > 0 then
                                                                                 ▶ Make sure numbers are random
                       r \leftarrow \{0, 1, 2, \cdots, \text{LENGTH}(x)\}
23:
                       SHUFFLE(r)
24:
25:
                       x_{\text{temp}} \leftarrow \{\}
                       for j \leftarrow 0, LENGTH(x) do
26:
                             if j \notin \{r_0, r_1, \cdots, r_q\} then
27:
                                   x_{\text{temp}} \leftarrow x_{\text{temp}} + \{x_j\}
28:
                             end if
29:
                        end for
30:
31:
                       x \leftarrow x_{\text{temp}}
                       break
32:
33:
                 end if
                 if q < 0: then
34:
35:
                       y \leftarrow \{\}
                 end if
36:
            end while
37:
            return x<sub>0</sub>
38:
39: end procedure
```

Algorithm 6 Exploration-Preferential Return (EPR) Random Walk

```
1: procedure EPR(N)
          x, y, n, S \leftarrow 0
 2:
          while n < N do
 3:
               i \leftarrow \text{CURRENT-LOCATION}(x,y)
 4:
 5:
               if i \in S then
                    F_i \leftarrow F_i + 1
 6:
 7:
               else
                    S \leftarrow S + i
 8:
                    F_i \leftarrow 1
 9:
               end if
10:
               \theta \leftarrow 0
11:
               if RANDOM(0, 1) < P_{new} then
                                                                                          ▶ Exploration Step
12:
                    \theta \leftarrow \text{RANDOM}(0, 360)
13:
                    r \leftarrow \text{POWER-LAW-CUTOFF}(\alpha, x_{\min}^r, K_r)
14:
15:
               else
                                                                        ▶ Frequency Based Return Step
                    r, \theta \leftarrow \text{FREQUENCY-RETURN}()
16:
               end if
17:
18:
               x \leftarrow x + r \cos \theta
               y \leftarrow y + r \sin \theta
19:
20:
               \tau \leftarrow \text{POWER-LAW-CUTOFF}(\beta, x_{\min}^{\tau}, K_{\tau})
                                                                                                  ▶ Wait Phase
               while \tau > 0 do
21:
                    if \tau >= 1 then
22:
                         WAIT(1)
23:
                         \tau \leftarrow \tau - 1
24:
                    else
25:
                         WAIT(\tau)
26:
                    end if
27:
               end while
28:
               n \leftarrow n + 1
29:
          end while
30:
31: end procedure
32: function Frequency-Return
          tot \leftarrow \sum_{j \in S} F_j
33:
          throw \leftarrow RANDOM(0,tot)
34:
35:
          partial \leftarrow 0
          for j \in S do
36:
               partial \leftarrow partial + F_i
37:
               if partial < throw then
38:
                    r \leftarrow \text{EUCLID-DIST}(i,j)
39:
                   \theta \leftarrow \arctan\left(\frac{j.y-i.y}{j.x-i.x}\right)
40:
                    return r, \theta
41:
               end if
42:
          end for
43:
44: end function
```

Algorithm 7 Function to Choose a Recently Visited Location

1:	1: function Recency-Return				
2:	$k \leftarrow \text{ROUND}(\text{POWER-LAW}(v))$	select the rank from a zipfian law			
3:	while $k \ge SIZE(S)$ do				
4:	$k \leftarrow \text{ROUND}(\text{POWER-LAW})$	(v))			
5:	end while				
6:	$S \leftarrow \text{SORT}(S)$ \triangleright	order locations according to the visiting time			
7:	$j \leftarrow S_k$				
8:	$r \leftarrow \text{EUCLID-DIST}(i,j)$				
9:	$\theta \leftarrow \arctan\left(\frac{j.y-i.y}{j.x-j.x}\right)$				
10:	return r, θ				
11:	end function				



(a) Individual Mobility Model

(b) Recency Model

Fig. A.48: The darker is the color of the dot, the more the location has been visited. 48(a) In the Individual Mobility (IM) model proposed by Song *et al.*, a user goes back to frequently visited locations with increasing probability, therefore the color of the visited locations is mostly black. Furthermore, most of the visited locations are very close to the initial location from where the user movement started. 48(b) In the recency model, a user can decide to go back to a recently visited location even though it has been visited only once or few times, therefore the visitation frequency is more evenly distributed. Furthermore, the spatial pattern shows several clusters further from the starting location, similarly to what happens with Lévy flights.

the movement, the agent creates a new link with probability p in the "neighborhood", that is the nearby agents, and probability p_c with a random agent. An agent can easily keep track of the social links with the other agents by updating a list of the agent's ids it meets.

In [141], the first part of the mobility model is identical to the preferential return model, where the agent returns to a previously visited location with probability $1-\rho S^{-\gamma}$ or visit a new location with probability $\rho S^{-\gamma}$. However, it adds an additional "social" step. The actual choice of the location to visit, either new or returning, is made based on the social influence with probability α or, with probability $1-\alpha$, just the individual preference (i.e., proportionally to the location visitation frequency). In case the location is chosen according to a social contact, the social contact *j* is chosen with a probability directly proportional to the current mobility similarity between the two agents. The mobility similarity between two agents *i* and *j* is defined as the cosine similarity in the location visiting profiles:

$$\cos\theta_{i,j} = \frac{\mathbf{v_i} \cdot \mathbf{v_j}}{|\mathbf{v_i}||\mathbf{v_j}|}$$

where v_i and v_j represent the total visits made by the agents to each location in the simulation space.

A.2.2. Population Mobility

A simple way to formalize the flow of individuals from one location to another is to divide the area of interest into different zones labeled as i = 1, ..., n and to count the number of individuals going from location i to location j, $\forall i$. These numbers T_{ij} are the elements of the so called *Origin-Destination* (*OD*) matrix (Sec. 3.1.5)

$$OD(t) = \begin{bmatrix} T_{11} & T_{12} & \dots & T_{1m} \\ T_{21} & T_{22} & \dots & T_{2m} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ T_{n1} & T_{n2} & \dots & T_{nm} \end{bmatrix}$$
(A.7)

Such matrix defines a directed and weighted network, and in the general case is timedependent. Note that usually n = m and $T_{ij} = 0$, $\forall i = j$. The *OD* matrix is very different from a "segment" measurement, where we can easily count the number of individuals going through a link of the transportation system under consideration (e.g., one of the flights of the airline network, a segment of road, etc.). In contrast, the *OD* matrix is usually extremely difficult and costly to obtain and measure. There are obviously many factors which control the origin-destination matrix: land use, location of industries and residential areas, accessibility, etc.

In order to simulate the *OD* matrix using the multi-agent modeling framework we need to define a process that drives the movement of the agents from one location to another. Let's consider a discrete-time agent simulation for which at every time tick t we know the elements T_{ij} of the matrix OD(t). T_{ij} can be considered as a frequency count, therefore we can transform the elements of the *OD* matrix by computing the relative frequency P_{ij} :

$$P_{ij} = \frac{T_{ij}}{\sum_i \sum_j T_{ij}}$$

 P_{ij} represents the probability of an agent to move from location *i* to location *j* at a specific instant in time *t*. If we want to run a simulation for an amount of time τ , for each time instant *t* the simulation algorithm normalizes the matrix OD(t), then loop through each element P_{ij} of the normalized matrix OD and move an agent, MOVE-AGENT(i,j), from *i* to *j* with the probability P_{ij} (Algorithm 8). This framework is general and applies to any mobility model that uses origin destination matrices such as the gravity models family (Sec. 4.2.1), intervening opportunities, and radiation model. However each model may be different in the way that the elements T_{ij} are computed. It is also interesting to note that if we represent the movement of the agents over e.g., a map layer, then the flux of agents over the connection between two locations should represent and estimate of the intensity of the traffic.

Algorithm 8 Origin Destination Matrix Agent Simulation				
1:	$t \leftarrow 0$			
2:	while $t < \tau$ do			
3:	$OD \leftarrow \text{NORMALIZE}(OD(t))$ \triangleright normalize the OD matrix			
4:	for $i \leftarrow 1, n$ do			
5:	for $j \leftarrow 1, n$ do			
6:	if RANDOM $(0,1) < P_{ij}$ then			
7:	MOVE-AGENT(i,j)			
8:	end if			
9:	end for			
10:	end for			
11:	$t \leftarrow t + 1$			
12:	end while			
13:	function Normalize(OD)			
14:	totalSum $\leftarrow 0$			
15:	for $i \leftarrow 1, n$ do			
16:	for $j \leftarrow 1, n$ do			
17:	$totalSum \leftarrow totalSum + T_{ij}$			
18:	end for			
19:	end for			
20:	for $i \leftarrow 1, n$ do			
21:	for $j \leftarrow 1, n$ do			
22:	$T_{ij} \leftarrow T_{ij}$ /totalSum			
23:	end for			
24:	end for			
25:	return OD			
26:	end function			